Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Cabinet
Tuesday, 22 June 2021 at 2.00 pm
Council Chamber, County Hall, Glenfield
Mr. M. Hand (Tel. 0116 305 6038)
matthew.hand@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman)
Mr. B. L. Pain CC
Mrs D. Taylor CC
Mrs. C. M. Radford CC
Mr. O. O'Shea JP CC
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC

Mrs H. L. Richardson CC
Mrs. P. Posnett MBE CC
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC
Mr. P. Bedford CC

Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements.
AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2021.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

4.

2020/21 Provisional Revenue and Capital
Outturn.

(Pages 5 - 16)

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 17 - 62)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.www.leicestershire.gov.uk

5.

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Progress with the Delivery of the High Needs
Block.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 63 - 76)

6.

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road Southern
Section - Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant.

Chief Executive,
Director of
Corporate
Resources, and
Director of Law
and Governance

(Pages 77 - 84)

7.

National Bus Strategy.

Director of
Environment and
Transport

(Pages 85 - 100)

8.

Members Highway Fund - Proposals.

Director of
Environment and
Transport

(Pages 101 106)

9.

Procurement of Community Life Choices
Services.

Director of Adults
and Communities

(Pages 107 120)

10.

Annual Report of the Commercial Strategy.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 121 140)

11.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2020/21. Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 141 156)

12.

National Youth Agency - Transfer of Pension
Fund Assets and Liabilities.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 157 164)

13.

Leicester and Leicestershire Economic
Recovery Strategy

Chief Executive

(Pages 165 168)

14.

East Midlands Global Gateway Freeport Including Urgent Action Taken.

Chief Executive

(Pages 169 176)

15.

Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in
Relation to the Leicester and Leicestershire
Statement of Common Ground Relating to
Housing and Employment Land Needs (March
2021)

Chief Executive

(Pages 177 216)

16.

Exception to Contract Procedure Rules Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in
Relation to the Appointment of a Supplier to
Provide Short Term Hire Vehicles

Director of
Environment and
Transport

(Pages 217 220)

17.

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.

18.

Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

19.

Exclusion of the Press and Public.
The public are likely to be excluded during the following items of
business in accordance with Section 100(A) of the Local
Government Act 1972: Ashby Canal Restoration– Extension to Option Agreement
with Measham Land Company for Proposed Measham
Development
(Exempt under Paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12A.)

 Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive - Procurement
for a Contract for the Treatment of Post- 2020 Residual
Waste.
(Exempt under Paragraphs 5 and 10 of Schedule 12A.)

 Proposed Purchase of Property for Additional Special
Educational Needs and Disability Provision.
(Exempt under Paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12A.)

20.

Ashby Canal Restoration– Extension to
Option Agreement with Measham Land
Company for Proposed Measham
Development

Director of
Environment and
Transport and
Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 221 228)

Director of Law
and Governance

(Pages 229 234)

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 235 242)

(Exempt under Paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12A.)

21.

Procurement for a Contract for the Treatment
of Post- 2020 Residual Waste - Urgent Action
Taken by the Chief Executive
(Exempt under Paragraphs 5 and 10 of Schedule 12A.)

22.

Proposed Purchase of Property for Additional
Special Educational Needs and Disability
Provision.
(Exempt under Paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12A.)

This page is intentionally left blank

5

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 23 March
2021.
PRESENT
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (in the Chair)
Mr. R. Blunt CC
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC
Mr. B. L. Pain CC
Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC

Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC
Mrs D. Taylor CC

In attendance
Mr. O. O’Shea CC, Mrs B. Seaton CC, Mrs C. M. Radford CC, Dr. Terri Eynon CC
494. Mr. R. Blunt CC
The Chairman noted that it was the last Cabinet meeting before the local elections on 6
May and that Mr. Blunt was not standing for re-election. On behalf of the Cabinet he
thanked Mr. Blunt for his work as a County Councillor and as the Cabinet Lead for adult
social care.
Mr. Blunt thanked his Cabinet colleagues for their support and said it had been a
pleasure to work with them.
495. Minutes of the previous meeting.
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 February 2021 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.
496. Urgent Items.
The Chairman advised that there was one urgent item for consideration, an oral report
regarding the Council’s membership of the Local Government Association (LGA).
The matter was urgent as it related to a decision which took effect from 1 April and the
Cabinet was not due to meet again until 28 May.
With the agreement of the Cabinet the report was taken under agenda item 18 (minute
511 below refers).
497. Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
Mr. B. L. Pain CC declared a personal interest in agenda item 4 in relation to passenger
transport as relatives owned a local taxi company.

6

Mrs. L. Richardson CC and Mr. L. Breckon JP CC each declared a personal interest in
agenda item 13 regarding the Blaby District Council (Blaby DC) New Local Plan Options
Consultation; Mrs Richardson as Chairman of the Planning Committee at Blaby DC and
Mr. Breckon as a member of Blaby DC.
498. Environment and Transport 2021/22 Highways and Transportation Capital Programme
and Works Programme.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport regarding
the Department’s 2021/22 Highways and Transportation Capital Programme and Works
Programme. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 4’, is filed with these minutes.
Mr. Pendleton CC said that the Capital Programme was under considerable pressure
and it was now proposed to re-examine some elements, hence the revised
recommendation.
RESOLVED:
That the Environment and Transport 2021/22 Highways and Transportation Capital
Programme and Works Programme as approved in the Medium Term Financial Strategy
be noted at this stage since there is a need to review elements of the Capital
Programme in order to take account of the consequences and affordability of the
transport infrastructure requirements of housing and economic growth emerging from
Local Plans.
(KEY DECISION)
REASONS FOR DECISION:
To note the Environment and Transport Department’s Highways Capital Programme and
Works Programme for the 2021/22 financial year.
499. A511 Growth Corridor Proposals - Bardon Link Road.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport concerning
the A511 Growth Corridor proposals and seeking permission to undertake consultation to
support the future submission of a planning application for the extension of the Bardon
Link Road element. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 5’, is filed with these
minutes.
Members noted comments from one of the local members, Dr. Terri Eynon CC, a copy of
which is filed with these minutes.
Mr. Pendleton CC noted that the scheme was a good example of partnership working
with the local planning authority, North West Leicestershire District Council, and would
improve traffic flow and air quality in the area.
The Leader added his thanks to Andrew Bridgen MP for his support for the Council’s
funding bid to the Department for Transport (DfT).
RESOLVED:

7
a) That the progress on the A511 Growth Corridor scheme be noted;
b) That all necessary work continues to progress the A511 Growth Corridor scheme
including submission of the Full Business Case to the DfT;
c) That the Director of Environment and Transport be authorised:
i.

following consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources and the
Cabinet Lead Member for Highways and Transportation, to undertake a presubmission consultation exercise to support the submission of a planning
application in respect of the route of the extension of the Bardon Link Road
aligned to the programme for scheme delivery as required by the DfT,

ii.

to make minor amendments to the A511 Growth Corridor proposals as the
Scheme develops.

(KEY DECISION)
REASONS FOR DECISION:
Following the Cabinet decision in November 2019 to support development of a package
of measures which meet the criteria for Major Road Network (MRN) funding, ongoing
work on the proposals for the A511 Growth Corridor and on the business case process
continues to indicate that the scheme represents good value for money.
Undertaking a pre-submission consultation will support the Council in making a preferred
route decision for the Bardon Link Road extension that will form the basis of the planning
application.
Submission of a planning application is a critical part of the scheme programme that
supports meeting timescales for the DfT funding. In order to complete the application
process for DfT MRN funding it is necessary for the Council to prepare a business case.
500. Provision of Short Breaks and Supported Living Services.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities regarding
changes to the Council’s short breaks and supported living services and seeking
approval to consult with service users. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 6’, is
filed with these minutes.
The Director advised that the consultation proposal had changed slightly from that
outlined in the report and would now involve initial engagement with the 17 service users
who usually accessed the Smith Crescent Short Breaks Service (Cropston Drive,
Coalville) followed by formal consultation in May.
Mr. Blunt CC commended the revised proposals for provision of short breaks and
supported living but said it was recognised that it would mean some people having further
to travel and the Council would be mindful of feedback from the consultation.
RESOLVED:

8
a) That it be noted that the previous residents of The Trees in Hinckley have
indicated that they wish to remain in their current accommodation and not return to
The Trees;
b) That the Director of Adults and Communities be authorised to commence a
consultation exercise on the following proposals:
i. To close Smith Crescent as a place for the provision of short breaks and for
short break provision to be provided at the following three locations Hinckley, Melton, and Wigston;
ii. To expand the existing facilities at The Trees for the provision of short breaks
taking the total number of beds at the site to 12;
iii. To withdraw the current proposals for the development of the Cropston Drive
site in Coalville pending the outcome of consultation which would inform
revised development proposals for the site.
c) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet in summer 2021 regarding the
outcome of the consultation and the proposed way forward.
(KEY DECISION)
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The utilisation of the short breaks service at Smith Crescent had been in decline prior to
the Covid-19 pandemic. The building has a number of accessibility challenges which
cannot be addressed cost effectively and impacts opportunities to maximise occupancy.
The consultation exercise will enable the Council to understand whether the needs of the
current users of the Smith Crescent Short Breaks Service can be met elsewhere in the
County.
Former residents of The Trees have taken the decision not to return to the newly
refurbished facility and remain in their alternative setting. Using this accommodation for
the provision of short breaks alongside the Council’s other short breaks services in
Melton and Wigston would provide the Council with sufficient capacity to meet the needs
of those eligible to access these services.
The provision of long-stay services at The Trees is not in line with the strategic direction
of accommodation based services for adults, where there is a targeted shift away from
residential care to a broader range of personalised options such as supported living.
There has been a failure to achieve an economically viable bid to develop the previously
agreed proposals for the Cropston Drive site. This along with completed refurbishment of
The Trees and the opportunity to review its intended use forms the basis on which to
review previously agreed decisions.
501. Recommissioning of Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse Services.
On behalf of the Cabinet the Chairman congratulated the Director of Public Health, Mike
Sandys, on having been awarded an honorary doctorate by Loughborough University.

9

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health regarding the proposed
model for the procurement of domestic and sexual violence and abuse services. A copy
of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 7’, is filed with these minutes.
Comments of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which had considered the
revised Strategy at its meeting on 18 March, were circulated separately and a copy is
filed with these minutes.
Mr. Breckon CC said that the Scrutiny Committee was supportive of the new model in
principle and noted that the commissioning partners also needed to agree the proposals.
RESOLVED:
a) That the outcome of the consultation, including the views of the Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee, on the proposed model for Domestic and Sexual
Violence and Abuse Services (DSVA) be noted;
b) That the new model for the provision of DSVA as detailed in the report be
approved, noting that the model will also require approval of the commissioning
partners;
c) That the Director of Public Health in consultation with the Director of Corporate
Resources be authorised to award contracts for the elements of the DSVA model
relating to the provision of domestic violence and abuse locality support service
and domestic abuse accommodation-related support with effect from 1 April 2022;
d) That it be noted that the commissioning and procurement of other elements of the
new DSVA model will be carried out by Leicester City Council and the Police and
Crime Commissioner as set out in the report.
REASONS FOR DECISION:
Following a review of the current service model, combined with a review of need across
the sub-region, a revised delivery model is proposed across Leicestershire, Leicester and
Rutland, with the aim of meeting future demand within available resources.
Delegation to the Director of Public Health will ensure that procurement is completed to
timescale and contracts will be in place for 1 April 2022.
502. Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health regarding the outcome of
consultation on the Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire and seeking approval of
the Strategy. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
a) That the outcome of the consultation on the draft Healthy Weight Strategy for
Leicestershire be noted;
b) That the Healthy Weight Strategy for Leicestershire be approved.

10
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The Council has a statutory duty to take appropriate steps to improve the health of
people living in Leicestershire. This includes creating the conditions necessary to support
people to achieve a healthy weight.
The Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment chapter on Obesity: Physical
Activity, Healthy Weight and Nutrition was published by the County Council in September
2019. This recommended that a Strategy be developed for Leicestershire to tackle
obesity and support people to maintain a healthy weight.
503. White Papers on Health and Social Care and Mental Health.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities concerning
the implications of the recent White Papers on Health and Social Care and Mental Health
for the County Council. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these
minutes.
RESOLVED:
a) That the implications of the recent White Papers on Health and Social Care and
Mental Health for the County Council be noted;
b) That a response be made to the consultations on the respective White Papers by
the Director of Adults and Communities following consultation with the Cabinet
Lead Members for Adult Social Care and Health and Wellbeing.
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The White Paper on Health and Social Care includes proposals for adult social care,
public health and integrated working across the health and social care system. Some of
the proposals will also affect the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee.
The White Paper on Reform of the Mental Health Act includes proposals for adult social
care which may require changes to workforce requirements, the role of the Approved
Mental Health Professional, the provision of community services and commissioning of
independent sector services.
504. Airfield Business Park Development Proposal.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the
proposals for the development of the next phase of Airfield Business Park, Market
Harborough and the allocation of resources to support the submission of a planning
application for light industrial units. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is
filed with these minutes.
Comments of the Scrutiny Commission, which had considered the proposals at its
meeting on 15 March, were circulated separately and a copy is filed with these minutes.
Mr. Rhodes CC commended the proposals, noting that that the first phase of the
development had been very successful.

11
RESOLVED:
a) That the proposals for the further development of 96,717 sq. ft of Airfield Business
Park as detailed on the indicative Masterplan and the financial costs and returns
estimates as set out in the report be noted;
b) That it be noted that a planning application for the development would be
submitted to the County Council as the planning authority in April 2021;
c) That £9.5m be allocated for the development from the Corporate Asset Investment
Fund subject to the satisfactory outcome of the tender exercise referred to in (d)
below;
d) That a tender exercise be undertaken for the construction of part of the
development covering 81,376 sq. ft of the site (phase 3);
e) That the Director of Corporate Resources be authorised to:
i.

undertake all necessary preparatory work to enable the submission of a
planning application for the proposed development;

ii.

consider the outcome of the tender exercise in respect of phase 3 and,
following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member for Resources,
determine whether to proceed with the development;

iii.

subject to ii above, select a preferred contractor(s) and enter into such
contracts and undertake such work as is necessary and appropriate to
enable the development (both phase 3 and 4) to be delivered, including
undertaking a further tender exercise in advance of proceeding with phase 4
of the scheme.

(KEY DECISION)
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The development of the Council-owned land will support the delivery of both new
business accommodation and income generating assets.
Undertaking a formal tendering exercise will ensure that the Council secures the most
competitive build cost price.
The delegation to the Director of Corporate Resources, following consultation with the
Lead Member for Resources, will enable the development to proceed immediately
subject to a satisfactory outcome to the tender exercise.
505. Strategic Energy Property Strategy.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the
revised Strategic Property Energy Strategy for 2020 to 2030. A copy of the report,
marked ‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed with these minutes.
Comments of the Scrutiny Commission, which had considered the revised Strategy at its
meeting on 15 March, were circulated separately and a copy is filed with these minutes.

12
Members noted that the Council was on target to reach Net Zero Carbon in its own
operations by 2030 and Mr. Pain CC thanked the Property Team for its work.
RESOLVED:
a) That the comments of the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and the Scrutiny Commission be noted;
b) That the Strategic Property Energy Strategy and accompanying action plan be
approved.
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The County Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy (2021/22-2024/25) approved by
the Council on 17 February 2021, identifies savings requirements relating to
improvements in the energy and water performance of the Council’s property estate of
£350,000 by 2024/25. The Strategic Property Energy Strategy will help deliver those
savings and work towards the Council’s 2030 Net Zero Carbon target.
506. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Report Regarding Provision of Suitable
Full Time Education.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance and Director of
Children and Family Services concerning the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman’s findings in relation to the investigation of a complaint against the Council
relating to its duties to ensure children have access to suitable full-time education
provision. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 12’, is filed with these minutes.
Mrs Taylor CC said that the Ombudsman was satisfied that the fault was an isolated case
and the Council had made every effort to ensure it would not happen again.
RESOLVED:
a) That the public report of the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
(LGO) be noted;
b) That the Director of Children and Family Services be required to implement the
recommendations of the LGO as set out in paragraph 20 (a)-(e) of the Report.
REASONS FOR DECISION:
To bring to the attention of members of the Cabinet the facts of the case and to explain
the various actions which the Council is taking in light of the Ombudsman’s findings.
When a public report is issued by the LGO there is a statutory requirement that it is ‘laid
before the authority concerned’ and there is an obligation for the Council to report back to
the LGO to confirm this action has been taken.
507. Response to the Blaby District Council New Local Plan Options Consultation.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding Blaby District Council’s
‘New Local Plan Options’ document and the County Council’s proposed response to
Blaby District Council (Blaby DC). A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 13’, is filed
with these minutes.

13

Members noted comments from Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC, a copy of which is filed with these
minutes.
Mr. Pendleton CC said that the Council would be looking to work closely with Blaby DC to
help provide the necessary infrastructure to support the area’s development. The
Chairman agreed, noting Blaby DC was working hard on its Local Plan.
Mr. Pain CC said that there was concern among local residents regarding some
proposals for the area close to his electoral division.
In response to a separate point made by Mr. Pain, the Chief Executive said that any
comments on potential implications of the East Midlands Freeport (recently announced
by the Government) would be best made at the next stage of Blaby DC’s Local Plan
process when more work, including on housing distribution across the County, would
have been done.
RESOLVED:
a) That the County Council’s response to the Blaby DC New Local Plan Options
document, set out in paragraphs 56 to 73 inclusive and the appendices to the
report be approved;
b) That the County Council seeks to formalise partnership working arrangements with
Blaby DC and other partners, including Highways England (in line with the County
Council’s emerging Infrastructure Policy);
c) That it be noted that the County Council will need to secure funds with Blaby DC
(and other partners) to meet the cost of the work required to identify the
infrastructure which will be needed to enable the Blaby District Local Plan to
proceed to the Preferred Option stage.
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The emerging locational strategy for the district of Blaby will inform the next stage of local
plan making in the district up to 2038 beyond the adopted Local Plan which extends to
2029. Given the location of the district of Blaby close to the City of Leicester and close
functional connectivity to communities living and working in Hinckley and Bosworth
Borough, Harborough District and Oadby and Wigston Borough, the content of the
emerging Local Plan is particularly important to this area and the wider Leicester and
Leicestershire Housing Market Area (L&L HMA).
The proposed response sets out key comments for consideration by Blaby DC in
preparing its new Local Plan and seeks to ensure alignment with the strategic outcomes
of the County Council’s Strategic Plan, the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth
Plan (SGP), and to influence the content of the Local Plan in the interests of local
communities.
The Council wishes to formalise partnership working arrangements with Blaby DC in
recognition of the significant, complex nature of the preparatory work which needs to be
undertaken to support the identification and delivery of the emerging new Local Plan and
the commitment required by all key partners.

14

For the County Council to prioritise undertaking significant and complex preparatory work
in the current financial climate the financial risk to the County Council needs to be
minimised. Therefore, a commitment to joint funding with Blaby DC (and other partners)
will be sought, in line with the County Council’s emerging Infrastructure Policy.
508. Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - Urgent Action Taken by the Chief Executive in
Relation to the Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health regarding urgent action
taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Council’s Contract Procedure
Rules to enable the direct appointment of E.ON as the Council’s partner in the delivery of
Phase 1B Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme. A copy of the report,
marked ‘Agenda Item 14’, is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Contract
Procedure Rules to enable the appointment of E.ON to deliver the Phase 1B Green
Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme be noted.
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)) provides that exceptions to
the Contract Procedure Rules may be made by the Cabinet where it is satisfied that an
exception is justified on its merits and that in urgent cases the Chief Executive (after
consultation with the Leader or Deputy Leader save where this is not practicable) may
direct that an exception be made subject to this being reported to the next meeting of the
Cabinet.
The direct award of a contract to E.ON was required to enable the project to progress
and for Leicestershire to benefit from the £2.9m funding.
509. Annual Review of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy Statement.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the Council’s use of the
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 for
the period from 1 October 2019 to 31 December 2020 and seeking agreement for
endorsement of the existing Policy Statement. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda
Item 15’, is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
a) That the Council’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)
for the period 1 October 2019 to 31 December 2020 be noted;
b) That the Council’s existing Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of
Communications Data Policy Statement on the use of RIPA powers appended to
the report) be agreed as fit for purpose.

15
REASONS FOR DECISION:
The Codes of Practice made under RIPA require elected members of a local authority to
review the use of RIPA and to set the Policy at least once a year. They should also
consider internal reports on the use of surveillance to ensure that it is being applied
consistently with the local authority’s Policy and that the Policy remains fit for purpose.
(Elected members should not, however, be involved in making decisions on specific
authorisations.)
The Council’s current Policy Statement was approved by the Cabinet on 24 May 2019.
There have been no legislative changes since that date, therefore the Policy Statement
remains fit for purpose.
510. Dates of Council Meetings 2021-22 and 2022-23.
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive regarding the proposed dates for
meetings of the County Council. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 16’, is filed
with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the County Council be recommended to hold meetings on the following dates during
the next two municipal years:Wednesday 7 July 2021
Wednesday 29 September 2021
Wednesday 1 December 2021
Wednesday 23 February 2022 (to consider the budget)
Wednesday 18 May 2022 (Annual meeting)
Wednesday 6 July 2022
Wednesday 28 September 2022
Wednesday 7 December 2022
Wednesday 22 February 2023 (to consider the budget)
Wednesday 17 May 2023 (Annual Meeting).
REASONS FOR DECISION:
To comply with the Local Government Act 1972 and the County Council’s Standing
Orders.
511. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.
There were no items referred from the Overview and Scrutiny bodies.
512. Urgent item - Membership of the Local Government Association.
The Chairman reminded members that the County Council had previously given notice to
the Local Government Association (LGA) of its intention to leave and had since been on
‘rolling notice’ for a few years. It was considered that the cost of membership could be
better used for other matters. Mr. Rushton added that the Council intended to remain a
member of the County Councils Network (CCN) which it considered better represented
the interests of Leicestershire.

16
RESOLVED:
a) That it be noted that the County Council would be resigning from membership of
the LGA with effect from 31 March 2021;
b) That it be noted that the Council would inform the LGA in accordance with its
existing rolling notice to leave.
REASONS FOR DECISION:
Membership of the LGA no longer represents good value for money for the Council.

2.00 - 3.22 pm
23 March 2021

CHAIRMAN

17

Agenda Item 4

CABINET – 22ND JUNE 2021
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
2020/21 PROVISIONAL REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to set out the provisional revenue and capital outturn
for 2020/21.

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended that:
(a) The 2020/21 provisional revenue and capital outturn be noted;
(b) The prudential indicators for 2020/21 as shown in Appendix E to this report be
noted;
(c) The net underspend is used for the additional commitments as specified in the
report.

Reasons for Recommendations
3.

To inform the Cabinet of the provisional revenue and capital outturn for 2020/21.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
4.

A report on the provisional revenue and capital outturn will be considered by the
Scrutiny Commission on 12th July 2021.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
5.

The County Council approved the 2020/21 to 2023/24 Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) in February 2020. The key aim of the Strategy is to ensure that
the Authority has appropriate resources in place to fund key service demands over
the next few years. The Strategy includes the establishment of earmarked funds
and the allocation of ongoing revenue budget and capital resources for key
priorities.

18

Resource Implications
Revenue Outturn
6.

A summary of the revenue outturn for 2020/21, excluding schools grant, is set out
below:

Updated budget
Provisional outturn
Net overspending
Less additional income
Net Underspend
Additional Commitments
Net Position

£000
389,865
415,813
25,948
-35,859
-9,911
9,911
0

7.

Overall there has been a net underspending of £9.9m, which will be used to meet
additional commitments detailed later in the report.

8.

The 2020-24 MTFS was balanced for 2020/21 and 2021/22, with a gap by
2023/24 of £39m. The additional pressures from Covid-19 have affected the
2020/21 budget but government support and local actions have allowed the
position to be managed. However over the medium term the position is only
manageable by additional savings and increases in Council Tax. This is a
particularly difficult situation for a low-funded authority such as Leicestershire as
room for further savings is limited.

9.

The County Council has faced a range of uncertainties during 2020/21 that have
been far higher than in a usual year, including:











Time until normality returns following the Covid-19 pandemic and impact of
further lockdowns
National Living Wage annual increases
DfE commitment to covering SEND (Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities) costs
Economic influences on service demand and service contributions
Tax income (Referendum limits and ability to pay)
Commercial / Corporate Asset Investment Fund income
Level of pent-up demand
Expectations of service provision changed, such as standard of infection
control
Potential for fundamental change in the Care Home market
Capital cost uncertainty / Covid-19.

10. The cost control and related measures that were introduced for the additional
costs of Covid-19 have had a significant positive impact.
11. The General Fund stands at £17m as at 31st March 2021, which represents 4.3%
of the 2021/22 revenue budget, in line with the County Council’s earmarked funds

19

policy and the MTFS approved in February 2021. It is planned to increase the
General Fund to £21m by the end of 2024/25 to reflect increasing uncertainty and
risks over the medium term and the growth in the County Council’s budget.
12. In the 2021-25 MTFS the savings requirement totals £80m, of which £23m still
needs to be identified. There are uncertainties in the medium term due to the
continuing impacts of Covid-19 on the economy affecting income from local
taxation and future central government funding, and the impact on services
through changes required for Covid-19.
13. The implementation of the Fair Funding Review and the 75% Business Rates
Retention Scheme have both been postponed until at least April 2022. Although it
is hoped that the County Council should receive more funding as a result of the
Fair Funding Review, there is no certainty of this, especially given the wider
economic impact of the pandemic. Therefore the MTFS does not include any
provision for any additional funding.
Capital Outturn
14. A summary of the capital outturn for 2020/21, excluding schools devolved formula
capital, is set out below:
£000
Updated budget
145,563
Less provisional outturn
105,005
Net Variance
-40,558
15. Overall there has been a net variance of £40.6m compared with the updated
budget. This includes net slippage of £38.8m and a net underspend of £1.8m.
The net slippage will be carried forward to 2021/22 and future years to fund
schemes that were not completed in 2020/21, with the net underspend added to
the capital financing earmarked fund.
16. There are indications that the costs of some existing capital schemes are likely to
increase (and work is being undertaken to quantify this). Coupled with the wider
national picture of increases in the price of construction materials and shortage of
construction skills due to, for example, HS2, a review will need to be undertaken
over the summer to understand how to deal with the affordability implications. This
fits with the ongoing concern regarding the significant financial risk associated with
the requirements of infrastructure growth in Leicestershire. Some of the issues
being faced may be temporary, but some degree of rationing is likely.
17. Details of the variances and key projects delivered in 2020/21 are included in the
report.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
18. None.

20

Officers to Contact
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Corporate Resources Department
0116 305 6199 E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property), Corporate
Resources Department
0116 305 7668 E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk

21

PART B
Overall Position - Revenue
19. Appendix A shows the provisional outturn position for 2020/21. This compares the
actual net expenditure incurred with the updated budget. The original budget has
been updated for transfers between services and from central contingencies.
20. The overall net underspend is £9.9m, which has been allocated to a number of
additional commitments.
21. The position has improved from a £4.1m underspend reported at period 10. The
main changes relate to:








Adult Social Care - (£1.7m) reduction in the required provision needed to
cover non recovery of advance payments from providers due to Covid-19. By
year end the average amounts outstanding equate to approximately 4 weeks
of payments which are being repaid via instalments or reducing ongoing
payments to providers.
Environment and Transport - (£1.8m) increase in the underspend on Special
Education Needs Transport, due to the difficulties in forecasting arising from
the uncertainties related to the take up of travel due to Covid-19.
Environment and Transport - (£0.9m) increased in underspend across Social
Care, Fleet, and Mainstream school transport – arising from an extended
period of lower usage due to the January to March Covid-19 lockdown.
Corporate Resources - Net change of +£1m; reduction in funding drawdown
from earmarked funds from the Transformation Fund £3m (general Covid-19
grant used instead), and £1.2m underspend on ICT due to lower than
estimated demand for End User Devices for Covid-19 working and staffing
vacancies following a restructure.
Central Grants and Other Income (£1.1m) increased income – additional
interest received on private debt investments, and prior year adjustments
arising from a review of older purchase orders no longer required.

22. Appendix B gives details of significant variances by departmental revenue budgets
for 2020/21.
Children and Families – Schools Budget
23. The overall school budget shows a net £7.0m overspend. This comprises an
overspend of £10.4m on the High Needs block and a net underspend of £3.4m on
the Schools and Early Years blocks. A separate report on this from the Director of
Children and Family Services is also on the agenda for this Cabinet meeting.
24. Nationally concern over the impact of Special Educational Needs and Disability
(SEND) reform on High Needs expenditure and the financial difficulties these
place on local authorities continues. The position in Leicestershire reflects the
national picture.

22

25. The SEND capital programme is developing additional specialist places with the
aim of reducing the reliance on expensive independent sector provision. During
2019/20 a number of these bases welcomed their first cohort of students, with
places continuing to be filled during the 2020/21 academic year. The increase in
demand, however, has resulted in these places being filled with new pupils and
limited the ability to offer places to pupils currently within the independent
sector. Due to set-up costs the full financial benefit of the programme will not be
seen until future years.
26. The accumulated High Needs deficit at the end of 2020/21 is £17.5m taking
account of a £7.1m deficit carried forward from 2019/20.
27. The Department is implementing a number of actions that could, over the course
of the MTFS, reduce demand and therefore the overall deficit through the High
Needs Development Plan.
28. In March 2021, five councils with DSG deficits secured deals with the Department
for Education (DfE) providing them with almost £100m to cover long standing
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) deficits. DfE has said it will
provide additional funding towards eradicating historic SEND deficits for Stoke on
Trent City Council, Richmond upon Thames, Kingston Upon Thames and
Hammersmith & Fulham LBCs and Bury MBC should they meet the milestones set
out in DSG recovery plans, all of which are facing exceptionally high dedicated
school grant (DSG) deficits. In return, these councils have agreed to make reforms
to their SEND services and meet strict savings targets.
29. Overall DSG deficits for these Councils all exceed 10%. The highest for 2020/21 is
Kingston at 16.9% and 18% for 2021/22. Leicestershire is way down the table on
this with a DSG deficit of 0.8% in 2020/21 and 1.8% in 2021/22. For
Leicestershire to hit a 10% threshold, if indeed that was the limit, it would need a
DSG deficit of £53.2m for 2020/21 and £57.8m in 2021/22.
30. The Government has yet to complete its review of the SEND system. The risk
remains that the reforms could in fact exacerbate the situation.
31. Schools growth funding has been earmarked to help meet the revenue costs
associated with new schools and also for meeting the costs of some funding
protection for schools with falling rolls as a result of age range change in other
schools. There is a £3.3m underspend on this budget which will be transferred to
the DSG earmarked fund to fund pupil growth in future years.
Children and Families – Local Authority Budget (Other)
32. There is a net overspend of £3.8m (4.5%). The key factors are described in the
following paragraphs.
33. Operational Placements - £2.9m overspend. There has been an 8% increase in
the costs relating to Looked after Children (LAC), from the March 2020 position.
Whilst the growth built into the MTFS was based on a 14% increase, there has
been an increase in unit costs based on the current cohort of children and new

23

placements coming into the system in comparison to projected unit costs made at
the time of the preparation of the MTFS. For example, current average weekly
external residential unit costs to social care is £4,200 per week compared with a
£3,500 per week assumption built into the MTFS growth, an increase of 20%. This
increase in average weekly cost exceeded the benefit of lower than budgeted LAC
children than originally estimated.
34. Likewise, similar trends were seen across external 16 plus and Independent
Fostering Agency (IFA) placements; 16 plus current average weekly unit costs
increased to £1,550 compared with £1,000 built into MTFS assumptions, an
increase of 55%. IFA current weekly average costs increased to £850 compared
with £790 built into MTFS assumptions, an increase of 7.5%.
35. Changes to case law and court directives have had a significant adverse impact
on the current budget situation. For example, regarding parent and child
placements, the new standard is that there must be a high standard of justification
shown by a local authority seeking an order for separation, requiring it to inform
the court of all available resources that might remove the need for separation.
There are a higher level and increasing number of parent-baby placements
entering the system. To date there has been no available in-house provision to
meet this demand and so IFA/residential searches are required. If IFAs do not
offer a placement, then the court will want to know if there are residential
placement offers. An offer from a residential placement will indicate that that
provision is able to safeguard the child, keeping parent-child together and hence
meeting this new court directed standard.
36. Investment in in-house provision will start to address some of the pressures
outlined above. In March 2020, Cabinet approved £2.5m investment to procure 4
properties to provide additional in-house placements for parent and child and
under and over 16 placements as well as an Assessment and Resource hub and
this provision is currently being developed.
37. Children’s Social Care Staffing - £1.7m overspend. The MTFS had identified
growth for the number of staff roles across various service areas based on current
demand and need. A number of those roles had been filled with agency workers,
given the current challenges around recruitment and retention within social
care. Prior to Covid-19, plans had been in place for an intense recruitment drive
to help reduce the need for agency workers. However, the pandemic severely
disrupted those plans and also required short term reactive measures which
involved having to increase workforce capacity to allow for service continuity
across statutory services. This subsequently meant such increased capacity had
to be met from the agency market at an increased cost. In addition, whilst there
have been positive recruitment drives for social workers, a number of new recruits
are newly qualified and therefore need to be supported by more qualified social
workers in the short term, and unfortunately based on the current demand for
qualified experienced social workers, this is also having to be met from the agency
market.
38. Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF) - £1.5m overspend. There is ongoing
uncertainty around the continuation of government grant funding for this service.

24

The Spending Review only announced the continuation of the Troubled Families
grant (TFG) funding for one year only, 2021/22. To avoid the potential detrimental
impact on the service and given the overall net projected underspend for 2020/21,
the planned contribution from the SLF earmarked fund for 2020/21 was removed,
leaving a higher fund balance to offset the potential that TFG funding will not be
extended into 2022/23.
39. Social Care legal costs - £0.9m overspend. There has been an increased volume
of new court proceedings being issued, some of which have been very complex,
leading to increased costs.
40. Vacancy Management - £1.4m underspend. A planned and measured vacancy
management process has been in place across service areas for all non-critical
and non-essential job roles for most of the financial year. This directive was in
response to the financial pressures across social care and minimised the risk of
incurring any non-essential spend. The measures were kept under continual
review to ensure the impact on service delivery was kept to a minimum.
41. Asylum Seekers - £1m underspend. Increased Home Office funding rates for this
financial year has resulted in a reduced financial pressure on this budget. In
addition, the Home Office has very recently agreed to fund and backdate costs for
a number of Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) for which
otherwise it had been assumed no further financial support would be received. In
addition, the Council has received DfE funding to reflect some of the additional
costs across this budget area due to the impact of Covid-19. It should be noted
that the original budget totalled £2.4m of which £1.5m is funded by the Council
and that after the net underspend of £1m, a balance of £0.5m has had to be met
by the Council.
Adults and Communities
42. The Department has a net underspend of £5.9m (3.9%). The main variances are
reported below.
43. There has been a significant financial impact due to Covid-19 on adult social care
which includes making additional payments in the region of £29.2m to care
providers to cover additional costs (£3.5m), assistance with cashflow (£11m)
which is being repaid by providers, passporting the Infection Control Fund Grant
(£12.6m), Rapid Testing Grant (£1.2m) and Workforce Capacity Grant (£0.9m).
44. Other additional Covid-19 expenditure of £0.8m includes supporting shielding,
PPE purchases for council services, supporting the management of Covid-19, and
food packages for service users being discharged from hospital.
45. These and other additional service user costs (including loss of income) are offset
by income of £16.8m from the NHS to support service users being discharged
from hospital and £4.5m underspend from staffing, overhead and other budgets
mainly due to managing level of staffing vacancies across the department. £1.1m
additional Better Care Fund grant was received for social care protection. An
additional contribution was received from the NHS CCGs towards the social care

25

costs incurred of £7.3m which enabled some underspends to be placed into an
earmarked reserve to support Health Integration projects.
46. The level of demand from the service users for commissioned services is
constantly changing with lower numbers for some services and increased costs.
As the approach Covid-19 management changes nationally, the impact of all of
these changes are being monitored and are continuing to make accurate
forecasting of demand for commissioned services very challenging.
Public Health
47. The Department is on budget. There are underspends of £1.3m, mainly due to
reducing numbers of health checks to a targeted provision (£0.4m) and reduced
demand for sexual health services (£0.9m). The net underspend has been
contributed to the Department’s earmarked fund for future Public Health
programmes.
Environment and Transport
48. There is a net underspend of £6.6m (7.9%).
49. Transport budgets show a net underspend of £4.6m, including underspends of
£2.6m on SEN Transport, £0.7m on Social Care Transport, £0.6m on Mainstream
School Transport and £0.6m on Fleet Transport, mainly due to the reduction of
services during the Covid-19 pandemic.
50. The Highways Design and Delivery budget is underspent by £1.6m. This is related
to additional recharges to capital due to additional funding received for 3 schemes,
and vacant posts. Due to Covid-19 recruitment has been slowed and full
recruitment for services will continue to be impacted , although any benefit is likely
to be offset by additional spend relating to agency staff.
51. The Highways and Transport Network staffing and administration budget is
underspent by £0.7m, due to additional fee income (£0.5m) and an underspend on
staffing from removing agency staff and creating permanent posts (£0.2m).
52. Waste Management shows a net overspend of £0.4m. The impact of Covid-19 has
led to overspends of £1.4m on Landfill and £0.3m on Dry Recycling. These are
offset by underspends including £0.6m on Treatment Contracts, £0.4m on staffing
and administration, due to staff vacancies and £0.3m on the haulage and waste
transfer budget.
Chief Executive’s Department
53. The Department has overspent by £1.7m (14.1%) which is mainly due to the
Covid-19 Community Grant scheme (£1.6m).
54. There is also an overspend of £0.6m on Legal Services, due to temporary posts
agreed for Covid-19 and Adults and Communities additional work, the use of
locum resources to cover vacant posts and reduced income from internal

26

recharges and earmarked funds. Savings of £0.4m have been made relating to
staff vacancies elsewhere in the Department.
Corporate Resources
55. There is a net overspend of £6.3m (18.7%).
56. Transformation Unit - £3.3m overspend, mainly due to reductions in planned
contributions from the earmarked fund as the team and some projects to be
funded from the fund, have been diverted to supporting the Council in responding
to the impact of Covid-19 on services. So instead these can be funded from the
general Covid-19 grant. As a result the forecast shortfall on the Transformation
earmarked fund will be improved to continue to fund work to achieve new savings
required in the new MTFS and continue work in responding to changes required
by Covid-19. Redundancy costs are also paid from the fund and following the
withdrawal of the Government’s cap on exit payment these will be higher than had
been anticipated.
57. Commercial Services - £1.8m overspend. This is primarily related to Covid-19.
Commercial Services faced significant challenges during 2019/20 resulting in a
budget overspend. Difficult trading conditions continued in 2020/21 and were
seriously compounded by the lockdown forcing the scaling back or temporary
closure of a number of commercial services, primarily school food. Options are
being developed to address continuing operational losses and develop an
optimum portfolio of commercially sustainable services going into 2021/22. This
may result in some services discontinuing. The overspend is net of £2.4m furlough
income and £1.1m of Sales, Fees and Charges compensation income from
MHCLG.
58. Corporate Asset Investment Fund - £1.4m overspend. Operational schemes have
performed very strongly with minimal disruption to rent collection and the
continued reduction in voids. However, the new developments at Airfield Farm and
Loughborough University Science Park were delayed by Covid-19, affecting rental
income and setting aside contributions towards a sinking fund for future
improvements. The income is expected to recover in 2021/22.
59. Information and Technology - £1.1m overspend, due to £1.5m spend incurred on
ICT equipment and software to support working from home during the lockdown
period, offset by savings on vacant posts held pending action plans and delays to
recruitment as a result of Covid-19.
60. Strategic Property - £0.4m underspend, mainly relating to staffing, arising from a
delay due to Covid-19 in recruitment to vacant posts following a staffing review.
Central Contingencies / Central Items
61. Given the level of uncertainty around the financial risks that the Council faces, the
MTFS risk contingency of £4m has been transferred to the Budget Equalisation
earmarked fund.

27

62. A balance of £2.2m remaining on the inflation contingency and has been
transferred to earmarked funds. £1.9m has been transferred to the Budget
Equalisation earmarked fund to provide additional funds to offset potential
increased costs from the 2021/22 local government pay negotiations, and £0.3m
has been transferred to Insurance earmarked funds to provide funding for
increasing premium and self-insurance costs.
63. Revenue Funding of Capital – additional costs of £5.4m. This includes an estimate
of £3.4m to cover the shortfall on actual capital receipts in 2020/21 (see later in
the report – these are expected to be repaid but multiple years delays), and £2m
added to the capital financing fund towards additional costs of Covid-19 on the
capital programme in the future.
64. Other items (including prior year adjustments) show a net underspend of £0.7m
mainly due to a review of prior year open purchase orders and other liabilities that
are no longer expected to be incurred.
65. The budget assumed a requirement to increase the General Fund by £11m to
cover the forecast deficit in High Needs funding. That amount has been set aside
in the Budget Equalisation earmarked fund.
Central Costs of Covid-19
66. Given the significant uncertainty in the current financial year, a provision of £5.5m
was made. A total of £1.5m was used to fund the additional costs of the Fit for the
Future project (for back office services) caused by the delay to the planned go live
from April 2020. At year end the balance of £4m was set aside in the Covid-19
Budget earmarked fund for Covid related work in future years.
67. The County Council’s precepts for Business Rates and Council Tax were collected
in full during 2020/21. However, the actual amounts of both income streams
received by the district councils during 2020/21 was affected by Covid-19 from a
rise in unemployment, reduced numbers of new properties and businesses unable
to pay business rates. An initial estimated loss of £15m had been calculated at
period 6 based on an overall reduction of 5% which will affect the income available
to the County Council when setting future years’ budgets. Since then the
Government has announced that Councils will be compensated for up to 75% of
council tax and business rates income lost as a result of the pandemic. In
addition, the Government has extended the furlough scheme from the original end
date of 31st October 2020 to the end of September 2021 which reduced the
estimated income loss, but detrimental impact in future years is expected. The
Government scheme does not compensate for shortfalls in collection performance
limiting the benefit received. This resulted in an updated estimated provision of
around £5m. As this relates to 2020/21, it is prudent to set aside this funding in
this year to offset the anticipated future impact and the amount has been added to
a new earmarked fund.

28

Covid-19 Grants
68. The County Council has received four tranches of Covid-19 general grant from the
Government, totaling £34.5m (or on average 0.75%) out of a national total of
£4.6bn.
69. The County Council has continued to make claims from the Government’s
furlough scheme. A total of £3m has been claimed during 2020/21.
70. The Council has also accessed funding from the Government’s Sales, Fees and
Charges (SPC) scheme during 2020/21, which provides grant support for 75% of
losses due to Covid-19. A total of £2.4m has been claimed for 2020/21 and has
been credited to departmental budgets to offset the relevant losses incurred.
71. During 2020/21 the Council has also received other specific Covid-19 grants of
£43m, which have been used in departments to fund specific Covid-19 initiatives
and offset relevant expenditure. These include Contain Funding £18m, Infection
Control £13m, Test and Trace £2.3m, and Lateral Flow Test £1.7m.
Business Rates
72. Additional Business Rates income of £1.4m has been received. Retained
business rates were £0.4m higher than budgeted. Section 31 grants, to
compensate for discounts awarded nationally by Government, were £0.5m higher.
Additional funding of £0.5m arising from the 2019/20 Business Rates Pilot was
received and was used as additional revenue funding of capital.
73. The position on the 2020/21 Leicestershire Business Rates Pool is estimated to
be £8m. The final position will be based on returns to be submitted by the billing
authorities to the Government by the end of June 2021. The Cabinet will be
updated on the position when details are available. The surplus is transferred to
the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP).
74. Due to the success of the Business Rates Pool a total of £40m will have been
retained in Leicestershire, since the first year of operation in 2013/14. The
funding, provided to the LLEP, is being used to support a range of infrastructure
projects around the County and City. Part of this funding will be received by the
County Council to help offset the costs of specific projects which would otherwise
need to be funded from the Council’s own funding sources.
75. Due to the position in 2020/21 the Pool has continued in 2021/22. Initial estimates
suggest a similar level to the 2020/21 position, but the continuing impact of Covid19 on business rates income and interventions made by Government make the
position difficult to forecast.

29

Overall Revenue Summary
76. Overall, there is a net underspend of £9.9m. This will be used to fund the
following additional spending requirements:


Highway priorities £5m – enhanced highway maintenance, community speed
management, and member highways fund (the subject of a separate report
on the agenda for this meeting).
Funding for SEND £2.4m – additional capital investment.
Contribution to Transformation earmarked fund £2.2m – continue investment
to achieve new savings required in the MTFS.
Leicester Cathedral £0.35m – to conclude the reordering of the Cathedral.
Leicester City Council will also contribute the same amount.





General Fund and Earmarked Funds
77. The uncommitted General Fund balance as at 31 March 2021 stands at £17m
which represents 4.3% of the 2021/22 revenue budget, in line with the County
Council’s earmarked funds policy. The MTFS includes further analysis of the
County Council’s earmarked funds including the reasons for holding them.
78. The total level of earmarked funds held as at 31 March 2021 total £156m,
comprising those held for revenue purposes of £91m and capital of £65m. In
addition funds are held on behalf of schools (£11m deficit) and partnerships
(£11m). Earmarked funds are shown in detail in Appendix C. The main
earmarked funds are set out below.
Renewals of Vehicles and Equipment (£4.2m)
79. Departments hold earmarked funds for the future replacement of vehicles (the
County Council has a fleet of around 350 vehicles) and equipment such as ICT.
Corporate Asset Investment Fund (£1.2m)
80. These are funds generated from the Corporate Asset investment Fund and are
used for improvement works included within the Fund.
Insurance (£13.8m)
81. Earmarked funds of £8.6m are held to meet the estimated cost of future claims to
enable the Council to meet excesses not covered by insurance policies and
smooth fluctuations in claims between years. The levels are informed by advice
from independent advisors. Excesses include:






Property damage (including fire) £500,000
Public / Employers’ liability £375,000
Professional indemnity £25,000
Fidelity guarantee £100,000
Money – completely self-insured.

30

82. The uninsured loss fund of £5.2m is required mainly to meet potential liabilities
arising from Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) that is subject to a run-off of claims
following liquidation in 1992. The fund also covers the period before the Council
purchased insurance cover and any other uninsured losses.
Children and Family Services
83. Supporting Leicestershire Families (£1.8m). This earmarked fund is used to fund
the Supporting Leicestershire Families service which is providing early help and
intervention services for vulnerable families across Leicestershire. Given ongoing
uncertainty around the continuation of government grant funding for this service,
the planned contribution from the SLF earmarked fund for 2020/21 was removed,
leaving a higher fund balance to offset the potential removal of TFG funding in
2022/23.
84. Children and Family Services Developments (£1.2m). This provides funding for a
number of projects such as improving management information, information
access and retention and responding to changing requirements as a result of
OfSTED and legislation.
Adults and Communities
85. Adults and Communities Developments (£5.6m). This earmarked fund is held to
fund a number of investments in maintaining social care service levels and
assisting the Department in achieving its transformation.
Public Health
86. Public Health (£1.8m) – to fund Public Health initiatives within Leicestershire.
Environment and Transport
87. Commuted Sums (£3.2m). This funding, received from housing developers, is
used to cover future revenue costs arising from developer schemes, where the
specifications are over and above standard developments (e.g. block paving,
bollards, or trees adjacent to the highway). These liabilities can arise many years
after the funding is received and therefore the balance on this earmarked fund has
built up over time.
88. Leicester and Leicestershire Integrated Transport Model (LLITM) (£2.1m). This
earmarked fund is income from charging other local authorities for using the
model. Surplus income is added into the fund and will be used to finance activity
to refresh the model when required.
Corporate
89. Transformation Fund (£9.2m). The fund is used to invest in transformation
projects to achieve efficiency savings and also to fund severance costs. To
achieve the level of savings within the MTFS the Council will need to change
significantly, and this will require major investment, including in some of the core

31

‘building blocks’ of transformation such as improvements to data quality, and
improvements to digital services enabling more self-service.
90. Broadband (£2.4m). This fund was established to allow the development of
super-fast broadband within Leicestershire. There is a significant time lag in
spending County Council funds as a result of securing grant funding from Central
Government and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) that required
those funds to be spent first and within a set period.
91. Budget Equalisation (£24m) – earmarked fund to manage variations in funding
across financial years. This includes the increasing pressures on the High Needs
element of the Dedicated Support Grant (DSG) which is in deficit by £17m at the
end of 2020/21. The Children and Family Services Department is investigating a
number of actions that could over the course of the MTFS reduce demand and
therefore the overall deficit.
92. Covid-19 Council Tax and Business Rates (£5m). Earmarked fund to meet
estimated income reductions due to Covid-19.
93. Covid-19 Budget (£4.5m). Funding set aside to deal with potential Covid-19
pressures in future years. This is in addition to the provision made in the MTFS
for 2021/22. This funding is to allow the financial position to be managed without
taking knee jerk actions. If some of the funding is not required, it can be directed
towards other priorities such as the capital programme.
94. Covid-19: Tax Income Guarantee (TIG) compensation (£2.3m). The Government
will meet 75% of some elements of reduced council tax and business rates
income collected in 2020/21. That grant needs to be reflected in the 2020/21
accounts and set aside in an earmarked fund.
95. Pooled Property Fund(s) (-£23.6m). The Cabinet on 11 September 2015 and 11
October 2016 approved the investment of £15m and £10m respectively of the
Council’s earmarked funds into pooled property funds, total investment £25m.
The investments are held to achieve higher returns than if the funds were invested
as cash. The investment is funded from the overall balance of earmarked funds
and can be realised in the future when required. The Council also holds
investments in Private Debt funds, which include a cumulative unrealised gain of
£1.4m, this is offset within the £25m.
Capital
96. Capital Financing (£89.2m). This fund is used to hold MTFS revenue
contributions required to fund the approved capital programme in future years.
The increase at year-end is due to the overall level of slippage on the capital
programme in 2020/21 and proposed additional funding at year end for Highways
Initiatives and SEND investment explained earlier in the report. In addition, when
funding actual capital expenditure, and as revenue funding is less restricted than
capital funding which can only be used to fund new capital expenditure, balances
from this fund have been used last.

32

Other / Partnerships Earmarked Funds
97. Dedicated Schools Grant (deficit of £11.1m). DSG is ring-fenced and can only be
applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget, as defined in
the School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations. This fund is
earmarked to meet the revenue costs of commissioning places in new schools,
early years and to support pressures on the high needs block. A summary is
shown below:
Schools
Block
£m
31-3-20
Changes
2020/21
31-3-21

Early Years
Block
£m

High Needs
Block
£m

Total

3.2
3.3

-0.2
0.1

-7.1
-10.4

-4.1
-7.0

6.5

-0.1

-17.5

-11.1

£m

98. Within the Schools block funding, future DSG allocations for schools growth will be
retained and added to the earmarked fund to support the revenue costs of
commissioning new schools. The deficit on the High Needs block will increase in
the medium term until the savings arising from the High Needs Development Plan
are delivered. In the short term the surplus on the Schools block will partially
offset the high needs deficit.
99. Health and Social Care Outcomes (£8.9m) used in conjunction with Health
partners across Leicestershire. The balance includes a transfer in from Health of
£7.3m at year end.
100. Leicestershire and Rutland Sport (£1.4m). The main purpose of this earmarked
fund is to hold partner contributions until expenditure on the agreed activities has
been incurred. A significant part of the services’ funding from external agencies is
uncertain in nature, so the earmarked fund also allows management of funding
variations and a redundancy provision.
CAPITAL PROGRAMME
101. The updated capital programme for 2020/21 totals £146m, including net slippage
of £29m from 2019/20.
102. A summary of the capital outturn for 2020/21, excluding schools devolved formula
capital, is set out below:

33

Programme Area

Updated Budget

Actual
Expenditure
£000

Net Variance
£000

35,793
10,183
64,466
890
9,798
24,433

23,652
8,870
47,559
551
6,913
17,460

(12,141)
(1,313)
(16,907)
(339)
(2,885)
(6,973)

66%
87%
74%
62%
71%
72%

145,563

105,005

(40,558)

72%

£000

Children and Family Services
Adults and Communities
Environment and Transport
Chief Executive’s
Corporate Resources
Corporate Programme
Total

%

103. A summary of the net variance is shown below:
Programme Area

Children and Family Servs.
Adults and Communities
Environment and Transport
Chief Executive’s
Corporate Resources
Corporate Programme
Total

Underspend

Overspend

Slippage

£000

£000

£000

Acceleration
£000

Total
£000

(513)
0
(80)
0
(1,889)
0

513
0
11
0
403
50

(12,900)
(1,559)
(18,787)
(387)
(2,912)
(7,887)

759
246
1,949
48
1,513
864

(12,141)
(1,313)
(16,907)
(339)
(2,885)
(6,973)

(2,482)

977

(44,432)

5,379

(40,558)

1,505

Net
Slippage

39,053

Net
Underspend

104. The net underspend of £1.5m has been added to the capital financing earmarked
fund to reduce the level of internal borrowing required for the new MTFS capital
programme. The net slippage of £39.1m has been carried forward to the capital
programme 2021-25 to fund delayed projects.
105. A summary of the key projects delivered and main variations are set out below.
Further details of the main variations are provided in Appendix D.
106. Appendix E compares the provisional prudential indicators with those set and
agreed by the Council, at its budget meeting in February 2020. These are all
within the limits set.
107. A review of the 2021-25 capital programme will be undertaken during the summer
2021 in light of delays to project delivery and emerging financial pressures on
large capital projects due to increasing costs of raw materials and increased
demand for delivery partners with the required specialist skills for major projects
given competition from large national infrastructure initiatives, especially HS2. An
updated capital programme will be reported to the Cabinet in September or
October.

34

Children and Family Services
Key Projects Delivered
108. Creation of additional school places successfully completed projects at 9 different
schools. 700 new Primary school places and 160 new Secondary school places
were delivered. The SEND programme saw the completion of several schemes to
support the High Needs Development Plan. Six new units for pupils with either
social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) needs, or communication and
interaction (C&I) needs were delivered, alongside the delivery of a Post-16 Centre
and two new special schools Foxfields Academy (50 place SEMH School) and
Fusion Academy (80 place C&I School) completed during 2020/21.
Main Variances
109. The year-end position shows a net variance of £12.1m compared with the updated
budget. The main variances are due to slippage on:





the provision of Primary Places £8.0m due to complex schemes involving
several parties, an area that is implementing age range change and the
rejection of a planning application,
SEND Programme £2m due to delays in identifying sites and a revision of a
legal agreement,
Strategic Capital Maintenance £1.1m and
The timing of the Assessment & Residential Multi-Functional Properties £0.9m
slipped by a few months into the current financial year.

110. Additional costs totalling £0.5m have occurred during the year, mainly in relation
to the SEND capital programme. This is due to pressures from increasing
demand, particularly for specialist equipment within the SEND programme. These
have been offset by savings elsewhere across the programme.
Adults and Communities
Key Projects Delivered
111. Social Care Investment Plan (SCIP) – investment of £3m across several
properties, including purchase and refurbishment works. Additional works are
planned to take place in 2021/22. These sites will provide new accommodation
for both transitions and supported living service users.
Main Variances
112. The outturn shows a net variance of £1.3m compared with the updated budget.
The main variance is due to slippage on the Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent
properties in North West Leicestershire Development of £1.1m pending a review
of costs.

35

Environment and Transport
Key Projects Delivered
113. A total of £21.7m has been spent on the preparation and delivery of major projects
in 2020/21, including:










M1 J23/A512, £13.5m – the detailed design and construction of
improvements to ease congestion and provide access to the West of
Loughborough housing development commenced in 2017/18. This major
scheme has continued through 2020/21 with a completion on site anticipated
in June 2021.
A46 Anstey Lane, £3.0m – the detailed design and construction of
improvements to ease congestion and mitigate the Aston Green housing
development commenced in 2017/18 and completed in 2020/21.
Lutterworth East - £0.6m to design highway improvements and provide
access to proposed new housing development in Lutterworth (this
programme is being paused until funding can be secured).
Melton Mowbray Eastern Distributor Road, £2.5m – the project to build the
distributor road to the north and east of Melton Mowbray to ease congestion
in the town centre and facilitate growth commenced in 2017/18 with
anticipated on site advance works starting spring 2022.
A511 Major Road Network scheme, £0.7m - to tackle longstanding
congestion and traffic related problems on the A511 between Leicester (M1
Junction 22) and the A42 commenced 2019/20 with a completion on site
anticipated in Spring 2026.
Waste Transfer station, £0.3m – to provide greater resilience for waste
disposal activities across the County and reduce reliance on landfill which
have a negative environmental impact. During 2020/21 significant progress
on preparatory work was made with a completion on site anticipated in
spring 2022.

114. A total £21.6m was also invested in Highways Asset Maintenance,

£17.3m on carriageways

£2.0m on footways and rights of way

£1.0m on bridge maintenance and strengthening

£0.6m on street lighting maintenance

£0.4m on flood alleviation

£0.1m on traffic signal renewal

£0.2m on other activity including joint sealing.
115. A programme of works at the Recycling and Household Waste Sites (RHWS) has
continued to ensure ongoing environmental compliance and efficient service
provision. This included significant improvements and a range of preparatory
work in readiness for further site enhancement and development in 2021/22.
Main Variances
116. The year-end position shows a net variance of £16.9m compared with the updated
budget.

36

117. The main variances are:







M1 Junction 23 / A512, £3.6m slippage - due to delays in the legal
agreement being signed with the developers. There was also a delay in
mobilisation due to issues with access to the site.
Highways Capital Maintenance Schemes £2.7m slippage - due to challenge
fund being provided mid-year and whilst all efforts were made to complete
these schemes before the year-end they will not be done until early 2021/22.
In addition due to traffic concerns at the East Midlands Airport from the
effects of Brexit, a programme near this area had to be postponed and some
slippage relating to less work design work being completed for major
schemes this year but schemes are still progressing and this will be needed
in the future.
A511 Major Road Network £2.0m slippage – due to delays with surveys
which delayed the planning process this then impacted on engaging with
contractors and the procurement of works taking longer than anticipated.
County Council Vehicle Programme £1.5m slippage - due to a process being
reviewed with consultants under Fleet Management Review project,
therefore the only spend was on replacing essential vehicles.
Hinckley Hub (National Productivity Investment Fund) £1.3m slippage - due
to Covid-19 restriction, with completing trial holes which are needed to be
undertaken before construction work and finalising land purchase. In
addition, there was a delay in obtaining the licence to access third party land
to complete the trial holes and also due to disputes on potential
contaminated materials and liability which delayed the land purchase.

Chief Executive’s
Key Projects Delivered
118. Rural Broadband Scheme: the County Council has committed to seeking all
available options to achieve universal superfast broadband coverage across the
County. Phase 3 of the Superfast Leicestershire programme is a key component
in working towards this commitment.
Corporate Resources
Key Projects Delivered
119. Investment in the ICT infrastructure of £0.7m:




Completion of Local Area Network Edge Refresh
Adaptive Security Appliance Firewall Replacements
Cyber security mitigations

120. As a direct response to Covid-19 laptops were issued across the workforce to
enable people to work safely and effectively from home during government
restrictions. Costs of £2.5m were incurred, representing an acceleration of the

37

existing programme whilst paving the way for a much more ambitious roll out of
future Ways of Working than previously anticipated.
121. A further £3m has been spent on delivering the Snibston Masterplan, which
included works to the children’s play area and café on the former Snibston
Discovery site. A heritage and mountain bike trail was installed at the County park,
together with a cycle path leading to the town centre.
Main Variances
122. The year end position shows a net variance of £2.9m compared with the updated
budget.
123. The main variances relate to cancellation of the Watermead Country Park new
footbridge, £0.5m.
124. Snibston Country Park Future Strategy land remediation works will now be carried
out by the end user and not form part of the scheme resulting in an underspend of
£1.6m and slippage on the Workplace Strategy £0.7m due to delays in the works
starting at Pennine House and Parkside as a result of Covid-19.
125. The outturn included a £0.4m overspend on development works at Melton,
Sysonby farm. The original scheme included grant funding from Homes England.
However, following a review of the grant conditions which imposed a requirement
to pay Homes England a larger proportion of future receipts from the sale of the
site than what could be achieved if the Council funded the works and sold it itself,
it was agreed not to accept the grant offer.
Corporate Programme
Key Projects Delivered
126. During 2020/21 the following investments were made as part of the Corporate
Asset Investment Fund:


£11.4m land acquisition and associated costs for planning and consultancy
services as part of the East of Lutterworth Strategic Development plan.
£5.4m for the final phase of works at Loughborough University Science and
Enterprise Park (part of a £22m project).



Main Variances
127. The year-end position shows a net variance of £6.9m compared with the updated
budget.
128. The main variances relate to:


Future Developments – £6.6m slippage as schemes were not suitably
advanced to require funding. During 2020/21 £5.9m of the fund was used as
forward funding of developer contributions towards the Environment and

38



Transport M1 Junction 23 scheme. These will be repaid to the fund in future
years.
Airfield Farm Scheme - slippage of £0.6m.The framework tender was
completed which resulted in only two contractors tendering significantly in
excess of the budget and a further procurement exercise is taking place.

Capital Receipts
129. The target for new capital receipts for 2020/21 was £4.5m. The actual receipts
received were £1.2m, a shortfall of £3.7m. The shortfall is primarily due to
discussions with the departments for possible part usage on two sites. The
shortfall in 2020/21 will be met from Revenue Funding of Capital as described
earlier in the report.
Capital Summary
130. Overall £105m was invested in capital projects in Leicestershire during 2020/21.
131. Overall spend was less than budget by £40.6m. A review of the 2021-25 capital
programme will be undertaken during the summer 2021 and reported to the
Cabinet in September or October.
Corporate Asset Investment Fund
132. A summary of the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) position for 2020/21 is
set out below:
Opening
Capital
Valuation

Closing
Capital
Change
Valuation in Capital
Value

Capital
Incurred
2020/21

Change
in
Valuation

Office

£000
46,477

£000
5,415

£000
203

£000
52,095

%
0.4%

£000
2,420

£000
1,268

%
2.4%

Industrial

12,419

295

-101

12,613

-0.8%

1,320

1,001

7.9%

456

0

1

457

0.2%

-3

13

2.8%

Development(N1)

39,464

11,557

-1,265

49,756

-2.5%

0

-68

-0.1%

Rural (N2)

22,522

193

5,745

28,460

25.3%

475

131

0.5%

Other(N3)

4,413

0

275

4,688

6.2%

158

262

5.6%

Pooled Property

24,849

0

-544

24,305

-2.2%

1,000

872

3.6%

Private Debt(N4)

20,276

-3,972

336

16,640

2.1%

1,000

1,088

6.5%

170,876

13,488

4,650

189,013

2.5%

6,370

4,568

2.5%

Asset Class

Distribution

TOTAL (N5)

Target
Net
Income

Actual
Net
Income

Net
Income
Return

(N1) Opening Valuation updated for transfer of LUSEP from Development to Office class in 20/21, £19.3m.
Bardon interlink site has been revalued down by £1.3m due to change of use from industrial development
to a waste transfer station.
(N2) Includes £5m uplift in valuation of a farm based on an agreed sale price post year end –
change of use.
(N3) includes vehicle showroom.
(N4) principal repaid in 20/21 totalling £4.0m, investment is in distribution phase
(N5) Net income includes a £0.3m sinking fund provision and £0.3m bad debt provision

39

133. During the year, the fund generated net income returns of £4.6m, or 2.5%. If the
development classification was excluded, the return would increase to 3.1%.
134. Overall the fund incurred a net capital valuation gain of 2.5% for 20/21 (not
cash). Returns were lower than normal due to a general deterioration in rental
yields in the property sector caused by Covid-19. This reflects the state of the
wider property market. Some of these will return. Property is a long term
investment that will incur periods of variation, but over the longer term it is
expected that these will recover in value. More detailed information will be
provided in the annual CAIF performance report to the Cabinet in September.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
135. There are no direct equality or human rights implications arising from the
recommendations in this report.
Appendices
Appendix A - Comparison of 2020/21 Expenditure and the Updated Revenue Budget
Appendix B - Revenue Budget 2020/21 – main variances
Appendix C - Earmarked Fund balances 31/3/21
Appendix D - Variations from the updated 2020/21 capital programme
Appendix E - Prudential Indicators 2020/21
Background Papers
Report to the County Council – 19th February 2020 – Medium Term Financial Strategy
2021-25. http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s151410/MTFS%202020-24.pdf

This page is intentionally left blank

41
APPENDIX A
REVENUE BUDGET 2020/21 - OUTTURN STATEMENT
Updated
Budget

Actual
Expenditure

£000

£000

72,872
34,974
-107,846
0

69,607
34,865
-107,846
-3,375

-3,265
-109
0
-3,375
-3,040
-6,415

-4.5
-0.3
0.0

73,256
-73,256
0

83,678
-73,256
10,422

10,422
0
10,422
7,090
17,512

14.2
0.0

LA Budget
Children & Family Services (Other)
Adults & Communities
Public Health *
Environment & Transport
Chief Executives
Corporate Resources
DSG (Central Dept. recharges)
MTFS risks contingency
Contingency for Inflation
Total Services

82,796
150,779
-665
83,406
12,268
33,749
-2,285
4,000
2,234
366,282

86,560
156,719
-665
76,832
13,997
40,061
-2,285
4,000
2,234
377,453

3,764
5,940
0
-6,574
1,729
6,312
0
0
0
11,171

4.5
3.9
n/a
-7.9
14.1
18.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
3.0

Central Items
Financing of Capital
Revenue funding of capital
Revenue funding of capital- use of BR Pilot income
Central Expenditure
Central Grants and Other Income
Other Items (including prior year adjustments)
Total Central Items

19,200
23,900
0
2,724
-33,241
0
12,583

18,917
29,300
453
2,394
-33,552
-653
16,860

-283
5,400
453
-330
-311
-653
4,277

-1.5
22.6
n/a
-12.1
0.9
n/a
34.0

Contribution to General Fund
Contribution to Earmarked Reserves
Central Costs of Covid-19/ EU Exit
Covid-19 impact on Council Tax/Business Rates income
Total Spending

11,000
0
0
0
389,865

0
11,000
5,500
5,000
415,813

-40,346
-23,922
-4,156
0
0
-2,091
-319,350
-389,865

-40,346
-24,367
-4,615
-453
-34,502
-2,091
-319,350
-425,724

0
-445
-459
-453
-34,502
0
0
-35,859

0

-9,911

-9,911

0
0
0
0
0

5,000
2,400
2,161
350
9,911

5,000
2,400
2,161
350
9,911

Schools Budget
Schools
Early Years
DSG Funding
Earmarked fund - start of year
Earmarked fund - end of year
High Needs
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
Earmarked fund - start of year
Earmarked fund - end of year

Funding
Business Rates - Top Up
Business Rates Baseline / retained
S31 Grants - Business Rates
Business Rates Pilot 19/20 - one-off additional income
Covid-19 Grant
Council Tax Collection Funds - net surplus
Council Tax
Total Funding
Net Total
USE OF UNDERSPEND
Highway priorities
Funding for SEND investments
Contribution to Transformation earmarked fund
Leicester Cathedral

* Public Health funded by Grant (£25.2m)

Difference
from Updated
Budget
£000
%

-11,000 -100.0
11,000 n/a
5,500 n/a
5,000 n/a
25,948
6.7

0.0
1.9
11.0
n/a
n/a
0.0
0.0
9.2

This page is intentionally left blank

43
APPENDIX B
Revenue Budget 2020/21 – forecast main variances
Children and Family Services
Dedicated Schools Grant
There is a net overspend of £7.0m. The main variances are:
£000
DSG High Needs Block (HNB) earmarked fund drawdown
9,600
Budget included an estimated HNB drawdown of £9.6m as the planned in year overspend.

% of
Budget
n/a

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)
1,654
2%
The SEND Capital Programme is developing new resource bases with the aim of reducing the reliance on
expensive independent sector places. During 19/20 a number of these bases welcomed their first cohort
of students, with more places filled during the 20/21 academic year. The increase in demand, however,
has resulted in these places being filled with new demand as opposed to having the desired impact on
existing numbers. Due to set-up costs the full effect of the programme won't be seen until future years.
Additionally, the numbers of pupils in mainstream settings that receive top-up funding is rising rapidly.
Early Years / Nursery Education Funding
-109
-0.3%
The underspend is due to the Early Years Dedicated School Grant income being calculated based on preCovid January 2020 numbers of children in nurseries. Actual numbers were reduced during the year,
although payments were made in Autumn 2020 reflecting the higher of either the actual numbers or the
previous Autumn numbers, to help keep the nurseries sustainable. The Department for Education will
recalculate Nursery Grant income in the new financial year, allowing for the reduced numbers in January
2021, expecting grant to be clawed back in respect of this.
Schools Growth
-3,285
-107%
This funding has been earmarked to help meet the revenue costs associated with new schools and also
for meeting the costs of some funding protection for schools with falling rolls as a result of age range
change in other schools. The underspend has been transferred to the DSG earmarked fund to fund pupil
growth in future years.
High Needs Block Development / Inclusion Partnerships
-369
-27%
The High Needs Recovery Plan included the further development of 4 inclusion projects by the Secondary
Education Inclusion Partnerships (SEIPs) which as a result of a change to the approach to inclusion will
now not be progressed.
Education of Children with Medical Needs (CMN)
-239
-44%
Following implementation of the Inclusion Service Review Action Plan, Case reviews have decreased the
numbers of young people in the system who are supported back into education at an earlier stage. The
underspend is also due to the recoupment of funding from schools for CMN placements.
Specialist Services to Vulnerable Groups
-213
-9%
Underspend primarily due to the restructure of the Autism Outreach offer. The savings this has created
has enabled the service to meet its own savings target, plus this further underspend.
Other variances
TOTAL

8
7,047

n/a
n/a

44
Local Authority Budget
The Local authority budget shows a net overspend of £3.8m (4.5%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
Children's Social Care Placements
2,913
9%
699 Children in Care at March 21. This represents a 8% LAC (Looked after Children) increase from March
20 Position. Whilst MTFS Growth was based on a 14% increase, there has been an increase in unit costs
based on the current cohort of children and new placements coming into system in comparison to
projected unit costs made at time of MTFS submission. This has resulted in the current overspend
position.
£000

For example current average weekly External Residential Unit costs to social care is £4200 p/w (£3500
p/w assumption built into MTFS Growth - 20% increase). Similar trends across external 16 plus and IFA
placements. 16plus current average weekly unit costs £1550 vs £1000 built into MTFS assumptions - 55%
increase. IFA current weekly average costs £ 850 vs £790 built into MTFS assumptions - 7.5% increase.
During the last quarter, a number of children have required a residential placements as result of their very
complex needs, and subsequently led to very high cost placements. This helps further explain the reason
why the average unit costs have increased above initial projected levels as per the MTFS.
In addition, during the financial year, we have seen a direct impact of changes to case law and practice
in regards to parent and child placements, and as a result have a direct impact on the projected budget
position for this financial year. For example, the new standard is there must be a high standard of
justification that must be shown by a local authority seeking an order for separation requiring it to inform
the court of all available resources that might remove the need for separation.
Because of this, and at the same time seeing a higher level and increasing number of parent-baby
placements enter the system, the current position is there is no available in house provision to meet this
demand and so IFA/residential searches are required. If IFAs do not offer a placement, then the court will
want to know if there are residential placement offers. An offer from a residential placement will indicate
that that provision feels able to safeguard the child, keeping parent-child together and hence meeting this
new court directed standard.
Due to this the number of new entries into residential have exceeded the predicted number for 2020/21 9% increase in Residential numbers compared to the projected number of residential placements built
into current MTFS assumptions, hence impacting adversely on year end spend position.
Children's Social Care Staffing
1,686
8%
The MTFS had identified a growth for number of staff roles across various service areas based on
current demand and need. A number of those roles had been filled with agency workers, given the
current challenges around recruitment and retention within social care. Prior to Covid 19, plans has been
in place for a intense recruitment drive and plan to reduce the need for agency workers. However, the
current pandemic caused severe disruption to those plans, and not only did short term reactive measures
which involved having to increase workforce capacity to allow for service continuity across our statutory
services, it subsequently also meant such increased capacity had to be met from the agency market at an
increased cost. In addition, whilst we have seen positive recruitment drives for social workers, a number
of new recruits are newly qualified and therefore in a lot cases have needed to be supported by more
qualified social workers in the short term, and unfortunately based on the current demand for qualified
experienced social workers, this is having to be met from the agency market.
Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF)
1,500
n/a
The 2020 Spending Review only announced the continuation of Troubled Families grant (TFG) funding for
21/22. Given the overall County Council financial position for 20/21, the planned contribution from the SLF
earmarked fund for 20/21 was removed, giving a higher fund balance carried forward to offset the
potential removal of TFG funding in 22/23.
Social Care Legal Costs
892
79%
Overspend due to increased volume of new court proceeding being issued, some of which have been
very complex and incurred additional costs.
Children's Social Care Section 17, 23 and 24 Budgets

309

50%

45
Increased demand as result of Covid-19. For example, a number of Care leavers subsequently became
furloughed and as a result required additional support.
Vacancy Management across all non essential vacant roles
-1,400
-14%
A planned and measured vacancy management process has been in place across service areas for all
non-critical and non-essential job roles for most of the financial year. This directive was in response to
the financial pressures across social care and minimised the risk of incurring any non-essential spend.
Such measures will be under continual review to ensure the impact on service delivery is kept to a
minimum.
Asylum Seekers Budget
-956
-66%
Increased Home Office funding rates for 20/21 resulted in reduced financial pressure on this budget
compared to what had been projected when the budget was set. In addition, the Home Office has very
recently agreed to fund and backdate costs for a number of UASC which otherwise had been assumed
no further financial support would be received. LCC has also received DFE funding to reflect some of the
additional costs across this budget area due to the impact of Covid-19.
Disabled Children Service
-432
-10%
The demand for and delivery of short breaks has been reduced during the past 12 months, accounting for
£213k of this underspend. Further underspends have occurred through reduced demand for aid and
adaptive equipment, and vacancy savings within the Occupational Therapy team.
Education Quality and Inclusion
-248
-20%
Reduction of costs due to Covid-19 and the continuation of virtual learning.
HR - Premature Retirement Costs
-217
-16%
Reduced demand, some of which is as result of the impact of Covid-19.
Education Children in Care ( Virtual School)
-197
-33%
Reduction of costs due to Covid-19 and subsequent impact on PPP funding allocations required based on
in year need.
Other variances
TOTAL

-86
3,764

n/a
n/a

Adults & Communities
The Department has a net overspend of £5.9m (3.9%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
Residential Care and Nursing
3,308
5%
The net overspend of £3.3m arises from several areas. Firstly, additional payment costs to providers of
£3m (including £1m of additional annual inflation to fees), additional service users costs mainly due to
Covid-19 (£6.7m), transitions costs from children's services (£0.9m), payment for Infection Protection
Control Grant (£10.3m), payment of Rapid Test Grant (£1.2m), payment of Workforce Capacity Grant
(£0.4m) and loss of Income as a result of Covid-19 due to the decline in the chargeable number of service
users (£4.9m). These additional costs will be offset by anticipated additional income in the region of
£11.6m from the NHS discharge Covid-19 fund, £10.3m from the Infection Control Fund Grant, £1.6m
from Rapid Test and Workforce Capacity Grant. There are currently an average of 2,400 service users
with an average gross care package cost of £820 per week .
£000

46
Community income
3,135
15%
As a result of Covid-19 the decline in the chargeable number of service users (SU) is approximately 400
SU who usually provide approx £84/week of income, therefore the loss of income is £1.0m and the debt
provision has been increased by £0.5m. The number of chargeable service users has started to increase
and this will continue over time as the effect of Covid-19 and social distancing diminish.
Health recharges for Home Care are £650k lower than budgeted which is due to falling service user
numbers with CHC (Continuing Heath Care) funding likely to be due to new cases being eligible for
recharge against the Covid-19 health funding . Agency income for Supported Living of £500k will not be
achieved, however this should be compensated for by an equivalent saving on expenditure. The LD Pool
income for non-residential SU is below budget by £300k as service user numbers are reducing. The
remaining loss is due other Covid-19 related changes.
Homecare
2,523
13%
There is an overspend due to the costs of Covid-19 hospital discharge patients (£4.7m), provider Covid19 support payments(£1.3m),Infection Protection Control Fund(IPCF) grant costs (£2.7m), Workforce
Capacity Grant (£0.3m )and increased costs of service users (£1.0m). IPCF/Workforce Capacity grant
income and NHS Discharge Fund (£7.7m) will net off most of this element of the overspend. Additional
impact of April 20 contract inflation estimated at £600k and an increase in the number of service users is
also included in the overspend. The forecast for Home Care is based on an average SU number over the
year of 2,220 at an average weekly cost per person of £250.
Additional Other COVID costs
790
n/a
Additional Covid-19 expenditure includes spend of £221k on supporting shielding, £450k on PPE
purchases for all council services, £276k on supporting management of Covid-19, £29k on food packages
for service users being discharged from hospital and £13k on additional accommodation. This is partially
offset by Covid-19 grant income of £166k.
Direct Payments
786
2%
The overspend is due to a net increase in service user average package costs of 15%, partially offset by a
13% reduction in service users.
Strategic Commissioning and contract quality
274
16%
Overspend largely due to increased staffing and unbudgeted Covid-19 expenditure. The Social
Investment Programme has not utilised the Transformation Fund and this accounts for £122k of the
overspend.
Supported Living Commissioned Services
175
1%
Overspend mainly relates to additional Covid-19 payments to providers (£0.2m), IPCF payments (£0.1m)
and Workforce Capacity Fund payments (£0.1m) and growth in the number of service users due to the
continuing implementation of the Target Operating Model (TOM) project (£0.3m). Some of these costs are
offset by Covid-19 grants (£0.3m). Currently there are on average 350 service users with an increasing
average cost of £1,190.
Reablement (HART) & Crisis Response
-1,132
-23%
Underspend due to staffing vacancies and challenges recruiting during Covid-19. It is expected that
additional resources will be recruited to as part of the Target Operating Model (TOM) work to encourage
the transfer of volumes out of HTLAH reablement into HART and this work is currently in progress.
Better Care Fund Contribution
-1,059
-6%
Additional BCF funding was agreed during the year for social care protection and other schemes.
Community Life Choices (CLC) commissioned services
-711
-13%
Underspend following lockdown and the closure of CLC bases within the independent sector and service
users either receiving no service or a vastly reduced service. Discussions are ongoing on a potential new
CLC framework.
Community Life Choices (CLC) / Day Services Team
-596
-23%
Underspend from closure of Community Life Choices (CLC) bases following lockdown and the vacancies
that are being held.

47
Supported Living, Residential and Short Breaks
-490
-10%
Underspend from closure of Residential and Short Break bases following lockdown and the vacancies
that are being held pending an action plan
Business Support
-259
-14%
Underspend from temporary staffing vacancies, reduced travel, lower printing and other office expenses.
Care Pathway East- Review Team
-207
-15%
Underspend from temporary staffing vacancies.
Community Care Finance
-157
-14%
Underspend from temporary staffing vacancies
Occupational Therapy
-118
-13%
Underspend from temporary staffing vacancies
Communities and Wellbeing
-105
-2%
Underspend mainly relates to increase grant income (£0.5m) offset by reduction of income due to
Libraries, Museums and Heritage sites being closed as a result of Covid-19 and transfers to reserves for
Adult learning and improvement to facilities.
Other variances (under £100k)
TOTAL

-217
5,940

n/a
n/a

Public Health
The Department has a balanced position. The main variances are:
% of
Budget
Public Health Earmarked Fund
1,332
n/a
Net underspend on Public Health budgets offset by a contribution to the Public Health earmarked fund.
Uncertainties on future grants and Covid.
£000

-1%
Public Health Leadership
245
Mainly due to UHL income (£100k) not received and budgeted transfer from earmarked funds of £159k
not drawn down.
15%
Public Advice
159
The overspend is due to the Homelessness Grant, received last year, being transferred to Leicester City
Council.
-21%
Sexual Health
-858
This is a demand led service that has seen a significant lack of activity due to the Covid-19 pandemic,
which has been further restricted due to the continued local and national lockdown.
-71%
NHS Health Check Programme
-358
Non-essential face to face appointments significantly reduced due to Covid-19 and have remained low
due to the prioritisation of Covid-19 vaccine delivery.
-38%
Programme Delivery
-263
The variance is mainly due to a number of programmes that have been delayed/postponed due to Covid19 (-£186k), reduced value of a contract (-£39k) and additional income (-£25k) from the PCC.
-26%
Weight Management Service
-95
The variance is due to underspends on staffing (£30k) and running costs (£15k) and the reduced costs of
Weight Watchers licences (£50k).
n/a
Other variances
-162
TOTAL
0
n/a

48
Environment and Transport
The Department has a net underspend of £6.6m (7.9%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
17%
Landfill
1,402
Overspend due to increased waste tonnages to landfill during Covid-19 pandemic as people stayed at
home. Tonnage has also been sent to more expensive facilities as a result of the Whetstone push wall
repairs. The overspend on landfill is partially offset by tonnage reductions on Treatment Contracts (see
below).
16%
Dry Recycling
322
Overspend due to increased tonnages of kerbside dry recycling materials (card, glass, paper, cans and
plastic bottles) as a result of more consumption at home during the Covid-19 lockdown pandemic.
£000

17%
Winter Maintenance
281
Overspend due to the winter maintenance budget being allocated for a mild winter and weather conditions
in January and February being colder than expected, leading to the gritters having be used more
frequently that budgeted for. In addition the service had to do more salting of paths which is more
resource intensive due to Covid-19.
6%
Recycling & Household Waste
190
Overall outturn position includes £220k overspend due to reduced income at RHW Sites during Covid-19
pandemic and £173k additional costs of reopening RHWS after initial lockdown (costs include welfare
units, highways signage, perspex booths and additional cleaning). In addition, there has been an
underspend on RHWS haulage due to lower fuel costs, lower bulk haulage costs and avoidance of use of
hire vehicles in 2020/21.
The above overspends have been reduced by additional income from furlough (£83k) and income from
the government's Sales, Fees and Charges scheme to partially reimburse lost income (£130k).
13%
Road Safety
137
Overspend due to less funding returned from Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland Road Safety Partnership
(LLRRSP) than budgeted for and a reserve balance not drawn down.
-18%
Special Education Needs Transport
-2,633
Underspend of £2.6m due to the impact of Covid-19. This has arisen for several reasons:
- Increased take up of Personal Transport Budgets which has reduced individual students' transport
costs significantly
- The delay in commissioning some pupils' transport at the start of the autumn term and paying interim
mileage payments instead of actual transport contract costs
- The reduction in attendance days at schools and colleges with some pupils remote studying on some
days of the week
- The choice of some parents to continue to shield even when transport arrangements were put in place
- Reduced demand for transport during the first Covid-19 lockdown from April - June 2020 resulting in
temporary Covid-19 contract suspensions
- The increased number of isolations and school lockdowns during the autumn term due to the high
infection rates, particularly in schools
- From January the Covid-19 lockdown significantly reduced demand and a large percentage of contracts
were reduced to 25% of committed contract costs for January, February and early March.
- Snow days – no services ran on at least one of these days
-58%
Highways Design & Delivery - Staffing, Admin & Depot Overhead Costs
-1,569
Underspend due to additional recharges to capital due to additional monies received, vacant posts and
additional income from the network management team. Due to Covid-19 recruitment has been slowed
and full recruitment for services maybe impacted for the whole year there is also additional spend relating
to agency staff. This underspend has been offset by not drawing £600k from earmarked funds.

49
Social Care Transport
-727
-18%
Underspend arising from cancellation of services due to Covid-19. Also taxi payments were reduced to
25% from April to July 2020 when services were not operating.
Whilst Children’s Social Care referrals rose in September many Adult Social Care service users remained
shielded and contract expenditure remained lower that expected. All adult social care contracts under
Covid-19 suspension were terminated at the end of June 2020 and several users did not return until later
in the year or were still shielding at the end of the financial year.
-59%
H & T Network Staffing & Admin
-675
Underspend due to additional fee income S278,S38,S184 and an underspend on staffing from removing
agency staff and creating permanent posts.
Fleet Transport
-627
-339%
Underspend mainly due to the reduction in social care and library fleet operations due to Covid-19. The
major spend of the passenger fleet operation is on staff (drivers and escorts) which, while the majority are
LCC employees, at times are supplemented by agency staff. The use of agency staff has remained very
low as use has been made of drivers and escorts from the social care area of Fleet. Agency staff costs
are significantly lower than in 2019/20 (£400k reduction).
While the SEN operation from the start of the 2020/21 academic year and into the January - March
lockdown period ran near to capacity, there was an overall reduction in passenger fleet operation from
lack of social care and middle of the day workings which has led to a reduction in fuel usage,
maintenance and insurance costs. However, this has been offset by lack of external income generation
which was very limited.
Furlough income of £172k has also been received.
Mainstream School Transport
-599
-17%
Underspend includes £465k due to lower payments when services have not been required. Lockdowns in
the summer 2020 and spring 2021 terms reduced taxi expenditure to 25% of committed expenditure for a
large proportion of contracts. Further service reductions arose in the autumn 2020 term due to an
increased number of Covid-19 lockdowns and self-isolation of children / drivers. Payments were reduced
where operators had to suspend contracts due to driver isolation and where contracts were suspended
due to pupil isolation or school closure.
The underspend also includes additional grant income of £134k that has been received in 2020/21 for
Extended Rights to Home to School Travel.
Additional costs of £484k to provide additional services to enable social distancing have been incurred.
These costs have been fully funded by the DfE Covid-19 Home to School and College Transport grant in
2020/21.
-6%
Treatment Contracts
-593
Underspend of £406k as a result of reduced tonnages of wood, Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) waste and
hazardous waste due to Recycling and Household Waste Site closures and restricted throughputs, due to
Covid-19. Street sweeping waste also lower than budget as some districts suspended their street
sweeping service in the early stages of lockdown.
Overall underspend also includes £176k under budget position due to less tonnage being sent to Energy
from Waste (EfW) treatment plants. Stoke EfW plant has been operating on reduced inputs throughout
the year due to maintenance issues.
Environment & Waste Management Commissioning: Staffing & Admin
-384
-23%
£144k underspend due to multiple staffing vacancies and lower spending on waste initiatives during the
pandemic.
£240k underspend on Ash Dieback due to social distancing measures on inspections meaning less work
can be completed as quickly. Also some communications work has not been completed as
communications regarding Covid-19 have taken priority.

50
Haulage and Waste Transfer
-267
-13%
Underspend due to a combination of factors. More direct deliveries were made, haulage efficiencies were
achieved through increasing payloads and using more efficient routes and an in-year fuel review
mechanism has also provided some savings.
HS2
-183
-44%
Underspend due to planned Government HS2 Phase 2b hybrid Bill process delayed beyond the originally
anticipated June 2020 start (to the 2021/2022 financial year at the earliest), so mandatory Parliamentary
Agents and consultant support will not be required until that time.
Environmental Maintenance
-179
-4%
Underspend due to forestry services being unable to find suitable tree surgeons to complete work, theft of
equipment creating down time to complete the works and a contractor not starting until April 2021. An
increase in gulley emptying work has been offset by a reduction in camera van investigations and
drainage repairs.
Composting Contracts
-157
-10%
Volumes of waste were lower than anticipated as a result of reduced tonnages during Covid-19. Recycling
and Household Waste Sites were closed in early lockdown and all districts suspended collections for a
period to focus on other kerbside collection services.
Street Lighting Maintenance
-145
-6%
Underspend due to lower maintenance being required on LED replaced street lighting and some structural
testing delayed due to street lighting columns being inaccessible.
Environment & Waste Management Commissioning: Initiatives
-136
-35%
Underspend has arisen as a result of lower spending due to the Covid-19 pandemic. This has affected a
range of areas including fewer events, less work in schools and reduced grant applications. Work within
the community on food waste prevention has also been impacted.
Reactive maintenance
-110
Underspend due to less roadmaking repairs being done due to inclement weather conditions.
Other variances
78
TOTAL
-6,574

-4%
n/a
n/a

Chief Executive's
The Department has an overspend of £1.7m (14.1%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
Policy & Communities
1,556
91%
The variance is due to the payment of £1.6m for Covid-19 related Community grants and an overspend
(£62k) due to recharges to other Departments for The Big Word contract not taking place, offset by minor
running cost underspend in Communities.
£000

Legal Services
565
23%
Additional temporary posts agreed for Covid-19 and A&C additional work (£100k) plus the use of extra
Locum resources to cover vacant posts. A number of recharges to other departments have not been
processed (£207k ) plus a transfer from reserves of £150k not taking place.
Coroner's Service
135
12%
Overspend against budget as a result of increase in City Coroners costs in addition to an increase in
cases requiring PM's/Toxicology/Pathology costs (approx 250 cases increase)
Democratic Services and Administration
-225
Variance mainly due to staffing vacancies( £145k) and underspend on running costs (£59k).

16%

Civic Affairs
-95
-57%
The underspend is due to reduced costs as a result of events/hospitality being cancelled/postponed due
to the Covid-19 restrictions.

51
Planning Services
-75
The underspend is due to vacant positions not being filled until later in the financial year.

-16%

Growth Unit
-70
-12%
The underspend is due to staffing vacancies offset by transfer from reserve not taking place (+£55k).
Economic Growth
-50
-10%
Variance due to underspend on staffing (-£138k) and reduced consultant costs (-£14k) offset by a transfer
from reserve not taking place (+£111k).
Other variances
TOTAL

-12
1,729

n/a
n/a

£000

% of
Budget

Corporate Resources
The Department has a net overspend of £6.3m (18.7%). The main variances are:

Transformation Unit
3,272
n/a
Variance due to the transformation team and some project spend being directed to Covid 19 projects
which can be funded from the general Covid 19 grant (£3m) and additional costs of non-PC equipment
required by staff to adapt to working safely at home (£0.2m.
Commercial Services
1,835
n/a
A £1.8m outturn overspend is being reported, this is a result of the pandemic and difficult trading
continuing from 2019/20. Difficult trading conditions continue and have been seriously compounded by
lockdown forcing either the scaling back or temporary closure of a number of commercial services.
Recovery plans have been developed, and continue to evolve, to address the position and develop an
optimum portfolio of commercially sustainable services on-going. The net overspend is inclusive of £2.4m
Furlough income and £1.1m Sales, Fees and Charges compensation grant.
Corporate Asset Investment Fund
1,413
-59%
Overspend related to delays related to Airfield Farm and LUSEP. Partially Covid-19 related. They are
both expected to achieve the expected returns by 21/22.
Information & Technology
1,120
11%
£1.5m spend incurred on laptops and software to support working from home during the lockdown period,
offset by savings on vacant posts held pending action plans and delays to recruitment as a result of Covid19.
County Hall
240
20%
Continuation of the 2019/20 overspend (£150k) due to additional cleaning charges, security costs, energy
costs and lower income than expected, and additional Covid-19 costs associated with signage and
building changes (£90k).
Health & Safety
55
13%
Overspend as a result of budgeted model including expenditure as an earmarked reserve for Health and
Wellbeing and EAP, this transfer of funds has not been brought in to the cost centre.
Strategic Property
-430
-14%
£0.3m staffing underspend arising from a delay due to Covid-19 in recruitment to vacant posts following a
staffing review. Further savings from contract renewal of £38k and review of outstanding rent owed for
Locality bases.
Supported Employment
-183
-30%
Underspend largely as a result of furlough income as vulnerable staff are shielding from the pandemic.
Learning and Development
-179
-13%
£0.2m underspend as a result of reduction in face to face courses as expected due to Covid-19 lockdown
alongside a small amount of income realised from Student support (£12k).
Commissioning Support Unit
-159
-14%
Underspend due to staff vacancies.

52
Customer Service Centre
-138
-6%
Underspend largely driven by two factors: a recruitment freeze in the first half of the year reduced
budgeted spend, and CSC received additional funding of £120k from various schemes such as the
Contain Fund, CEV shielding work fund and CCG income.
Facilities Management Premises Support
-128
-14%
Underspend as a result of staff vacancies.
Property Services Business Support
-109
-24%
Underspend as a result of staff vacancies.
Major Conditions Improvement Works
-108
-5%
£160k underspend as a result of school maintenance fund work slipping as schools were closed and/or
inaccessible to work teams, offset by £60k of additional Covid-19 costs.
Postal Service
-91
-70%
Underspend as a result of discontinuing the renewal reserve and staff vacancies.
Business Support
-83
-8%
Underspend as a result staffing savings and a reduction in occupational health referrals and reduction of
costs such as mileage, additional reduction in expense as a result the postponement of the Storafile
project.
Strategic Finance
-81
-3%
£160k underspend from vacancies and bank charges below budget. A transfer of £80k of the underspend
was made to earmarked reserves to fund potential overspend in 21/22.
Internal Audit
-78
-18%
Underspend due to staff turnover savings and secondment to support other critical services/Covid-19
recovery.
Human Resources
-74
-6%
Underspend due to reduction in running costs and delays in staff backfilling as part of Fit for the Future.
Other variances
TOTAL

218
6,312

n/a
n/a

53
APPENDIX C

EARMARKED FUND BALANCES
Revised
Balance

Forecast
Balance

Actual
Balance

01/04/20

31/03/21

31/03/21

£000

£000

£000

Renewal of Systems, Equipment and Vehicles

3,490

2,490

4,230

Trading Accounts
Corporate Asset Investment Fund

1,090

840

1,203

Insurance
General
Schools schemes and risk management
Uninsured loss fund

6,400
370
5,260

6,270
350
5,260

8,201
374
5,247

300

300

295

1,780
1,170
560
1,130

480
1,020
450
740

1,836
1,164
579
881

5,000
50
460

3,500
50
370

5,616
286
1,807

2,890
2,080
930
550
490
590

2,590
2,000
60
350
490
480

3,153
2,083
579
470
487
526

510
450
180

400
360
30

370
801
183

Committed Balances
Community Grants
Other
Children & Family Services
Supporting Leicestershire Families
C&FS Developments
Youth Offending
Other
Adults & Communities
A&C Developments
Adult Learning Service
Public Health
Environment & Transport
Commuted Sums
LLITM
Major Projects - advanced design
Waste Developments
Section 38 Income
Other
Chief Executive
Economic Development-General
Chief Executive Dept Developments
Other
Corporate Resources
Leicestershire Schools Music Service
Other
Corporate:
Transformation Fund
Broadband
Business Rates Retention
Inquiry and other costs
Elections
Other
Government Cash Flow Funding
Budget Equalisation
Covid-19 : council tax etc
Covid-19 Budget (other)
Covid-19: Tax Income Guarantee compensation
Sub total

160
400

160
400

186
580

7,480
3,390
1,570
1,040
580
680
19,690
7,100
0
0
0
77,820

4,000
4,990
570
230
780
390
0
18,100
5,000
0
0
63,500

9,205
2,356
568
602
777
451
0
24,034
5,000
4,452
2,280
90,862

Capital Financing (phasing of capital expenditure)

78,990

51,610

89,158

Pooled Property Fund investment *

-23,960

-23,960

-23,627

TOTAL

132,850

91,150

156,393

-4,050
1,460
820
410
270
80
40
-970

-10,690
1,520
820
410
270
70
40
-7,560

-11,098
1,369
8,914
610
59
99
33
-14

Schools and Partnerships
Dedicated Schools Grant
Leicestershire & Rutland Sport
Health & Social Care Outcomes
Emergency Management
East Midlands Shared Services - other
Leicestershire Safeguarding Children Board
Leics Social Care Development Group
Total

* Pooled Property Fund investments - funded from the overall balance of earmarked funds

This page is intentionally left blank

55
APPENDIX D
Capital Budget 2020/21 – main variances
Children and Family Services
Net variance of £12.1m. The main variances are:
£000
Provision of Additional School Places
-8,006
1) Shepshed School Places has slipped by £2.5m. This complex scheme involves several parties and subprojects including the refurbishment of the former Hind Leys and Shepshed High School buildings to create a
single high school building and a separate primary provision.
2) Ashby Secondary Places scheme has slipped by £1.9m, Secondary schools in the Ashby area are
currently implementing age range change - the last area of Leicestershire to do so. This transition time has
added a further level of complexity over where and when additional secondary places will be required.
3) Coalville Secondary Places has slipped by £1.1m It was initially agreed that this would be used towards a
new building at Newbridge High School part of the Apollo Multi-Academy Trust. However Apollo decided to
enter into a lease with the developer, instead of purchasing the building outright. S106 contributions cannot
be used to fund lease payments. 4) Rothley Primary School - Slippage of £1.0m as Charnwood Borough
Council (CBC) has refused the planning application, citing issues with the settlement boundary, the lack of
demonstration of a housing need, and being contrary to the Charnwood Local Plan amongst the various
reasons for refusal. This will further impact the delivery timeline of this scheme. 5) Fleckney Primary School Slippage of £1.0m as a Multi Academy Trust that already has a number of primary schools in the area has
applied to the DfE to open a primary Free School in the area. If the DfE approve this it could affect what is
needed at Fleckney. Therefore further works have been paused awaiting the DfE's decision.
6) Oadby Secondary Places has slipped by £0.5m. This is a passported scheme, with payments to the school
being made in line with scheme progress. The expected profile of payments is £250k in each of June 21 and
August 21. .

SEND Programme
-1,884
1) Short Stay South slipped by £0.7m due to identification of a site is under consideration.
2) Thomas Estley Communication and Interaction Unit slipped by £0.4m due to the scheme needed a revised
legal agreement which was signed on 7th April 2021.
3) Hinckley Area SEMH Unit has slipped by £0.3m, a number of potential sites are being explored.
Discussions are now underway with the Academy.
4) Hinckley Parks SEMH Unit slipped by £0.2m. After a number of Covid related delays, the scheme is now
out to tender.
Strategic Capital Maintenance
-1,081
This funding will be used towards much-needed capital maintenance works to existing buildings on the
Iveshead site at Shepshed. However the timeline of works is very much dependent on the timeline of the
'Shepshed Masterplan' which itself has slipped significantly.
Assessment & Residential Multi-Functional Properties

-910

The initial absence and subsequent delay in implementing a minor works contract caused significant delays
on this project. Works were expected to start early in the new financial year, although the buildings were being
temporarily used for the LA's COVID19 response, so this delayed the start of the scheme.
Early Help - Building reconfiguration and refurbishment
The initial absence and subsequent delay in implementing a minor works contract caused delays on this
project.
Other variances
TOTAL

-69

-191
-12,141

Adults & Communities
The Department has a net slippage of £1.3m. The main variances are:
£000
Brookfields Supported Living Scheme (refurbishment)

176

56
Additional costs incurred relating to 1) internal works to meet the physical needs of a specific service user and
2) external works undertaken to facilitate the independent living environment in a safe and secure way. This
will be funded from the balance of the SCIP allocation programme in 2021/22 (£1.6m).
SCIP - Loughborough, Brooklands Forest Road
61
Additional costs incurred due to lowest tender over budget and unanticipated costs incurred during
refurbishment. This will be funded from the balance of the SCIP allocation programme in 2021/22 (£1.6m).
Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent - NWL Development
-1,052
Slippage of scheme as Department assesses future cohort requirement. The most competitive tender was
£400k over budget. All work on the development of the site has stopped until the review has concluded.
SCIP - Loughborough, New Ashby Court SL scheme

-203

Slippage of final element of works to 2021/22 - scheme expected to be completed in late July 2021.
SCIP - Specialist Dementia Facility, Coalville
-100
The tender for the appointment of a partner was significantly delayed due to the ongoing impact of Covid-19.
SCIP - Anstey, Hollow Road Flats
The scheme is due to be completed in early 2021/22.
Other variances
TOTAL

-90

-105
-1,313

Environment and Transport
The Department has a net slippage of £16.9m. The main variances are:
£000
Capital Maintenance - Preventative
Acceleration due to a lot more deterioration found than expected when completing the surface dressing
patching works.

297

Highways Capital Maintenance - Bridges Schemes

238

Acceleration due to jobs that required more specialised works than anticipated and delays in start date
triggered a compensation event.
M1 Junction 23 & A512
-3,643
Slippage due to delays in the legal agreement being signed with the developers. There was also a delay in
mobilisation due to issues with access to the site.
Highways Capital Maintenance Schemes

-2,716

Slippage due to challenge fund being provided mid-year and whilst all efforts were made to complete these
schemes before the year end they will not be done until early 2021/22. In addition due to traffic concerns at
the East Midlands Airport from the effects of Brexit, a programme near this area had to be postponed and
some slippage relating to less work design work being completed for major schemes this year but schemes
are still progressing and this will be needed in the future.
A511 Major Road Network (MRN)

-1,999

Slippage due to delays with surveys which delayed the planning process this then impacted on engaging with
contractors and the procurement of works taking longer than anticipated
County Council Vehicle Programme

-1,495

Slippage due to a process being reviewed with consultants under Fleet Management Review project,
therefore the only spend was on replacing essential vehicles.
National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) - Hinckley Hub

-1,313

Slippage due to delays, due to Covid 19 restriction, with completing trial holes which are needed to be
undertaken before construction work and finalising land purchase. In addition there was a delay in obtaining
the licence to access third party land to complete the trial holes and also due to disputes on potential
contaminated materials and liability which delayed the land purchase.

57
Safety Schemes

-1,218

Slippage due to Covid 19 restrictions stopping work. In addition Parish Council bidded to do general safety
works and are yet to claim this and some money is to be used for community speed initiatives. After
identifying appropriate schemes there was not enough time to complete these in 20/21 and has slipped to
21/22.
Advanced Design

-726

Slippage due to reprioritisation of works and when monies will be spent this has meant some money is now
not be required this year but will be needed in future years.
Waste Transfer Station Development
-625
Slippage due to construction not starting until 2021/22 so that detailed pre construction works can be
completed in 2020/21, therefore the spend profile has been revised in line with the commencement of the
construction works.
Kibworth Site Redevelopment
-536
Slippage due to construction not due to start until 2021/22 so that detailed pre construction works can be
completed in 2020/21, therefore the spend profile has been revised in line with the commencement of the
construction works.
M1 Junction 20A - Advanced Design

-438

Slippage relates to the works with District Council taking longer than anticipated .
A46 Anstey Lane
-411
Works completed in July 2020. Slippage due to remedial works that will need completing over the next 12
months.
Zouch Bridge Replacement
-373
Slippage due to revaluation of the best outcomes for the programme and best value for money options which
will lead to a tender process.
Lutterworth East Development - Infrastructure
Slippage due to project being on hold whilst investigating further funding options for the scheme.

-358

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - North and East Section
-281
Slippage due to design works did not progress as quickly as anticipated and survey works were delayed due
to weather conditions.
Recycling House Waste Sites - Drainage
Slippage due to additional surveys were required on site which has delayed the commencement of the
project.

-280

Transport Asset Management - Restorative Maintenance
-278
Slippage due to additional DFT funding which funded larger scale maintenance works instead of smaller
repair works meaning that some on the roadmender repair works have been delayed until next financial year.
Transport Asset Management - Network Performance & Reliability
-236
Slippage due to a new cycling and walking strategy being prepared in which there will be a requirement for
traffic Counters and therefore the money will be spent in accordance with the strategy that is being prepared
and
CovidAshby
19 hasRd
delayed
works
some work.
Coalville
Highway
Improvements
-187
Slippage due to restrictions from Covid 19 that delayed the start date of this project.
Transport Asset Management - Flood Alleviation

-169

Slippage due to revaluation of a large programme which may need additional works such as a pumping
station but options are still being explored and some smaller schemes were delayed due to Covid restrictions
and resourcing levels.
Other variances
-160
TOTAL
-16,907

Chief Executives
The Department has a net slippage of £0.3m. The main variances are:

Rural Broadband Scheme - Phase 3

£000
-387

58
There was a 3 to 4 month delay in the programme, mainly due to the impact of Covid-19. The scheme is
progressing with the delivery of the contract milestones, some of which will be delivered in 2021/22 instead of
this financial year.
Other variances
TOTAL

48
-339

Corporate Resources
The Department has a net slippage of £2.9m. The main variances are:
£000
Workplace Strategy - End User Device (PC, laptop)
1,513
Overspend relates to additional costs incurred in year to provide laptops and Smartphones to enable staff to
work from home safely during Covid restrictions.
Melton, Sysonby Farm Development

366

Decision taken requiring the developer to be responsible for completing enabling works at their cost therefore
not going ahead with the Homes England Grant due to the conditions of the agreement.
Snibston & Country Park Future Strategy - Land Remediation works

-1,630

Remediation works will now be carried out by the end user and not form part of the scheme resulting in an
underspend.
Workplace Strategy (WPS)

-689

Slippage arising due to delays in the works starting at Pennine House and Parkside as a result of COVID-19.
Watermead Park Footbridge and Cycleway

-496

Delays to securing necessary planning and other agreements has extended project timelines with a deferral of
work start date to 2021/22.
Ways of Working - Office Infrastructure

-349

As part of the capital refresh funding provision was made to divert funding to cover the revenue cost of the
working from home allowance. This included acceleration from later years provision. The underspend
represents the return of accelerated funding from 2021/22 and 2022/23.
Score + (Schools Energy Efficiency Scheme)

-315

Covid restrictions on access to schools visits, alongside indirect impact to staff resourcing as a result of Covid
has delayed project progress, as activities scheduled for 2020/21 did not proceed as planned.
County Hall Solar Panels (additional)

-309

Government funding as part of the Decarbonisation Scheme has substituted this funding requirement,
resulting in an underspend.
ICT - Marval Replacement Programme
Reassessment of future operational model has lead to a pause in the replacement of Marval.

-240

Energy Efficiency Measures
-150
Project investigations were delayed due to Covid-19 which impacted progress on the planned activities for
2021. Works are expected to resume in 2021/22.
ICT - Corporate Programme
-138
Focus during 2020/21 was diverted to the response to evolving cyber security threat. This resulted in some
elements of the strategic activities outlined within the ICT programme for 2020/21 to be reprioritised.
County Hall Lift Replacement Scheme

-110

Focus on climate impact and overall re-assessment of strategic priorities led to a delay in the implementation.
Project to be realigned along with other County Hall projects relating to recovery and workplace strategies.
Snibston Electric Vehicle Car Charge Points
-93
Slippage arose as a result of awaiting planning permission for the Solar car port element of this project.
Other variances
TOTAL

-245
-2,885

59
Corporate Programme
The programme has a net slippage of £6.9m. The main variances are:
£000
709

CAIF - Asset Acquisitions/New Investments
Acceleration of funds - £0.6m to East of Lutterworth SDA and £0.1m for Airfield Business Park Phase 3-4 which have
been through the approval process and agreed.

Future Developments
Slippage as schemes were not suitably advanced to require funding.
CAIF - Airfield Business Park Phase 1/2

-6,545

-592

Framework tender completed which resulted in only two contractors tendering significantly in excess of the
budget and a further procurement exercise will need to take place.
CAIF - Lutterworth East - Planning and Pre-Highway construction Works

-251

Slippage is Highways part of scheme, contribution and works to be agreed in 21/22.
Industrial Properties General Improvements
Slippage due to Covid which hampered decisions relating to works and letting of properties.

-207

CAIF - Leaders Farm, Phase 2 - Ind Units and x2 Drive Thru Restaurants
Slippage due to delays in obtaining planning permission.

-184

Other variances
TOTAL

97
-6,973

This page is intentionally left blank

61

APPENDIX E

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2020/21
Forecast
as at
15/12/2020

Provisional
Actual as
at
31/03/2021

3.80%

3.80%

3.47%

161,000

153,000

105,572

265,000

265,000

265,000

275,000

275,000

275,000

50-100%

100%

100%

Original
Indicator
Actual Capital Financing Costs as a %
of Net Revenue Stream
Capital Expenditure (£000’s) (excluding
Schools devolved formula capital)
Operational Limit for External Debt
(£000’s)
Authorised Limit for External Debt
(£000’)
Interest Rate Exposure – Fixed
Interest Rate Exposure – Variable
Capital Financing Requirement
(£000’s)

0-50%

0%

0%

247,000

232,000

232,263

Actual debt as at 31/3/2021 (£000’s)

263,100

263,100

263,100

This page is intentionally left blank

63

Agenda Item 5

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES - PROGRESS
WITH THE DELIVERY OF THE HIGH NEEDS BLOCK
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY
SERVICES
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet on the progress with
delivery the of the High Needs Block Development Plan, the worsening
position with regard to the 2021/22 SEND (Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities) capital programme, and planned consultation with schools to seek
to effect a transfer of funding from the Schools Block Dedicated Schools
Grant to the High Needs Block.

2.

The Cabinet is also asked to consider whether the desired transfer of funding
to the High Needs Block should be pursued via the Secretary of State if the
Schools Forum does not agree to the request.

Recommendations
3.

It is recommended that
a)

b)

The Cabinet notes the financial position, in particular
i.

the forecast overspend for High Needs Block of over £9.35m at
the end of the current financial year and a potential deficit of £43m
by 2024/25;

ii.

the effect of the High Needs Block overspend on the revised
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) capital
programme 2021/22, as detailed in paragraphs 37 to 41 of this
report;

The Cabinet notes that Leicestershire Schools and the Schools Forum
will be consulted in Autumn 2021 on a proposed transfer of 0.5% of
Schools Block funding to the High Needs Block for 2022/23 to help
manage the revenue position;

64

c)

The Cabinet considers if an application should be made to the Secretary
of State to make the transfer at c) above should the Schools Forum
refuse the request.

Reasons for Recommendation
4.

The High Needs Block (HNB), part of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG),
funds SEND provision and is currently overspent. The High Needs deficit is
forecast to continue to increase up to 2024/25. The transfer of up to 0.5%
from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block is included within the
Department’s financial plan for SEND services, and the position will worsen
by £2m should the transfer not proceed.

5.

It is a requirement to consult Leicestershire schools and the Schools Forum
for proposed transfers of up to 0.5%. Should the Forum not approve the
transfer, the Council may seek approval from the Secretary of State; such a
request would need to be submitted to the Department for Education (DfE) by
mid-November 2021 for a transfer within 2022/23.

6.

Initial engagement with the Leicestershire Schools Forum has already taken
place on the subject of the proposed transfer. It is intended to undertake
formal consultation and thereafter submit a report to the Schools Forum as
soon as all relevant information is available and necessary approvals from the
Secretary of State have been sought.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
7.

The Schools Forum will receive a report in June setting out the Council’s
intention to consult on a transfer of funding from the Schools Block to the High
Needs Block and again in September outlining the detailed proposals and the
consultation with schools. In October it is intended that the Schools Forum
will be asked to consider the outcome of the consultation and the transfer
request.

8.

It will be necessary to seek permissions from the Secretary of State during the
formulation of proposals for consultation which may include variations to the
nationally set Minimum per Pupil Funding Level and the Minimum Funding
Guarantee. It will be necessary to submit a request to the Secretary of State
for approval to undertake the transfer should Schools Forum not give approval
in November.

9.

The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee will receive a
report on 1 September 2021 regarding the High Needs Block Development
Plan and the proposed transfer of funding to the HNB.

10.

The annual refresh of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy in
autumn 2021 will consider the impact of any transfer for schools and the
Authority.

65

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
11.

In October 2019 the Cabinet considered a report concerning SEND funding
and, noting the then forecast £6.1m overspend, agreed inter alia that the
Director of Children and Family Services be authorised to apply to the
Secretary of State for a transfer of funding to the HNB should it be refused by
the Schools Forum. In a subsequent report in November 2019 it was noted
that the Forum had refused the request. The Cabinet agreed that the transfer
would not be pursued further on that occasion but noted that should the HNB
deficit continue to rise it might be necessary to reconsider this in the future.

12.

The Children and Families Act 2014 introduced a number of new duties for
local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). The County
Council’s SEND Strategy 2020 to 2023, agreed by the Cabinet on 18
September 2020, outlines these responsibilities and sets out how the Council
and its CCG partners will work together to meet these.

13.

The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) agreed on 17
February 2021, includes significant savings to be made from 2021/22 to
2025/26. To contain the overspend strong financial control plans and
discipline will be essential. The HNB Development Plan savings are in
addition to those contained within the MTFS and will support the delivery of
savings by investing in local provision to accommodate current and future
demand.

14.

The School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2021 contain
provisions setting out the use of the Dedicated Schools Grant, associated
operational guidance issued by the Department for Education sets out the
process to be followed to effect a transfer of funding from the Schools Block to
the High Needs Block and the permissions required.

Resource Implications
15.

The HNB of the Dedicated Schools Grant is the sole source of funding to
Local Authorities for meeting the needs of children and young people with
Special Educational Needs (SEN). Nationally the level of funding is insufficient
to meet growing needs, and the associated deficits held by almost all local
authorities are a significant concern.

16.

The projected deficit at the end of the current MTFS has increased by £13.8m
from £29.2m to £43m despite the delivery of £24m in revenue savings. The
projected deficit is the most significant short-term financial risk faced by the
County Council. Under time-limited legislation local authorities are required to
carry deficits on their balance sheets as unusable reserves. However, given
the deficit will ultimately need to be recognised and financed there is a real
and immediate impact of the financial resilience of the Authority and the
funding available for all other County Council services.

66

17.

The projected deficit will increase by £2m should a transfer of funding from
the Schools Block to the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant
not be approved.

18.

In the absence of any changes nationally the Council has embarked on an
ambitious transformation plan for SEN services under the High Needs Block
Development Plan. This includes an expansion in public sector provision of
school places to reduce the dependence on high cost private sector
independent schools.

19.

The Council has allocated circa £27.5m of capital resources into expanding
SEND provision to help contain the deficit of which just £7.3m has been
received in Government Grant for additional SEND places. Continually
increasing capital funding is not sustainable and will be reviewed as part of
the MTFS refresh.

20.

The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and
Governance have been consulted on the content of this report.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
21.

This report will be circulated to all members of the Council.

Officers to Contact
Jane Moore – Director of Children and Family Services
Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk
0116 3052649
Paula Sumner – Assistant Director Education and SEND, Children and Family
Services Dept.
Paula.Sumner@Leics.gov.uk
0116 305 0546
Jenny Lawrence – Finance Business Partner, Corporate Resources Dept.
Jenny.Lawrence@Leics.gov.uk
0116 3056401

67

PART B
Background
High Needs Block Development Plan
22.

Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 sets out the duties placed on
Local Authorities and other partners for Children and Young People in
England with SEND. Local authorities have legal duties to identify and assess
the special educational needs of children and young people for whom they are
responsible. Local Authorities become responsible for a child or young person
in their area when they become aware that the child or young person has or
may have SEN.

23.

High Needs funding provides the funding for support packages for an
individual with special educational needs in a range of settings. It is also
intended to support good quality alternative provision for pupils who cannot
receive their education in schools. The High Needs funding system supports
provision for pupils and students with SEN and disabilities from their birth to
25 years.

24.

The High Needs Block Development Plan was approved by the Cabinet in
December 2018. This sets out the actions to be undertaken to realign
expenditure for pupils with Special Educational Needs with the High Needs
Block (HNB) Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) received from the Department
for Education (DfE). The Plan includes proposals for expansion of local
provision, developing more inclusive practices in the County Council’s
education services and schools to reduce the reliance upon specialist
provision particularly in high cost independent provision and streamlining
working practice and processes.

Progress on Delivery
25.

A comprehensive programme of work supporting the objectives of the Plan
has delivered against a number of individual workstreams:


Inclusion - ensuring that the Council has an inclusive offer and helps the
wider sector to support children and young people to ensure that
children’s needs are identified and supported as early as possible in the
most appropriate settings to reduce the risk of needs unnecessarily
escalating.



Strategy and Commissioning – development and launch of a multiagency SEND and Inclusion Strategy that is monitored by a multi-agency
SEND and Inclusion Board, including Health and schools. A key
achievement has been the development of a draft Joint Commissioning
Strategy across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (Leicester City,
Leicestershire County and Rutland Councils and the two CCGs)
specifically to support children with SEND.

68

26.



Right Place Right Time – ensuring that all resources are making the best
contributions to outcomes for children and young people as they progress
through their education including links to outcomes whilst giving providers
flexibility to determine how those resources are used to deliver outcomes
for children.



SENA (Special Educational Needs Assessment) Whole System
Review – ensuring processes, performance management and practice
within the service are robust and efficient.



Contracts and Commissioning - Focused placements in the
independent sector, ensuring the achievement of value for money from all
providers and delivery of the outcomes outlined in children and young
people’s Education and Health Care Plans.



Sufficiency – ensuring the right provision in Leicestershire to cater for
emerging demographic trends and housing development as well as
ensuring that the provision is able to meet the needs of children. This
element of the programme will deliver 534 additional specialist school
places based in mainstream schools co-produced with schools, 3 new
schools, and expansion of Leicestershire special schools including post16 provision.

The DfE issues annual benchmarking data which combines a number of data
sets to provide a rounded local picture through comparison of Education and
Health Care Plan (EHCP) numbers, expenditure and DSG allocation. The
latest available data identifies Leicestershire having:


A rate of 31.0 per 1,000 of the 0 -18 population having an EHCP against
rates of 30.5 for statistical local authority neighbours, 31.1 for England
and 25.9 for the East Midlands, a lower proportion of funding in the DSG
through SEN proxy indicators which reflect incidence of deprivation and
health but also pupil prior attainment. This suggests Leicestershire being
a low need authority with the expectation of lower numbers of EHCPs in
comparison to statistically similar authorities, which is not the case.



An increasing reliance upon higher cost independent schools, which can
be seen both through the proportion of placements in the independent
sector and expenditure on this provision being significantly higher than all
comparator groups, with lower direct SEND funding allocations to
mainstream schools and academies. This is significant to the financial
position given the average cost of an independent school placement is
68% above that for a Leicestershire area special school and 54% higher
than the newly opened special schools.

69

27.

The programme of work supporting the delivery of High Needs Development
Plan is built on initiatives that impact on the key variables which affect the
financial position, benchmarked where possible against statistical nearest
neighbours. A number of metrics have been adopted that allow performance
to be measured against the programme outcomes with a number reporting a
positive impact:


The number of referrals for EHCPs has reduced by 5.2% over the last
year and by 9% over the last three years. Whilst this reduction has not
resulted in a reduction in the overall number of EHCPs it may be a
significant factor in the reduction in the rate of growth and means that
the right children have an EHCP to support their needs.



The latest national data shows the rate of EHCP growth below both
statistical neighbours and the East Midland average, although in terms of
overall EHCP numbers Leicestershire retains a higher baseline.



The annual growth in EHCPs is forecast to be in line with general
population growth by 2025. This position will be kept under constant
review given the significant influence of national policy on SEND
numbers, particularly for any impact of the SEND Review due to be
published by the DfE.

28.

The rate of growth in EHCPs significantly exceeds population growth. For the
period 2013 to 2015 the percentage growth in the number of SEND places
was 110% against a population increase for the same period of 9%. The
greatly disproportionate increase in EHCPs has been influenced by national
policy changes, specifically school funding reform in 2014 which introduced a
direct link between the ability to evidence need and funding and SEND reform
in 2014.

29.

As the programme has evolved and several elements have been successfully
delivered and are being embedded, a refresh of the programme structure was
prudent, with revised governance arrangements to help ensure the delivery at
pace of further key measures. Officer groups will focus on the data and
evidence from within the system, maintaining emphasis on the key variables
of the programme and ensure changes are integrated into service planning
and delivery.

30.

The programme has been successful in delivering the workstreams set out
above and is beginning to deliver further changes across services supporting
children with SEND and within schools. It will continue to explore all aspects
of the Leicestershire SEND system to identify areas where it may be possible
to generate further savings.

Financial Challenges
31.

Whilst the HNB Development Plan of work has been successful in delivering
service transformation and increasing the number of specialist school places
in Leicestershire some of the financial targets set out within the original plan
have been exceptionally challenging. The Plan has been revised to ensure it

70

fully reflects the current SEND and financial environment, the significant
changes that have affected the financial position are
Demand – the demand for specialist places has increased in excess of that
estimated in 2018 by 10% to 2022/23 and is forecast to rise a further 3.5% to
2024/25. The 2018 financial plan was based on a forecast of 493 independent
placements by March 2022; as a result of the measures outlined above,
revised estimates are now down to 419, a reduction of 15%. Growth has
largely been contained through the additional places created where the
number of places in lower cost, provision has increased by 22%. During
2019/20 and 2020/21 the number of independent school placements had
been stable at 372 but it increased over the last quarter of 2020/21 to 395,
and numbers are expected to increase by a further 9% by 2024/25. Demand
for places is the significant driver of cost and the deficit. It is essential to the
delivery of the Plan that demand is reduced, particularly that for independent
school and special school placements given the length of time that pupils are
likely to remain in these.
Savings – the plan, as set out in 2018, included significant levels of savings to
be achieved through the movement of pupils from higher cost independent
school placements to the new provision. Unfortunately, this has not been
possible. Whilst additional places have been created, the sustained rate of
growth has meant that places have been occupied with new demand; overall
the use of the new provision has reduced costs by around £10m but it has not
delivered the planned savings as a result of the increased demand and
difficulties in achieving pupil movements. An EHCP names the school in which
provision will be delivered to the individual, it is only possible to change that
provision through the statutory annual review process or if a placement can no
longer meet need, such a movement could only be expected at key transition
points and with the agreement of all professionals and parents/carers as such
very few moves have been possible.
Cost Increase – overall the cost of independent school places has risen by 4%
from 2018/19 to 2024/25 and in Leicestershire special schools by 11%. This
is related to the increasingly complex pupil needs. Whilst the increase in
independent school places has been kept to a minimum through robust
commissioning arrangements, places are often difficult to source and there is
no incentive for providers to reduce costs. It is essential that costs are
challenged and that the planned new provision in Leicestershire can be shown
to meet pupils’ needs equally well or better than independent providers.
Independent placements currently account for just 8% of all placements but
27% of placement spend.
The National Financial Position
32.

There is growing evidence nationally of a worsening high needs position.
Recent surveys paint a concerning picture:
The Society of County Treasurers reports that for English councils
 There is a cumulative high need deficit of £1.15bn by 2022/23.

71




The number of EHCPs rose by 25% in the years 2018/19 to 2020/21.
SEN transport costs saw an increase of 25% between 2018/19 and
2020/21 with a further expected increase of 40% to 2022/23.

The f40 Group (of English local authorities with historically low education
funding) reports
 An increase in EHCPs of circa 5% per year and in excess of general
population growth.
 That only 4 local authorities are reporting an annual surplus in grant
and deficits of up to £70m.
 That all but 7 local authorities have cumulative deficits of up to £1,000
per pupil.
 High Needs budget deficits of up to 100% of the annual grant.
33.

It is exceptionally clear that the SEND system needs significant change in
order for it to become sustainable, and that this is something that additional
funding alone cannot change. In September 2019 the Government announced
a major review into support for children with SEN but the work was delayed
and the report is still awaited. A consultation on future funding methodology is
also expected.

34.

The DfE has recognised the grave financial position in five local authorities
through DSG (Safety Valve) Agreements supported by £100m of additional
funding to address the deficit positions. The agreements require the
authorities to implement an agreed action plan with funding released upon
achievement of agreed milestones. The agreements also suggest that these
local authorities will receive capital funding should their capital plans deliver
reductions in SEN expenditure. The DfE has not published any information on
the criteria it has used to select these authorities or indicated whether similar
funding will be made available in future years. However, from information
publicly available it would seem that all five authorities have overall DSG
deficits of more than 10% - in comparison to 3% for Leicestershire for
2020/21, rising to an estimate 7% in 2024/25.

The Leicestershire Financial Position
35.

Overall the financial position has worsened by from that set out in the MTFS,
increased demand and cost being the significant changes in that position. The
cumulative High Needs budget deficit in 2024/25 has increased by £13.8m.
Whilst it can be seen that the financial position in Leicestershire reflects the
national position it presents a significant financial risk. The current financial
projections are set out in the table below.

72

High Needs Dedicated Schools Grant
Placement Costs
Other HNB Cost
Commissioning Cost - New Places
Project Costs
Total Expenditure

91,393
8,708
671
1,059
101,831

97,709
8,708
372
0
106,789

101,662
8,708
455
0
110,825

106,216
8,708
247
0
115,171

Funding Gap Pre Savings

18,711

23,669

27,705

32,051

Dedicated Schools Grant Increase
Schools Block Transfer
Demand Savings
Benefit of Local Provision and Practice Improvements

0
0
-2,659
-6,697

-5,700
-2,000
-2,899
-10,623

-5,700
0
-3,181
-13,073

-5,700
0
-3,420
-14,942

Total Savings

-9,356

-21,222

-21,954

-24,062

9,355

2,448

5,751

7,989

Annual Revenue Funding Gap

36.

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£,000
£,000
£,000
£,000
-83,120 -83,120 -83,120 -83,120

2019/20 Deficit Brought Forward
2020/21 High Needs Deficit Brought Forward

7,062
10,387

Cummulative Funding Gap

26,804

29,252

35,003

42,992

MTFS Position

22,723

22,591

24,680

29,197

Overall Change

4,081

6,661

10,323

13,795

Local authorities are required to carry forward the aggregated DSG deficit
from all funding blocks. The DfE has removed a requirement for local
authorities to submit DSG recovery plans for deficits in excess of 1%. A
surplus is held in the schools block where funding for school growth is out of
line with the growth trajectory for mainstream schools and required to meet
costs in future years. Hence it cannot be used to partially mitigate the High
Needs deficit.

Capital Programme
37.

The programme to date has been highly successful in delivering additional
places, analysis of future demand undertaken in summer 2020 and more
recent evidence emerging from the demand and needs being identified within
the Special Educational Needs and Assessment service (SENA) and a refresh
of forecasting work now underway indicates more needs to be done.

38.

Growth in the need for places shows a slowing down of demand in the next
few years as a consequence of the HNB Development Plan work but
thereafter a steady increase in numbers overall as a result of increased births

73

and new housing. The rate of growth can be influenced by national policy and
the position will be closely monitored for any change in trajectory.
39.

The earlier projects within the HNB Development Plan have predominately
focussed on the emerging concerns about support for pupils with Social,
Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) and Communication and Interaction
(C&I) needs. The significant housing growth planned in future years indicates
a continuing need to provide additional places to meet the SEMH and C&I
demand, however other potential shortfalls have been identified including for
pupils who would otherwise attend Area Special Schools and having Severe
Learning Difficulties or Profound Multiple Learning Difficulties (SLD or PMLD)
and accompanying cognitive learning difficulties, Post-16, and specialist
nursery provision.

40.

Recent analysis of demand for C&I places as evidenced from recent data
returns shows the following:





41.

The expected growth in the overall number of pupils with C&I and
associated speech, language and cognitive needs based on birth and
housing projections between the 2020 base of 1,650 pupils and the
forecast position in 2030 of 2098 pupils represents an increase of 448
places.
The expected number of pupils currently placed in local authority specialist
and Individual Support Plan provisions by 2024 based on the expected
growth is circa 20% of C&I demand therefore, approximately 86 pupils.
The Fusion C&I Academy in Barwell caters for 80 pupils. Although as a
new school it is not yet at capacity it is predominately admitting in lower
year groups and therefore most will be at the school for some time. This
suggests there will be a demand for a further C&I school within the next two
to three years.

However, there is little correlation between the growth in the number of
EHCPs and the overall growth in the pupil population. It is therefore
exceptionally difficult to anticipate what type of provision pupils will attend.
The 2021/22 SEN Capital Programme set out within the MTFS has been
updated to reflect the most recent demand data and to incorporate a High
Needs Provision Capital Grant of £3.642m recently awarded by the DfE. The
revised SEND programme is shown in the following table 2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

Total
£000

SEND Programme
Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) Units
SEMH Special School - LA Developed
SEMH Special School - Free School
Northern C&I School
Communication and Interaction Difficulty Units
Communication and Interaction Difficulty School
Expansion of Special Schools
Other SEND schemes

920
500
200
3,642
0
0
2,530
200

0
0
1,000
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
8,000
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

920
500
9,200
3,642
0
0
2,530
200

Sub-total - SEND Programme

7,992

1,000

8,000

0

16,992

74

Transfer of Funding within Dedicated Schools Grant
42.

Currently local authorities may transfer up to 0.5% of funding from the
Schools Block DSG to the HNB following consultation with schools and
subject to the approval of the Schools Forum (which represents the views of
Leicestershire Headteachers and Governors). Should the Schools Forum not
approve a transfer, or for transfers in excess of 0.5%, approval can be sought
from the Secretary of State. The financial plan assumes a 0.5% transfer for
2022/23, estimated to be £2m. Whilst 2022/23 school funding arrangements
will not be confirmed by the DfE until July it is expected this provision will be
unchanged. The financial plan includes a transfer for one year only, as it is
expected that the next stage of implementation of the National Funding
Formula in 2023/24 may limit the ability of local authorities to make such
transfers from this point.

43.

The intended transfer of funding was set out in a report from the Director of
Children and Family Services to the Schools Forum on 8 February 2021. The
report proposed a process to fully engaged schools in developing proposals
for the transfer prior to formal consultation in September and laying
recommendations to the Schools Forum in November. However, following the
meeting letters were received from Leicestershire Primary Heads (LPH) and
Leicestershire Secondary Heads (LSH) stating that they did not support a
proposal to transfer funding and did not wish to participate in the working
group to develop the proposals. As a result, proposals for the transfer will now
be made directly to schools through consultation beginning in September and
then by seeking approval from the Schools Forum in November. Should the
Schools Forum refuse the request the Council has the option to apply to the
Secretary of State.

44.

The [schools] National Funding Formula, adopted by Leicestershire in 2018,
includes a number of restrictions on local authorities as to how the formula for
schools can be constructed; some requirements can be waived by application
to the Secretary of State to disapply them. Disapplication requests will need to
be submitted to the Secretary of State to formulate proposals for any transfer.
These are expected to be;




45.

Disapplication of the Minimum per Pupil Funding Level. This will allow
for the impact of the transfer, which will reduce school funding, to be
more evenly distributed across schools thus lessening the impact.
Disapplication of the Minimum Funding Guarantee. The DfE sets a
range in which local authorities have discretion in this area but may need
to be set outside this range to enable the transfer.
Permission to cap and or scale gains. Local authorities have discretion
to use the formula to limit any funding gains.

The timing and detail of disapplication requests will be dependent upon the
outcome of the formula modelling and confirmation on the 2022/23 funding
arrangements. Decisions by the Secretary of State on these and any other
disapplication requests may limit the options available to affect the transfer
and the impact upon individual, or groups of schools.

75

46.

Should the Schools Forum not approve a transfer of funding, a request for
approval would be required to be submitted to the Secretary of State in
November prior to submission of the Schools Funding Formula to the DfE in
January. If the transfer does not take place the forecast deficit will increase to
£43m by 2024/25.

Conclusions
47.

The SEND system in its current format is unsustainable and needs to undergo
major changes to ensure that SEND policy and the funding to deliver it are
mutually supportive. It is hoped, but not expected, that the long awaited SEND
Review undertaken by the DfE will deliver this change, further delay on its
publication and delivery of change will only serve to worsen the financial
position locally and nationally.

48.

High Needs deficits are a significant national problem and one the DfE is fully
aware of but seems unable or unwilling to address with any urgency. The
outcome of the long-delayed review of SEN is expected to be published in the
Summer. However, early indications are this will do little to address the critical
funding position.

49.

The Council’s High Needs Development Plan is delivering the green shoots of
sustainable change. The sufficiency workstream, whilst not delivering
cashable savings, has reduced costs by around £10m by diverting children
who previously would have entered higher cost independent provision into
local provision, delivering both costs benefits and ensuring that children and
young people receive their education in their communities. The annual rate of
growth in EHCP numbers is reducing, is below that in other local authorities
and projected to fall further in future years and fall to be in line with the
general population growth.

50.

Demand management is crucial to the recovery of the deficit, however the
County Council is limited in the actions it can take. The SEND system and the
cost of provision are significantly influenced by parental preference for
specialist provision, often for the higher cost independent provision and a
school funding and performance framework that offers perverse incentives for
mainstream schools and academies to not be fully inclusive.

Equality and Human Rights Implications
51.

The policy for school funding is set and delivered under an Equality and
Human Rights Assessment undertaken and published by the DfE. An
assessment will be undertaken on the impact of the proposed transfer of
funding to assess implications for individual and groups of schools given that
this would result in the Leicestershire school funding formula differing from the
National Funding Formula.

76

Background Papers
Reports to the Cabinet regarding Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
Provision and the High Needs Block Development Plan and minutes of those
meetings 18 December 2018 - https://bit.ly/2TP07nJ
29 March 2019 - https://bit.ly/3fWpP21
24 May 2019 - https://bit.ly/2S7nk4d
22 October 2019 - https://bit.ly/3v0l0sO
Report to the Cabinet 22 November 2019 - Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities: Proposed Transfer of Funding with Dedicated Schools Grant https://bit.ly/3x5Majo
Report to the Cabinet 18 September 2020 - Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities and Inclusion Strategy 2020 to 2023 - https://bit.ly/3fXYJrB
Report to the Schools Forum 8 February 2021 - 2021/22 Schools Budget https://bit.ly/3giUkOT

77

Agenda Item 6

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
MELTON MOWBRAY DISTRIBUTOR ROAD SOUTHERN SECTION –
HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND GRANT
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE, DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE
RESOURCES AND DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of the report is to advise the Cabinet that the County Council is
not in a position to accept the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) grant offered
by Homes England (HE) in respect of the southern leg of the Melton Mowbray
Distributor Road (MMDRS).

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended:
a) That the Cabinet notes:
i.

that the County Council has offered to take the vast majority of the
funding risk associated with the construction of the Southern
section of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road;

ii.

but that it has not been possible to reach an agreement with
Melton Borough Council on mitigating the risks to the County
Council if the costs of education infrastructure required for the
residential development enabled by completion of the Southern
section of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road were not fully
met.

b) That consequently, Homes England be advised that the County Council
is unable to accept the Housing Infrastructure Fund Grant offered in
respect of the Southern section of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road.

78

Reason for Recommendations
3.

There is too great a financial risk to the County Council if the HIF grant were to
be accepted. It has not been possible to reach an agreement with Melton
Borough Council (MBC) whereby the Borough Council mitigate that risk.

Timetable for decisions (including scrutiny)
4.

The extended deadline set by HE of 31 March has passed. Subsequent
discussions have taken place with HE, the Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government (MHCLG) and MBC. A decision on the HIF grant offer
now needs to be taken.

Policy framework and previous decisions
5.

In November 2019 the Cabinet was advised of a successful HIF bid of £15m for
the MMDRS.

6.

In March 2020 the Cabinet considered a report on MBC’s master planning for
the Melton South Sustainable Neighbourhood (MSSN). This detailed possible
implications for the County Council, including financial risk connected to the
acceptance of the grant offer from MHCLG and HE towards the cost of the
MMDRS.

7.

In June 2020 the Cabinet considered a report on the latest position with regard
to the HIF grant offer and the decision by MBC to approve a masterplan for the
MSSN. The Cabinet raised a number of concerns, most notably that the
masterplan did not demonstrate the financial viability of the MSSN. The
Cabinet also noted that the masterplan was approved despite it containing
unresolved errors and inaccuracies which had been raised by the County
Council.

8.

In December 2020 the Cabinet was advised of work led by the County Council
in collaboration with landowners and developers, which showed the MSSN was
capable of being financially viable. That was dependent on the approved
masterplan for the MSSN being revised. The Cabinet resolved inter alia that,
subject to an agreement with MBC on mitigating the financial risk to the County
Council and to the completion of other necessary agreements, authority could
be given for the County Council to enter into a Grant Determination Agreement
(GDA) with HE in respect of the HIF grant. The Cabinet also noted that MBC
were seeking to cap any agreement at an amount which was not considered
substantial enough. In a report to MBC’s Cabinet in November 2019 a figure of
£6m had been identified. More recently, the figure was reduced in discussions
to £1m (paragraph 22) and then £800,000.

Resource implications
9.

The current estimate for the cost of the MMDRS is £35m. The HIF grant award
would be for a sum of just short of £15m. This would leave a requirement for
the County Council to forward fund the balance of £20m. In addition, around

79

£35m of education infrastructure (in addition to land) would be needed to fund
new school provision arising from the residential development, which
completion of the MMDRS would enable. This means the County Council
would be requiring contributions of around £55m to come from developers
using a combination of s106 agreements and Highways Act agreements.
10. The current viability appraisal, based on a draft updated masterplan produced
by the County Council, suggests that there is a reasonable chance that the
£55m would be fully recoverable from developers as the enabled sites are built
out, but over a period of up to 20 years. However, there are significant risks
associated with forward funding infrastructure and recovering costs at a later
date as development comes forward, including:







The proposed housing stalls for commercial reasons, after the upfront
infrastructure is provided and so developer contributions are never
received, or the timescales for recovery lengthen substantially.
Decisions on s106 funding will be made by MBC, which may decide to
prioritise other infrastructure, or agree to reduce contributions based on
matters relating to viability or interpretation of Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL) regulations. It is noted that MBC are preparing s106 developer
contributions supplementary planning guidance.
The viability of the development (and hence the level of developer
contributions forthcoming) is subject to significant uncertainty and in
addition to infrastructure costs it is affected by market conditions (such as
build costs, land values and house prices) as well as affordable housing
mix and tenure and other factors outside the County Council’s control.
The longer the timescales to build the development, the increased risk of
these other factors affecting the scheme.

11. The additional financial risks this presents need to be considered alongside the
commitment the County Council has already made in relation to the Northern
and Eastern section of the MMDR. The original bid submitted for the
Department for Transport Local Authority Majors Fund was based on a cost of
£63.5m. With a grant of £49.5m this left a minimum of £14m to be forward
funded by the County Council. Taken with the £22m of education infrastructure
required for the Melton North Sustainable Neighbourhood, and the fact that
latest indications are that the cost of the Northern and Eastern section will be
significantly in excess of the original provision, the County’s financial position is
becoming increasingly stretched.
12. Furthermore, the infrastructure demands that are emerging from other district
councils’ local plans will exacerbate this financial pressure. As such,
committing to fund the development of the MMDRS, even taking into account
the HIF funding available, would see the County Council’s exposure to financial
risk within one of its smallest district areas being at such a level that it
compromises its ability to invest in other parts of the County.

80

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
This report has been circulated to members representing electoral divisions in the
Melton area: Mr M Frisby CC, Mr B Lovegrove C, Mr J Orson CC, Mrs P Posnett
MBE CC.
Officers to contact
John Sinnott, Chief Executive
Tel: (0116) 305 6000
Email: john.sinnott@leics.govuk
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel: (0116) 305 6199
Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
Lauren Haslam, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel: (0116) 305 6240
Email: lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk

81

PART B
Background
13. Melton Mowbray is identified as a ‘Key Centre for Regeneration and Growth’ in
the 2018 Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan. The Melton Local
Plan (formally adopted in October 2018) and which the County Council
supports sets out that the majority of the housing development for Melton will
be delivered within two new large-scale sustainable neighbourhoods, south and
north, known as the MSSN (Policy SS4) and the MNSN (Policy SS5). The
MMDR has been seen as an orbital road which alongside a Melton Mowbray
Transport Strategy would facilitate the development of both sustainable
neighbourhoods.
14. In Cabinet reports, however, it has been made clear that there would be a
significant financial risk to the County Council, particularly in forward funding
the high cost of the required infrastructure to ensure the success of the
sustainable neighbourhoods as new communities.
Current Position
15. Following discussions with MHCLG, HE and MBC in January 2021, and in
order to make progress, the County Council proposed a way forward as follows:


The County Council would agree to forward fund the MMDRS. The
expectation would be that these costs would be reimbursed through
s278/s38 agreements under the Highways Act 1980 and any outstanding
shortfall through prioritised payments under s106 Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 agreements.



MBC would accept it is appropriate in the event of the s106 funding for
educational requirements not being secured in line with what had been
requested, that MBC would underwrite any shortfall. This would be done
through an agreed schedule linked to the phasing of housing delivery,
trigger points for school construction and when costs are incurred, e.g.
with 5-year milestones over a 15-20 year period.



An agreement would be drawn up between the County Council and MBC
to capture heads of terms to cover the County Council’s requirements
which would also contain appropriate provisions should any significant
and relevant planning reforms arise after the agreement was completed.



The County Council’s proposal would also recognise the responsibilities of
developers, including landowners and promoters, and the requirement for
them to enter into the necessary s106 and Highways Act agreements.
(The proposal was also shared with the developers.)

82

16. By agreeing to take on responsibility for the forward funding of the road
infrastructure, the County Council was demonstrating a commitment to take the
vast majority of the funding risk, with the risk to MBC minimised and largely
within its own control.
17. The County Council was making a commitment in respect of funding the whole
road infrastructure at the outset, before housing development was on-line, a
commitment of c.£20m (£35m gross costs less HIF Grant).
18. In contrast, the education infrastructure costs can be broken down into blocks,
with the requirement to progress the construction of each new school or school
expansion being linked to trigger points arising from numbers of houses
constructed over a long timescale. This has enabled officers to give precision
to the education infrastructure provision required via the s106 approach with
the development of an amount per dwelling to be built through a planning
application approval – the roof tax approach. As such, as each school is
committed to, history shows that a large proportion of the funding required is
likely to already have been secured through the s106 process, with any
outstanding funding still required to be forthcoming through further s106
agreements. Therefore, in respect of the education infrastructure, and, in
comparison to road infrastructure, the risks are considerably lower and
predominantly within the control of MBC as the local planning authority to
mitigate or eliminate.
19. A shortfall would arise if MBC as the local planning authority were to agree
through s106 a lower education infrastructure roof tax than that requested by
the County Council or in contrast to other developments that have gone before.
An example could be where the planning authority might support a viability
assessment from a developer resulting in lower contributions, compared to
what is required to fund fully the education infrastructure.
20. So, in summary and in the context of a multi-million pound development and
the risks to the County Council’s finances, MBC was being asked to underwrite
only any shortfall which would arise through actions of its own and, even in that
eventuality, this could be repaid over a reasonable timescale so that the
financial resilience of MBC was not compromised.
Discussions with Melton Borough Council
21. Following the January 2021 discussions (paragraph 15) County Council
lawyers prepared a draft Guarantee/Recoupment agreement with MBC to
reflect the County Council’s requirements and summarised the key provisions
in a Heads of Terms document. The Heads of Terms were shared with MHCLG
and MBC. Counsel’s opinion was also sought on the approach the County
Council was taking and the implications in terms of decision making for MBC.
22. Council lawyers exchanged correspondence with MBC’s legal team (including
external counsel) on the Heads of Terms and meetings took place. As
originally drafted, the Guarantee/Recoupment agreement did not have
provisions for a liability cap on any MBC financial exposure that might arise.

83

The discussions that followed revealed that MBC were thinking of a liability cap
of £1m which in the Director of Corporate Resources’ view did not adequately
take into account the comfort the County Council needed given the risk that
s106 funding would not be forthcoming, leaving the County Council significantly
exposed.
Discussions with Homes England
23. County Council lawyers have also been also involved with HE’s external
lawyers and HE officers about the requirements of a GDA. This would have to
be signed by the County Council as a precondition to the County Council being
able to draw down the HIF grant in stages and in compliance with defined
“milestones”.
24. HE’s GDA is an unusually lengthy and complex document and is contractual. It
has been drafted to favour heavily the interests of HE. The provisions seek to
deliver upon Government priorities around new housing and infrastructure. The
quid pro quo for the receipt of HIF funding is that most of the contractual risks
for the delivery of the project would be borne by the County Council. Attempts
to negotiate amendments to the terms of the GDA were met with significant
resistance by HE’s external lawyers. For example, whilst noting that the
County Council does not have a statutory function in relation to housing, it
would nevertheless have been required to ensure that all housing output
related obligations set out in the GDA were met. Also, a failure to comply with
housing outputs (not the responsibility of the County Council) could have seen
the County Council having to refund all or part of the HIF grant.
25. The County Council’s statutory officers have concluded that when looking at all
the issues arising in relation to the MMDRS it was not in the County Council’s
interests to complete the GDA.
Equalities and Human Rights Implications
26. The MMDRS was identified in the Melton Local Plan as essential for the
delivery of the planned growth in the district. The Plan itself was subject to an
Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment. Any future scheme will be
subject to further assessment in line with the County Council’s policy and
procedures.
Environmental Impact
27. An environmental impacts study was carried out as part of the HIF bid
development process to inform the WebTAG assessment.
28. An environmental impact assessment (EIA) has been carried out in respect of
the Northern and Eastern sections of the MMDR.

84

Background Papers
Report to the Cabinet – 22 November 2019 – Melton Mowbray Local Plan Delivery
Partnership – HIF Bid Update
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5608&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet on 24 March 2020: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road https://bit.ly/2zogPjT
Report to the Cabinet on 23 June 2020: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5996&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020: Melton North Sustainable
Neighbourhood Draft Masterplan:
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet on 15 December 2020: Melton Mowbray Distributor Road
(South) and Melton Northern Sustainable Neighbourhood Draft Masterplan:
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6000&Ver=4

85

Agenda Item 7

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the recently published
National Bus Strategy (NBS) and the Bus Service Improvement Plan Guidance
(the guidance) concerning the development of Bus Service Improvement Plans
and in accordance with the NBS and the guidance, seek the Cabinet’s approval
for the County Council to issue by the end of June a Statutory Notice setting out
its intended approach to improving bus services in Leicestershire.

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended that: a) The overview of the National Bus Strategy (NBS) and Bus Service
Improvement Plan Guidance (the guidance) and the immediate implications
arising, as set out in paragraphs 17 to 36 be noted;
b) The failure to comply with NBS and the guidance will result in the
immediate loss of access to Government COVID-19 Bus Services Support
Grant (CBSSG), worth in excess of £1m to date;
c) Of the two options available for improving bus services, approval be given
to proceeding on the basis of establishing an Enhanced Partnership
Scheme (EPS) for the reasons set out in paragraphs 33 to 36;
d) Subject to the approval of recommendation (c) above, the Director of Law
and Governance be authorised to publish the requisite Statutory Notice
stating that the Authority has chosen to progress on the basis of
establishing an EPS to improve bus services in Leicestershire;
e) The work already commenced to develop a Bus Service Improvement Plan
(BSIP) for Leicestershire, including engagement with operators and the
public be noted; and
f)

A further report be submitted to the Cabinet in the autumn, setting out
proposals for an EPS and BSIP for Leicestershire, and identifying any

86
implications for the Authority’s previously adopted Passenger Transport
Policy and Strategy.
Reason for Recommendations
3.

To comply with the requirements of the NBS and the guidance, which requires
the County Council to establish which approach it has chosen to improve bus
services in Leicestershire and publish a notice by the 30 June 2021 setting out
its intentions. Compliance with the NBS and the guidance will ensure the
Authority is still able to access COVID-19 funding, be eligible for the further
£25m NBS implementation support funding and be eligible to access a further
share of the £3bn funding Government is making available to fund delivery of
the NSB.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
4.

Subject to approval, the Director of Law and Governance will publish a
Statutory Notice by the 30 June 2021, setting out the Authority’s decision to
progress on the basis of establishing an EPS to improve bus services in
Leicestershire.

5.

A report on the NBS and the implications arising from the Council’s
Commitment to establish an EPS will be considered by the Environment and
Transport Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to a further report on the
matter being considered by the Cabinet in the autumn.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
6.

In October 2018 the Cabinet approved the Authority’s Passenger Transport
Policy and Strategy.

7.

In May 2019, the County Council declared a Climate Emergency. The updated
2020 Environment Strategy sets out how the Council will reduce the
environmental impacts of travel and transport. Providing frequent, high quality
passenger transport services is a key element in delivering the Climate Change
commitment and the Environment Strategy.

8.

In November 2020 the Cabinet approved the Leicester and Leicestershire
Strategic Transport Priorities document (2020-2050), which highlights where
Leicestershire County Council and Leicester City Council will work together to
deliver common transport aims and objectives. Its principle aims including:






support the transition to a low carbon and circular economy;
adapting to climate change;
improve connectivity;
support and drive the economy to unlock growth;
support the efficient movement of both people and goods around and
through the County.

87
Resource Implications
9.

Each Local Transport Authority (LTA) in England has so far been offered
£100,000 by the DfT to support initial work towards the implementation of the
NBS; the Authority has taken up this offer and the monies have already been
received which has been used to commission consultancy support.

10. Post June 2021 there is a promise from DfT of further NBS implementation
support funding (£25m nationally); but this is only available to those authorities
who publicly commit to its implementation, including the DfT requirement to
publish a Statutory Notice by the 30 June 2021. Further information concerning
the contents of the Statutory Notice can be found in paragraphs 37 to 39 of the
report.
11. The actual total resource and cost implications of implementing a Leicestershire
BSIP and EPS cannot be established at this time because they are subject to
ongoing discussions with bus operators and the outcomes of public
engagement. This matter is further discussed in paragraphs 35 and 36 and
more information on such implications will be presented to the Cabinet in the
autumn.
12. At this point in time, however, it should be noted that however ambitious the
Authority (and bus operators) might want to be in improving bus services to
meet the needs and wants of the residents and businesses of Leicestershire,
the costs of delivering on those ambitions will not be affordable to the Authority
in either revenue or capital terms.
13. Accordingly, the Authority will be expecting Government to provide:
 consistent and sustained revenue funding for the resources that it
currently does not have (and the DfT acknowledge many other LTAs do
not have) to enable the implementation of; ongoing operation of; and
monitoring and review of the EPS and BSIP;
 consistent and sustained revenue funding to enable it, if and as required,
to continue to provide any financial support for bus services; and
 the levels of capital funding required to deliver on the Authority’s
ambitions.
14. Whilst there are significant financial implications arising from seeking to deliver
on the NBS, there are likely to be equally significant consequences arising from
any failure to do so. Were the Authority not to publish the Statutory Notice by the
end of June, then it would:
 Lose access to Local Transport Authority CBSSG funding (worth in
excess of £1m from 17th March 2020 to date for tendered services) and
any future COVID-19 funding.
 Be ineligible to claim a share of the £25m DfT capacity funding in 2021/22
to assist within delivering BSIPs and Enhanced Partnerships.

88
 Be ineligible to access a share of £3bn worth of funding that Government
is making available to fund delivery of the NSB. Pursuing either an ESP or
BF and publishing a BSIP in accordance with the guidance timeframes
(see paragraph 37) are also prerequisites for being able to access this
funding.
 The National Bus Strategy also explains that, as part of the wider reform
of the Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG), payment of the reformed
grant could be linked to delivery of BSIP commitments. The Government
will also take into account an authority’s performance with respect to the
policies set out in the NBS when considering funding allocations for wider,
non-bus local transport schemes.
15. In the view of officers, not pursuing the NBS could result in the risk of
withdrawal of many bus services with significant reductions not only in the
subsidised network but also potentially in commercial provision. It has been
estimated that the potential cost of replacing services at risk of being withdrawn
could be £5m per annum (many of those services run 2 or 3 bus operations at
approximately £150,000 p.a. per bus).
16. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance
have been consulted on this report.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
This report has been circulated to all Members of the County Council
Officers to Contact
Ann Carruthers
Director, Environment and Transport
Tel: (0116) 305 7000
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
Janna Walker
Acting Assistant Director, Development and Growth
Tel: (0116) 305 0785
Email: janna.walker@leics.gov.uk

89
PART B
Background
National Bus Strategy (NBS)
17. The NBS ‘Bus Back Better’ was published in March 2021. Whilst it does not
mark a return to the nationalised world of buses that existed prior to the 1985
Transport Act (and the commercially operated and supported bus network mix
that has existed since), it does mark another radical change in Government
transport policy. In essence Government sees that there is no better time to
act in terms of changing the relationship between LTAs and bus operators and
to significantly alter the role of LTAs in the delivery of bus services than on the
back of the pandemic, when LTAs and operators have already been working
together in a more collaborative approach than pre-pandemic.
18. Thus, as described by Government the NBS sets out an ambitious vision to
dramatically improve bus services in England outside of London through
greater local leadership, to reverse the recent shift in journeys away from
public transport as a result of the pandemic and encourage passengers back
to buses. LTAs and local bus operators must work at pace with local
communities to plan and deliver a fully integrated service with simple, multimodal tickets, more bus priority measures, the same high quality information
for all passengers in more places, and better turn-up-and-go frequencies that
keep running into the evenings and at weekends.
19. Government has committed £3bn of new funding to support delivery of the
NBS. However, at the time of writing Government has yet to issue any detail
of how funding will be awarded, albeit as outlined elsewhere in this report it
has made clear what requirements LTAs need to fulfil in order to have access
to a share of it.
Bus Service Improvement Plans (BSIP) and Guidance
20. The NBS explains that there can be no return to a situation where bus
services are planned on a purely commercial basis with little or no
engagement with, or support from, LTAs.
21. Government describes BSIPs as being how LTAs, working closely with their
local bus operators and local communities, address this – by setting out a
vision for delivering the step-change in bus services that is required by the
NBS.
22. On 17 May, Government issued guidance on the development of BSIPs. A
BSIP is the essential first step in delivering on the NBS, and it will be the
extent of their ambition that will be critical when Government decides how new
funding is allocated. In addition, there is an inference from the guidance that
this might not just be in respect of bus related funding, but in respect of wider
highways and transport funding.

90
23. The guidance doesn’t explain how BSIPs will be assessed in respect of
receiving funding (it is understood that separate guidance will be issued by
Government on the assessment of BSIPs and funding), but there are a
number of key elements of the guidance which have immediate implications
for the Authority.
Overview of expected BSIP content
24. LTAs are required under the guidance to prepare a BSIP for their area and
work is already in hand to develop one for Leicestershire.
25. Under the guidance, it is expected that BSIPs will be comprehensive, living
documents that will evolve over time. In summary, a BSIP is expected to
cover:
 basic information about an area’s current bus network(s) and the roads
they run on, including:
o bus patronage levels and trends, including mode share;
o the density of service and the proportion of people in walking distance
of a frequent service;
o average fares;
o road congestion and traffic levels and how they have changed in
recent years;
o data on average bus speeds and how they affect bus operation and
use;
o how readily comprehensive information is available;
o size and age of bus fleet;
o what if any common ticketing or partnership and coordination
arrangements there are
 information about the area’s local bus operators and the LTA, including:
o is there one dominant operator or a mix of operators;
o to what extent are services (including branding and ticketing) specified
centrally by bus operators or are they designed with local people in
mind;
o how many staff does the LTA have working on buses and how much
funding does the LTA provide for supported services, other than
school services.
 what and where are the main barriers to bus usage and growth in the
area, including for example:
o congestion;
o lack of bus priority;
o a confusing bus network;
o lack of easily accessible information and common ticketing;
o an elderly bus fleet;
o whether services connect with each other easily or there are long
waits.
 Proposals for improvement, including for example making bus services:

91
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

more frequent, with turn-up-and-go services on major routes and
feeder or demand-responsive services to lower-density places;
faster and more reliable, with bus priority wherever necessary and
where there is room;
cheaper, with more low, flat fares in towns and cities, lower point-topoint fares elsewhere, and more daily price capping everywhere;
more comprehensive, with overprovision on a few corridors reduced
to boost provision elsewhere and better services in the evenings and
weekends, not necessarily with conventional buses;
easier to understand, with simpler routes, common numbering,
coordinated timetable change dates, good publicity, and
comprehensive information online;
easier to use, with common tickets, passes and daily capping across
all operators, simpler fares, contactless payment and protection of bus
stations;
better integrated with other modes and each other, including more
bus-rail interchange and integration and inter-bus transfers.

26. The guidance sets out that it is mandatory that BSIPs seek and report the
views of passengers and third parties on the merits and demerits of bus
services locally and the performance of the LTA and the local operators.
These should include local transport users' groups, MPs, local services and
business organisations, etc. Passenger survey data, if any, should be
reported.
27. It is also a requirement that BSIPs include targets and monitoring regimes,
which will include regular reporting to the DfT.
Paths available to LTAs under the NBS for delivering improved bus services in their
area
28. LTAs must in order to comply with DfT requirements for delivery of the NBS
choose from one of only two paths for progressing improvements to bus
services in their local area: Enhanced Partnership Scheme (EPS) or Bus
Franchising (BF); no other options are available to LTAs in order to deliver the
NBS.
29. In essence an EPS is a formal agreement between an LTA and local bus
operators to work together to improve local bus services.
30. Franchising (most notably in place in London), is where the LTA specifies the
bus services to be provided, determining the routes, timetables and fares.
Services are then operated under contract by private companies through a
competitive tendering process.
31. The consultants commissioned by the County Council have carried out an
independent assessment as to which of an EPS or BF would be the most
appropriate to pursue in Leicestershire.

92
32. A copy of their report is included as the appendix to the report. The options
available and the summary of the key views and recommendations of the
consultants are set out below:
33. Continue as present, i.e. do not seek to deliver the NBS nor comply with
its requirements: Requires no action by the Authority and Local Bus
Operators would continue to be responsible for most aspects of service
provision. The Authority would lose access to Government funding and as a
consequence likely see significantly increased pressures on its budgets as a
result of needing to support greater numbers of bus services and possibly also
arising from the loss of any highways and transport funding. This option is not
recommended.
34. Pursue the NBS BF path: Gives the Authority control over the planning,
design and delivery of bus services and of the setting of fares and ensures
that it can continue to access Government funding. It would require significant
additional technical and administrative resources to oversee planning and
management, possibly likely to cost in excess of £500,000 (revenue) per
annum. The Authority would also be responsible for paying operators to run
the services it specifies (as happens in London) with potentially significant
cost and financial risks to the Authority. This option is not recommended.
35. Pursue the NBS EPS path: This does not give the Authority the same level
of control over bus service design nor fares as the BF path. But, through
formally established collaborative working with LBOs, it would give the
Authority far greater control than just continuing as present. At possibly
£75,000 per annum the technical and administrative resource costs to
oversee planning and management are considerably less than the BF. This is
the recommended option.
36. Officers agree with the consultants’ independent views and recommendations.
There is no option that is without potentially significant financial implications
for the Authority but seeking to continue as is also likely brings with it the great
risk of withdrawal of bus services across the County affecting many peoples’
everyday lives and undermining efforts to lead a green recovery from the
pandemic. Thus, of the two only paths available under the NBS, then in
comparison to BF an EPS is likely to expose the Authority to the lesser degree
of financial costs and risks whilst at the same time giving it far greater ability
than at present to seek to deliver better bus services for the residents and
businesses of Leicestershire.
DfT requirements and timeframes for implementing the NBS
37. The guidance is very prescriptive in placing significant requirements on LTAs
in very short timeframes.
 Step 1 - by the end of June 2021: Decide which statutory path to follow pursue an EPS or develop a BF assessment.
 Step 2 – by the end of October 2021: Publish a BSIP for its area.
 Step 3 – by the end of March 2022: Have either an EPS in place or be
following the statutory processes to develop a BF assessment.

93

38. In respect of Step 1, the guidance requires LTAs to publish a Statutory Notice
setting out which path it has chosen and provides a model notice to use. The,
publication of the Notice will commit the Authority to establishing an EPS by
the end of March 2022.
39. The guidance sets out that publication of such a Notice is a requirement for
LTAs to be eligible for continued access to CBSSG funding and also, interalia, to gain access to a share of the £3bn of funding available to deliver the
NSB. Were the Authority not to publish the Statutory Notice by the end of
June and then to lose access to CBSSG (which has been worth in excess of
£1m to date) and any future COVID-19 funding.
40. In respect of Step 2, given the incredibly tight timeframe and the considerable
amount of work required, the commissioned consultants are already working
with local bus companies to develop a BSIP for Leicestershire. Wider ‘public’
engagement work has also already started to inform its development.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
41. The Equality Act 2010 requires the Authority to have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination and to promote equality of opportunity between
different protected groups.
42. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening
exercise is currently in development and will be informed by the outcome of
the engagement
43. A full EHRIA, if appropriate, will be presented to the Cabinet in the autumn
alongside proposals for a Leicestershire EPS and BSIP, to assist the Cabinet
with its decision on the exercise of its Public-Sector Equality Duty under the
Equality Act 2010.
Environmental Implications
44. Delivery of improved bus services should help to deliver mode shift away from
the private car and would therefore be anticipated to deliver air quality and
carbon reduction benefits.
Background Papers
Report to the Cabinet on 16 October 2018, Draft Passenger Transport Policy
and Strategy
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5184&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet on 20 November 2020 ‘Leicester and Leicestershire
Strategic Transport Priorities’:
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5999&Ver=4

94
Appendix
Consultants options appraisal report

95
Appendix

Future bus service provision in Leicestershire
Purpose
In response to the publication of the National Bus Strategy, this report considers the future planning
and delivery of local bus services in Leicestershire.

Background
Government published the Bus Back Better: National Bus Strategy in March 2021, setting out an
ambitious vision to improve bus services across England by addressing the barriers of limited cooperation, lack of evening services, complex ticketing arrangements and poor integration. It set out
how local transport authorities and bus operators should work together with their communities to
develop the bus network and create a virtuous cycle of growth and improvement. The Strategy sets
out goals to make services:








More frequent, with turn-up-and-go services on major routes and feeder or demandresponsive services to lower-density places.
Faster and more reliable, with bus priority wherever necessary and where there is room.
Cheaper, with more low, flat fares in towns and cities, lower point-to-point fares elsewhere,
and more daily price capping everywhere.
More comprehensive, with overprovision on a few corridors reduced to boost provision
elsewhere and better services in the evenings and weekends, not necessarily with
conventional buses.
Easier to understand, with simpler routes, common numbering, co-ordinated timetable
change dates, good publicity, and comprehensive information online.
Easier to use, with common tickets, passes and daily capping across all operators, simpler
fares, contactless payment and protection of bus stations.
Better integrated with other modes and each other, including more bus-rail interchange and
integration and inter-bus transfers.

Government will provide £3bn of funding (capital and revenue) to support the delivery of these
improvements. However, to be eligible to receive any of this funding, and to continue benefitting
from Covid-19 Bus Service Support Grant (CBBSG), which has maintained bus services during the
pandemic while patronage and fares revenue have been significantly reduced, local transport
authorities and operators must agree to work together and meet 3 requirements:




Issue a statutory notice of intent to develop an Enhanced Partnership (or undertake an
assessment of bus franchising) by the end of June 2021.
Prepare and publish a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) by the end of October 2021.
Have established and be implementing an Enhanced Partnership by the end of March 2022.

Options
In response to the National Bus Strategy, three options exist for local transport authorities as
follows:
Continue as present


Deregulated bus market, with bus operators determining which services are commercially
viable to provide. Operators determine routes, service levels and fares.

1

96
Appendix


Authority decides the extent it wishes to intervene by seeking tenders from operators to fill
gaps in the network or to supplement commercial services.

No action would be necessary to take this line of action.
Enhanced Partnership





Authority enters into a formal partnership arrangement with bus operators to agree a
programme of improvements to bus services. The authority agrees to provide facilities (such
as infrastructure) and operators agree to meet defined levels of services (such as vehicle
emission standards, evenly spread timetables, multi-operator ticketing).
Commitments are legally binding, with sanctions for non-delivery on the part of any of the
partners.
Commercial operators continue to provide the services within a deregulated market, but
with more input from the authority.

An Enhanced Partnership would require the authority to issue a statutory notice of intent and then
to work with operators and other interested parties to develop an Enhanced Partnership Plan (the
BSIP – with the overall vision and ambition) and associated Enhanced Partnership Scheme(s)
detailing the mechanisms for delivery. The process for establishing an EP is set out in guidance under
the terms of the Bus Services Act 2017.
Franchising





Local Transport Authority controls, plans and funds all aspects of the bus network, taking
responsibility for designing services, timetabling and setting fares (as happens in London
currently).
Authority specifies services and procures the operation of these through contracts for
individual services or networks of services.
Different models of franchising exist. In London, Transport for London controls all aspects,
including setting fares and taking responsibility (and the risk) for revenue collection. In the
Netherlands, franchising models vary, including where the authority and contracted
operators jointly plan services and share the risk on revenue, which incentivises operators to
grow patronage.

The ability to franchise bus services is included in the powers for Mayoral Combined Authorities.
Other authorities may seek to have the powers from Government, but this requires secondary
legislation and approval from the Secretary of State, based on satisfactory demonstration of the case
that franchising is needed and that the authority has the capability and resources to implement it.
Again guidance under the terms of the Bus Services Act 2017 sets out a specific process for the
assessment of the case for franchising, including demonstrating a strong case for change and
production of an Outline Business Case where franchising is compared with alternative models of
delivery. The whole process is likely to take 2+ years to complete. Therefore, where an authority
expresses a desire for franchising, it will still be required to establish an Enhanced Partnership for
the interim.

Assessment of options
The advantages and disadvantages of each option from the authority’s perspective are as follows:

2

97
Appendix

Continue as present
Advantages
 No action required by
authority.
 Operators continue to be
responsible for most aspects of
service provision.

Disadvantages
 Authority has little control over bus services.
 Provision of services can be fragmented and
unstable.
 Government funding to support services as they
recover post-Covid is withdrawn, with the likely
consequence of services being reduced or cut.
 Authority forfeits the opportunity for Government
funding, both formula based and specific funding for
larger projects.
 Operators lose any funding that replaces Bus Service
Operator Grant, which will further undermine the
viability of all commercial services, putting more at
risk of being reduced or cut.
 Operators challenge the authority on its inaction and
highlight their concerns to DfT.
 Increased pressure on authority’s own financial
resources to support services that were previously
commercial. To illustrate, replacement of service
equivalent to the operation of 30 buses across the
county, would require new funding of £5.4m.
 If funding was not available to replace services, levels
of accessibility would decrease and significant public
concerns would be raised.

Enhanced Partnership
Advantages
 Authority gains some influence
over bus service design and
quality.
 Engenders collaborative
working with operators and a
focus on jointly improving bus
services.
 Ensures access to government
funding for buses, both in
respect of formula based and
for specific large projects,
reducing potential burden on
authority’s finances
 Provides the flexibility to devise
sustainable and affordable
service improvements in
response to local needs and
requirements, with a range of
different potential
interventions.

Disadvantages
 Requires the development of a strategic plan for bus
services and establishment of a formal partnership
group, with implications for resourcing these
additional activities. Funding from government will
be based on the quality and ambition of the plan.
 Additional staffing resource for maintaining and
monitoring the Bus Service Improvement Plan and
servicing the Enhanced Partnership (2 staff and
associated costs – possibly £75k p.a.)
 Further delivery costs of improvements contained in
the BSIP will fall on the authority, but will be
dependent on the level of ambition and the amounts
of Government funding attracted.
 Potential government funding mechanisms and
levels are yet unknown and will be the subject of
further guidance over the summer.

3

98
Appendix

Franchising
Advantages
 Authority has control over the
design, planning and provision
of bus services across its area.
 Uniform and comprehensive
system for fares and ticketing
can be applied across the
network.
 Ensures access to government
funding for buses, both in
respect of formula based and
for specific large projects.
 Provides the flexibility to devise
service improvements in
response to local needs and
requirements, with a range of
different potential
interventions.

Disadvantages
 Significant additional technical and administrative
resources will be required to oversee the planning
and management of the network, including
procurement and legal expertise. Also, resources
associated with monitoring, customer contact,
publicity, marketing and branding. This might require
additional staff of 15, representing annual costs of
£500k+.
 Further delivery costs of improvements contained in
the BSIP will fall on the authority, but will be
dependent on the level of ambition and the amounts
of Government funding attracted.
 TUPE issues may arise for staff transferring between
operators and from operators to the authority.
 May require authority to make depots available for
operators, to help create a level playing field for new
entrants into the local area.
 May require authority to intervene in the provision
of buses, to broker their availability to new entrants.
 Significant upheaval and potential disruption to
service provision during transition to franchising.
 Greater financial responsibilities on authority, along
with associated risks.
 Authority needs to maintain strong engagement with
the supplier market to ensure continued competition
for contracts.
 Potential loss of goodwill from operators who stand
to lose some or all of their existing business.
 Potential for legal challenge to franchising, as
currently occurring in Greater Manchester, where
franchising has been announced by the Mayor as the
preferred option.
 Potential government funding mechanisms and
levels are yet unknown and will be the subject of
further guidance over the summer.

Recommendation
Based on the assessment of the options, it is recommended that an Enhanced Partnership approach
be adopted. This will ensure that the authority and its operators continue to have access to any
Government funding for bus services. This will also be in line with the approach that Government
wants authorities and operators to take, and provides a practical and appropriate approach to the

4

99
Appendix
future provision of bus services, drawing on the successful collaboration between authorities and
operators during the pandemic.
The Enhanced Partnership approach avoids the authority having to take on significant additional
responsibilities and risks. It offers a route that is less onerous than making the case and undertaking
an assessment for franchising and mitigates the immediate risk of loss of significant support for the
local bus market service provision.

Next steps
If the recommendation is accepted the next steps will be as follows:







Discuss with operators and other interested parties what they would like to achieve in terms
of bus network development and improvements through an Enhanced Partnership.
Seek operators’ support for establishing an Enhanced Partnership.
Publish a statutory notice of intent to develop an Enhanced Partnership before the end of
June 2021 and confirm this to the DfT.
Establish a formal Partnership Group or Forum to meet regularly to oversee the formulation
of a Bus Service Improvement Plan - BSIP - (which will form the Enhanced Partnership Plan)
and associated Enhanced Partnership Scheme(s).
Develop the BSIP using the template provided by DfT, setting out the ambition, vision and
implementation plan for improvements to the local bus network.

It should be noted that Government recognises the additional work it requires authorities to
undertake. It has made £100k available to each authority to help meet the cost of resourcing the
work. This should cover the direct costs of formulating the BSIP and Enhanced Partnership; it would
not meet the costs of developing the case for franchising. The DfT is also in the process of
establishing a Centre of Excellence, to provide a centralised resource for technical advice and
support for local authorities.
Based on current guidance (although revised guidance will be produced in June), the process for
developing an Enhanced Partnership is set out here.

5

This page is intentionally left blank

101

Agenda Item 8

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
MEMBERS HIGHWAY FUND - PROPOSALS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s approval for the creation of
a Members Highway Fund that will provide each County Councillor with a
budget to spend on highway and environmental improvement works in their
own division.
Recommendations
2. It is recommended:
a) That £1.4m be allocated from the additional Highways funding
identified within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 for the
creation of a Member Highway Fund;
b) That the creation of Member Highway Fund as set out in paragraphs
13 to 26 of the report be approved;
c)

That each Member [County Councillor] be authorised to agree the use
of the £25,000 allocated to them from the Member Highway Fund for
spending in their electoral division subject to this being in accordance
with the principles for the Fund;

d) That it be noted that the aim is to continue the initiative in 2022/23
subject to the necessary funding being identified.
Reasons for Recommendation
3. The fund and associated programme of works will allow Members to address
specific community concerns within their locality which would not normally be
funded via the highway maintenance budget or to bring planned works
forward.
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
4. Subject to approval, work will commence to establish the fund in order for
schemes to be developed and delivered in the current financial year. It is

102

intended that a review of the operation of this Fund be taken to Scrutiny and
Cabinet if required in Spring 2022.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
5. The programme is an evolution of the successful Parish and Communities
Fund that was implemented during 2020/21 as part of the Council’s Covid
recovery measures. This fund has now ceased.
6. The programme will be funded from £5m additional highways funding that has
been identified within the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2021/22 and
the aim is to continue this initiative in 2022/23 subject to funding being
identified.
Resource Implications
7. An amount of £1.4m has been allocated for spend in in 2021/22 to provide
Members with £25,000 each along with a small contingency fund. The
intention is to continue this in 2022/23 however this will be subject to funding
being identified.
8. An additional amount is also being made available for 2021/22 to provide the
temporary resource necessary to work with Members to develop and deliver
the interventions requested. This will involve the appointment of officers as
well as an allocation for consultancy support if needed.
9. Funding will also be made available for community support to enable
engagement on potential schemes if required out of the money available for
consultancy.
10. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on these proposals.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
11. This report will be circulated to all Members of the County Council.
Officers to Contact
Ann Carruthers
Director, Environment and Transport
Telephone: (0116) 305 7000
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk
Janna Walker
Acting Assistant Director, Environment and Transport
Telephone: (0116) 305 0785
Email: Janna.Walker@leics.gov.uk

103

PART B
Background
12.

As part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy an additional £5m highways
funding has been identified to be spent in the financial year 2021/22. The
majority of this funding will be spent on highway maintenance activities
including signing, lining, drainage, vegetation management as well as
initiatives to address community highway concerns such as speeding.

Proposals
13.

It is proposed that each Member is allocated £25,000 within the financial year
2021/22 and provisionally for 2022/23, to spend on small scale highways
improvements within their division. Each Member will receive the same level
of funding. This will enable them to address highway and environmental
issues in their local areas that, while important to local communities, would
not meet the usual criteria for implementation. In some instances the funding
could also be used to bring works forward if they have been identified as part
of a long term programme.

14.

The principles for the Fund are as follows a) The funding will be spent within that Member’s area unless there is a
clear business case for the money to be moved to another area.
b) The improvements should be focused on improving the local highway
network and its environment.
c) Any consultation with local communities should be led by the Local
Member with support from Environment and Transport officers if
required to ensure that residents are in agreement with the proposals.
d) All proposals to be agreed with the Local Member by the end of
November wherever possible, to enable spend within the financial year.
e) Any improvement on the highway network must adhere to and align
with both national legislation and guidelines, including contract
procedure rules.

15.

In addition to the more traditional highway interventions such as vegetation
removal, drainage and highways work and speed measures, the funding could
be allocated to non-highways specific items that will improve the overall
physical environment of the community e.g. benches/planters to be placed on
non- County Council land.

16.

The £25,000 should not be simply passported to third parties – although
arrangements can be made for Member-approved schemes to be delivered by
communities if appropriate, for example, cutting back of vegetation or
installation of improvements on non-County Council land, via a grant.

104

17.

In certain circumstances communities may be expected to take on
maintenance responsibility of the improvement. An example of this would be
carrying out data collection from Vehicle Activated Signs (VAS).

18.

Whilst every effort will be made to be flexible with Members and communities,
if a proposal goes against national guidelines and regulations, such as
repeater 30mph signs within a lit area, they will not be accepted. Safety must
continue to be a priority.

19.

Schemes where possible should avoid the need for a legal change to the
Highway such as the introduction of a Traffic Regulation Order. Unfortunately,
it is often difficult to secure public agreement for TROs and they are
expensive (£7,500 minimum for the required consultation). Officers will make
every effort to support Members to find solutions to issues which would avoid
such an approach.

20.

All proposals to be agreed with the Local Member by the end of November
wherever possible, to enable spend within the financial year.

Potential Projects
21.

Potential projects that Members could utilise the funding for include:
a) Street furniture on or off the highway – subject to a road safety
assessment.
b) Culvert repairs/clearing of ditches on private lands, subject to the
necessary permissions.
c) Vegetation works that would not normally be undertaken.
d) Vehicle activated signs in locations not included within the Community
Speed Initiative.
e) Schemes that will support people with protected characteristics for
example dropped kerbs to support people with mobility difficulties.
f)

Improvements to the environment – flower beds, verge protection
barriers etc.

g) Minor repairs to the roads and footways that would not normally be part
of the normal intervention programme.
h) Refreshing of highways owned green areas (re-planting of existing
landscapes).
i)

Financial support to parishes to allow them to undertake structural
testing in their area (lamp column testing for hanging baskets /
Christmas decorations etc).

j)

Refreshening of lining and sign cleaning.

105

22.

As part of the Member Highway Fund process, officers will advise Members of
whether their request is part of an alternative programme of works, and if so,
the expected timescales for completion. This will allow for an informed
decision on whether they would wish to see the works accelerated or, if
applicable, wait for the programmed works to commence.

Accessing and Management of the Fund
23.

Subject to approval of the scheme, officers will contact Members from midJuly to discuss initial thoughts as to how the fund could be used in their area.
In addition, a dedicated email address will be established to support Members
and allow contact with the Department on this initiative.

24.

Each Member will have a designated officer who will work with them to
explore the options available to them and provide them with monthly updates
on levels of spend and progress on projects.

25.

Members who require community engagement support to enable nonparished areas to develop proposals for the highway environment in their area
will be assisted with this, however this should be led and instigated by the
relevant Member.

Delivering the Fund

26.

Action

When

Briefing to be held for Members.

July

“Shopping list” of potential improvements to be made
available to Members.

8 July

Process for enabling funds to be “granted to communities”
should they wish to undertake works/improvements
themselves to be advised to Members.

31 July

Develop proposals with Members.

July - Nov

Implement improvements/schemes in localities

July - April

Review progress and agree scheme for 2022/23.

December

Quarterly reports will be sent to Members on the progress of the fund.

Equality and Human Rights Implications
27.

There are no equality or human rights implications arising from the report.

28.

An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment is not required as the fund
will operate within the scope of existing discretionary services which are
already provided.

106

29.

The opportunity to access these discretionary services will be countywide
regardless of local governance arrangements or other factors such as local
demographics.

Background Papers
None.

107

Agenda Item 9

CABINET - 22 JUNE 2021
PROCUREMENT OF COMMUNITY LIFE CHOICES SERVICES
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to present the proposals for the future delivery of
community life choices (CLC) services in Leicestershire. CLC services are day
services and allow service users choice of provision from a selection of pre-approved
providers. This report sets out the plans for the future procurement of commissioned
CLC services and proposals for the future delivery of in-house CLC services.

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended that:
a)

A procurement exercise to establish a new community life choices (CLC)
provider Framework, with a view to the new service being implemented by the
end of November 2021, be agreed;

b)

The Director of Adults and Communities be authorised to commence a
consultation exercise on proposals to reduce the Council’s in-house CLC
services and help existing service users to move to appropriate alternative
services;

c)

A further report be presented to the Cabinet in November 2021 on the
outcome of the consultation with regard to in-house service provision.

Reasons for Recommendations
3.

The current procurement framework was due to end on 30 September 2020.
However, as providers were concentrating on re-shaping their service offer to
individuals due to lockdown and social distancing restrictions, the procurement was
delayed as a supportive measure. Following appropriate consultation with the
Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources, a 14month extension was applied, with the current contract due to end on 30 November
2021.

4.

The County Council’s market share within the CLC provider market has steadily
reduced over the past several years which has led to a reduction in demand on the
service. The Covid-19 pandemic has also meant that capacity to deliver in-house
services has been dramatically reduced over the past 12 months, leading to a

108

requirement to consider alternative provision within the provider market where there
is greater capacity.
5.

The recommendations will enable a re-focussing of in-house provider services on
crisis care, short term reablement and enablement, and support for carers through
the delivery of a responsive seven day a week service and ceasing the provision of
long-term maintenance CLC support. This will have the aim of meeting the
Department’s commitment to preventing, reducing, and delaying need through the
provision of crisis support to carers to prevent carer breakdown. In doing so it will
contribute to the delivery of Adults and Communities Departmental Strategy
“Delivering Well-being and Opportunity in Leicestershire 2020-24”.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
6.

Subject to agreement of the proposals contained in this report, the outcome of the
consultation will be reported to the Cabinet in November 2021.

7.

The Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report
on the proposals at its meeting on 7 June and its comments are set out in Part B of
this report below.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
8.

The proposals in this report directly link to the “Working Together for the Benefit of
Everyone: Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22” and in particular,
the strategic outcomes of Wellbeing and Opportunity and Keeping People Safe. The
proposals are also integral to the delivery of the ambitions for Adult Social Care
which are detailed in the Delivering Wellbeing and Opportunity in Leicestershire
Adults and Communities Department Ambitions and Strategy for 2020–2024.

9.

The Care Act 2014 gives the Council responsibility for ensuring there is a wide range
of good quality care and support services available for people to choose from.
Emphasis is placed on the importance of enabling adults with needs for care and
support and carers with needs and support, where they wish to do so, to participate
in work, education, or training.

10. As part of the development of the previous CLC Framework, reports were presented
to the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Cabinet in
the autumn of 2016, outlining the proposals for the new model to deliver CLC
services and the results of a customer engagement exercise to inform the proposals.
Resource Implications
11. There will be staff-related resource implications for undertaking the consultation and
review of the internal service provision. The framework will be a significant
procurement, which may attract a sizeable number of bids, the evaluation of which
will need to be adequately resourced.
12. The current and new CLC Framework (not including in-house provision) is expected
to cost approximately £5.8m during 2021/22. It is expected that over the next two

109

years the cost of the new framework may increase from this figure if the service
expands to cover more of the services currently provided in-house.
13. The current budget for in-house CLC service provision for 2021/22 is £3m. Further
analysis will need to be completed as part of the consultation process to quantify
future costs and potential savings; balancing the cost of in-house provision against
an increase in expenditure on externally provided services.
14. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance have
been consulted on the contents of this report.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
15. This report will be circulated to all members.
Officers to Contact
Jon Wilson – Director of Adults and Communities
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone: 0116 305 7454
Email: Jon.Wilson@leics.gov.uk
Nigel Thomas – Assistant Director (Strategic Services)
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone: 0116 305 7379
Email: Nigel.Thomas@leics.gov.uk
Claire Jones - Head of Service - Direct Services
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone: 0116 305 7553
Email: Claire.Jones@leics.gov.uk
Christine Collingwood, Commissioning Business Manager
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone: 0116 305 0696
Email:
Christine.collingwood@leics.gov.uk

110

PART B
Background
16. The County Council operates a commissioning framework for the provision of day
services known as CLC, which allows service users choice of provision from a
selection of pre-approved providers. The previous change to this commissioning
process was in January 2017 with the implementation of a framework agreement
which reduced the pool of providers from 73 down to 24 and introduced set payment
bands. This contract is due to end on 30 November 2021.
17. In addition to the Framework, there are currently 10 building-based day services
provided in-house who currently employ 71 full time equivalent staff across locations
in Ashby, Blaby, Coalville, Hinckley, Loughborough (2), Market Harborough, Melton
Mowbray, South Wigston and Wigston. The Council provides a mix of CLC services
which are either within a group or one-to-one setting delivered either from buildingbased or community services as half or full day sessions depending on the
customer’s assessed need.
The Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic
18. In March 2020, the Covid-19 lockdown meant that providers had to close their
building-based services, except for those at highest risk of poor outcomes due to no
service provision, and adapt their services to deliver support remotely.
19. The Council’s CLC providers were creative and flexible in continuing to deliver
support and examples of how services were adapted included:





Supporting people to go on walks;
Delivering classes/sessions through Zoom, including exercise and cookery
classes;
Sending out tailored activity packs, such as craft kits, often linked in with Zoom
sessions;
Using Facetime or similar to keep in touch with people who use services, such as
providing tours of a farm for workmates employed at an agricultural service.

20. In common with those receiving an externally provided service, all in-house CLC
services were suspended as a result of the first national lockdown.
21. Since the start of the pandemic, the Council has been engaging with users of CLC
services, both external and in-house, to ensure that they are receiving the support
they need and assessing people’s level of risk to enable a restart of appropriate CLC
support that could be delivered in line with the Government’s Covid-19 guidance.
22. People using services were regularly assessed during the pandemic based on the
level of risk of harm or carer breakdown, crisis, or safeguarding issues. This meant
people could gradually return to services, starting with those in most need. This
process has continued and now 80% of people have returned to services.

111

23. Social distancing measures mean that most providers have reduced capacity, so
people may have returned for fewer sessions than were agreed in their original
support plan. Some providers have invested in additional space or accommodation to
enable them to accommodate most people and achieve social distancing. Since
restrictions have eased, there has been a significant shift away from the delivery of
distant or remote services with only a handful of providers offering this support, and
only 29 service users now receiving this type of support as service users prefer face
to face interaction and the social benefits of the service.
The Community Life Choices Framework
24. The current CLC Framework was designed to focus on promoting people’s
independence and ensure consistency and equity in service delivery. It is a closed
framework, which means no new providers have been able to join since it started in
January 2017.
25. A pricing structure was introduced, aligned to banding criteria, which are determined
by individual support needs. Spend on the Framework prior to Covid-19 averaged at
£111,000 per week. For a few weeks in 2020, at the height of the lockdown, the
weekly costs fell to £70,000 per week. Current Covid-19 restrictions have resulted in
more one-to-one support to enable access to services and as at the end of March
2021 costs were currently £100,000 per week. The actual total spend in 2020/21 was
£4.8m. This included an element of Covid-19 support for the providers to support
vaccinations and other issues. The budget allocated for 2021/22 is £5.8m.
26. The current Framework is separated into five lots:
LOT 1

LD

Learning Disability

LOT 2

PD

LOT 3

MH – aged 64 and under

Physical disability, sensory
impairment, acquired brain injury
Mental health and memory cognition

LOT 4

MH – aged 65 and over

Mental health and memory cognition

LOT 5

OP – aged 55 and over

Older people (all older individuals
with eligible needs)

27. At present there are 535 individuals who access CLC services through the
Framework, approximately 80% of whom are under the age of 65 and 73% having a
primary support need of learning disability. Further detail on the take-up of CLC
services are set out in the Appendix to this report.
28. In addition to the services procured through the Framework, an additional 422
individuals purchase day services via their Direct Payment.

112

Proposals for the Procurement of CLC Services
29. The Council needs to procure the new CLC service to the timescale below:






Draft Invitation to Tender (ITT)
Publish Invitation to Tender
Evaluations
Award and mobilisation
New service start date

by mid-July 2021
1 August 2021
6 September 2021 to 4 October 2021
5 October 2021 onwards
29 November 2021

30. Engagement with the market and stakeholders will continue until the end of June
2021 in order for the specification to be completed by early July. This will allow the
Invitation To tender (ITT) to be published by 1 August 2021. As part of the production
of the ITT further discussion will also take place with the market about the payment
model.
31. Considerable work has already been undertaken in preparation for the reprocurement of CLC services, including engagement with customers and providers
and identifying emerging gaps in the market, such as services for those with physical
disabilities and for those with mental health issues. People who use services have
highlighted the negative impact of social isolation during the Covid-19 pandemic and
their keenness to resume contact with their friends and to return to activities they
used to do.
32. Initial engagement has highlighted the need to widen the outcomes within the
Framework to include Carers and to offer greater flexibility as to when services are
available. It was suggested that introducing short courses to support the
development of specific skills that build independence and support employment and
volunteering would be beneficial. There was some concern from providers that they
would not be paid if the service user was absent at short notice as it was difficult to
reorganise rotas.
33. It is proposed that the Council takes a relatively light touch approach to the
procurement, prioritising any changes to the current specification to reflect key
lessons learned during the Covid-19 pandemic.
34. The key changes proposed are:
a)

To move to an open Framework - giving the Council the ability to re-open the
Framework whenever required to address issues such as unmet need or a
provider exiting the market.
The Covid-19 pandemic has helped the Council develop stronger links with
providers not on the current framework. There are currently 19 such providers
which actively engage with the Council and many of them have expressed
interest in joining a Framework.
An open framework would give newly established providers an opportunity to
join. It would offer greater choice to people who use the Council’s service and
more diversity in the market. The new Framework will have a series of prices for

113

the different types of services delivered (such as Zoom classes, 1:1 support,
group events, and so on).
b)

To offer a framework contract length of two years with an option to extend
for a further two years. This timescale will allow for detailed work towards the
design of the future service. This will ensure that the Council can incorporate
lessons learned from the experience of service delivery through the pandemic,
and for co-production on the shape of a new service model to be undertaken
with service users and the provider market.

c) To focus on four key outcomes for the CLC service:
 the development of skills and confidence for more independent living;
 maximising health and wellbeing;
 supporting carers’ health and wellbeing including facilitating access to
employment, education, and training;
 providing a choice as to when and where services are delivered.
d)

To meet current service gaps. Opportunities have been identified to develop
services for people with physical disabilities, those with profound and multiple
learning disabilities, people with autism, and those living with dementia. There
are particular areas of the County where greater choice could be developed in
service provision for working age adults, for example in Market Harborough and
Lutterworth. There have also been some service closures in the Melton area.

e)

To provide greater flexibility as to when and where services are delivered moving to a seven day and/or evening service for some types of provision, and to
reflect the delivery of virtual services where appropriate and agreed with the
service user.

f)

To develop specific short-term support geared towards enablement. This
will promote activities that will help enhance people’s independence. A more
flexible payment mechanism may be required to encourage providers to offer this
targeted short-term support.

g)

To increase the availability of Personal Assistants. There will be a separate
lot in the procurement to help develop and grow the market for Personal
Assistants (who help people with care and support needs to live independently
with personal care, household tasks etc).

h)

To simplify and streamline the contract monitoring framework - to ensure
that the Council only monitors data which evidences key outcomes of the service
and enables the voice of people who use services to be heard.

35. It is recognised that there is potential for more significant changes to be made to the
CLC service than those proposed for the upcoming procurement, in particular looking
at how the Council could move to an approach which focuses more closely on
outcomes for individuals. However, this work will require extensive engagement with
people who will use the services, their families and/or carers, and the market at large
to ensure that the service is effective and capacity sufficient. It is therefore proposed

114

that the service is comprehensively reviewed over the next two years.
In-house Provision
36. There are currently 112 people accessing in-house CLC services across 10 buildingbased services. Capacity to deliver in-house CLC services to their pre-pandemic
level has been severely limited due to Covid-19 restrictions and social distancing
requirements. Service user engagement has continued throughout this period but
the number of people accessing services can be summarised as follows:




29% of people returning to building-based services;
7% of people receiving outreach support at home;
64% of people receiving weekly welfare checks by telephone.

37. Over time the Council’s share of the CLC market has been steadily reducing.
Consideration is now being given to how best to use the resources available to the
Council to deliver the right outcomes for service users.
38. To that end the Council proposes focusing its in-house services on crisis care, short
term reablement and enablement, and support for carers through the delivery of a
responsive seven day a week service and ceasing the provision of long-term
maintenance CLC support.
39. The pandemic and the upcoming procurement of the CLC Framework have
expedited the need to consider alternative delivery methods and work is planned to
test the external market to establish whether capacity can be developed to meet the
needs of people who attend in-house CLC services. Consultation with all current inhouse CLC service users will also be needed as detailed below. It is expected that
this work will not be concluded by the time the new CLC Framework is live, but
flexibility to periodically open the Framework for new providers will accommodate the
proposed changes if these are agreed.
Proposed Consultation on changes to in-house services
40. It is proposed that a consultation exercise is undertaken with those who currently
access in-house CLC services on the premise of reducing and refocusing the existing
in-house service offer to a short term seven day responsive enablement/ reablement
CLC service from Short Breaks locations. It is intended that the consultation will run
from August to October 2021. It will seek to identify individual needs and outcomes
and use this data to contribute to the development of the new CLC Framework,
ensuring that the market can offer the type and range of services required to meet
needs and achieve outcomes for service users.
41. There are currently 112 people accessing in-house CLC services. Individual support
plan reviews would need to be completed to ensure that meaningful consultation can
take place. Advocacy support would be accessed as necessary for service users and
their families/carers to ensure that any barriers to engagement are managed.
42. The consultation proposals for the changes to in-house CLC service provision can be
summarised as follows:

115



To consult with current in-house CLC service users on the movement to
independent sector provision following the implementation of the new CLC
Framework;
To conduct reviews for those who currently use in-house CLC services to
establish the ongoing requirements for CLC provision;
To consult on reducing in-house CLC maintenance packages by transitioning
people using them to appropriate independent sector services.




43. The outcome of the consultation will provide information which will be used to shape
and develop the CLC market to ensure that it can provide innovative, customer
tailored service provision where necessary and ensure that there is sufficient
capacity to support the proposed transition of services.
44. Subject to service user feedback and the market being able to provide the type and
range of services required, a transitional period would enable the market to develop
and mobilise and help ensure the least disruption to in-house CLC service users. An
indicative timeline for this review and implementation if the proposed changes are
adopted is:





Review of needs
Consultation
Transition
Decommission/closure

May to August 2021
August to October 2021
from January 2022 onwards
from Spring 2022 onwards

45. Consultation will also be undertaken with the existing in-house CLC staff group. This
will be needed as the proposals seek to establish a responsive seven day service
and to align working arrangements with other direct care services delivered in-house.
Comments of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee
46. The Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report
regarding the procurement of Community Life Choices services at its meeting on 7
June 2021 in which it confirmed its support for the proposed way forward and the
potential for the Council to move to an approach focussed more closely on outcomes
for individuals in future years was particularly welcomed.
47. Following a question that was raised regarding proposals to redesign the future
service, the Committee noted the following:


Under the current framework individuals were assessed against the services
available but there was opportunity to develop a framework for future years that
was more outcomes focussed for the individual.



The Department intended to use the initial two-year contract framework period
proposed to undertake detailed work and engage with service users and
providers to inform any plans to re-design the service.



There would be an option to extend the two year contract framework for a further
two years should this be necessary.

116

Conclusions
48. The Cabinet is asked to agree that the Council goes out to procurement for the CLC
Framework on 1 August 2021, to have a new service in place by the end of
November 2021. As set out in paragraph 34 of this report, this re-procurement will
make improvements to the specification based upon the experiences of running
services during Covid-19 and utilise provider and service user feedback. The new
contract will run until November 2023, with the option to extend for another two
years.
49. During the contract lifetime significant work will take place to review the current CLC
service model, move towards an outcome-based approach and potentially shape the
market to meet the needs of service users of the internal CLC provision.
50. A further report be presented to the Cabinet in November 2021 on the outcome of the
consultation with regard to in-house service provision.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
51. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) screening has been
undertaken to establish what impacts the proposed changes may have on the cohort
of service users currently accessing in-house CLC services. The Department’s
Equalities Group agreed the conclusion that the recommendations should have a
neutral impact, but will need to be reviewed based on the outcome of consultation
and proposed way forward.
52. An updated EHRIA will be produced following the consultation and presented
alongside the Cabinet report proposals on the outcome of the consultation with
regard to in-house service provision.
Background papers


Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22



Delivering Wellbeing and opportunity in Leicestershire – Adults and Communities
Department Ambitions and Strategy for 2020-24



Report to Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 6 September
2016 - Community Life Choices Framework 2017-20 and Consultation on Future
Delivery
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1040&MId=4521&Ver=4



Report to the Cabinet 11 October 2016 – Community Life Choices Framework 2017-20
– Outcome of Consultation on Future Delivery
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4606&Ver=4



Report to Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 1 November
2016 - Community Life Choices Framework 2017-20 – Outcome of Consultation on
Future Delivery http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1040&MId=4936&Ver=4

117



Report to Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee –7 June 2021 –
Procurement of Community Life Choices Services
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1040&MId=6462

Appendix
An Analysis of Community Life Choices Provision

This page is intentionally left blank

119

Appendix
Analysis of Community Life Choices Provision
The Covid-19 pandemic has provided the opportunity to gather more data on
services delivered across Leicestershire during the daytime. This includes services
delivered through the County Council’s framework agreement and those delivered
through Direct Payments.
January 2021
Commissioning arrangement Number

Percentage

Framework provider

874 – managed
and Direct
Payment

83%

Non-Framework Provider

181

17%

Total services
commissioned

1055

(Note: individuals
supported will be less as
some people attend
multiple services)

Managed support

602

57%

Direct Payment

422

40%

Other funding arrangement

31

3%

In addition, there were 112 people supported by Leicestershire County Council
inhouse services (some of these people may also attend other CLC services).
Since the introduction of the new framework in 2016 the number of people supported
has reduced from 849 in 2015 to 723 in 2019. This reduction has continued through
the Covid-19 pandemic, at this point it is impossible to judge whether the numbers
supported will return to pre-Covid-19 levels.
Users of day services through the Framework and in-house services
Autumn 2015

March 2019

27 August
2020

12 May 2021

Aged 18-64

561

557

558

522

Aged 65+

288

166

144

127

Total

849

723

702

649

Total

120

June 2016 Data
Age 18-64

Age 65+

Total No. of
People
supported

7

64

71

Learning Disability

471

64

535

Physical Disability and
Sensory

74

148

222

Primary Category of Need

Mental Health

828

May 2021 Data
Age 18-64

Age 65+

Total No. of
People
supported

Mental Health

22

12

34

Learning Disability

434

42

476

Physical Disability and
Sensory

66

73

139

Primary Category of Need

649

The service has always been predominantly used by people with a learning disability
and proportion has increased since the introduction of the current framework. With
73% of people using the framework having a primary support need of Learning
Disability, compared with 65% in 2016.

121

Agenda Item 10

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE COMMERCIAL STRATEGY
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Cabinet on the performance of the
County Council’s Commercial Strategy, the progress of the Authority’s Traded
Services recovery from the implications of the Covid-19 restrictions and provide
detail of the intended future plans to further develop the Council’s commercial
approach.

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended that
a) The performance against targets in the Commercial Strategy during
2020/21 be noted;
b) The future development of the Commercial Strategy as outlined in this
report and the appended Leicestershire Traded Services Review and
Outlook for 2021/22 be welcomed.

Reasons for Recommendation
3.

The Annual Report on the Commercial Strategy outlines the progress that has
been made by the County Council (via the Leicestershire Traded Services) by
introducing a more commercial approach to ensure that trading income makes
an increasing and meaningful contribution to the Council’s budget.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
4.

The Scrutiny Commission considered the Annual Report on the Commercial
Strategy on 9 June 2021 and its comments will be shared with the Cabinet.

122

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
5.

With the continued financial pressure on the Council, the requirement to raise
additional revenue has been specifically included in the County Council’s
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the past few years.

6.

A Scrutiny Review Panel commenced a Review of Traded Services in June
2014, the findings of which were reported to the Cabinet on 19 November 2014.
The Cabinet accepted the recommendations of the Panel and asked the Chief
Executive to ensure that they were acted upon. These included further
development of the Council’s traded services, consolidation of the portfolio, and
establishing a dedicated marketing resource.

7.

The Strategy was subsequently approved by the Cabinet on 6 July 2018 which
further resolved that an Annual Report on performance against the Commercial
Strategy be submitted to the Cabinet and the Scrutiny Commission each June.

8.

An annual report was presented to the Scrutiny Commission and the Cabinet in
June 2019 when performance against targets was noted and future
developments welcomed. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic an annual report was
not presented during 2020. Instead, updates on the impact of the national and
local lockdowns on Leicestershire Traded Services was included within the
Council’s wider Covid-19 impact, response and recovery reports considered by
the Cabinet throughout the year.

Resource Implications
9. The overall financial result for Leicestershire Traded Services in 2020/21, was a
net spend of £39,000. This compares to a budget target of a net contribution of
£1,918,000, which was set in February 2020 before the Covid pandemic began.
As part of the long-term strategy to improve the profitability of Leicestershire
Traded Services (LTS) as part of the Commercial Strategy and Covid Recovery
Plans, action plans were implemented during the pandemic to reshape specific
business units within Catering and Hospitality. These had a one-off redundancy
cost of £100,000 and without this one-off cost, a net contribution of £61,000
was generated by LTS.
10. The MTFS contribution target for 2021/22 is £1.5m. Whilst recently there has
been a gradual lifting of the pandemic restrictions, they remained in place in the
early stages of 2021/22. There remains uncertainty about the timing of further
changes to restrictions and a risk of new Covid variants emerging both of which
could impact on the ability of LTS to deliver its target.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
11. None.

123

Officers to Contact
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Telephone: 0116 305 6199
Email:
chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
Neville Wilkinson, Head of Commercial Services, Corporate Resources Dept.
Telephone: 0116 305 5040
Email:
nev.wilkinson@leics.gov.uk

124

PART B
12. Given the scale of the financial challenges facing the Council it has, in recent
years, had to adopt a more commercial approach.
13. As a result, Leicestershire Traded Services (LTS) was established in 2016
which is made up of catering services, property services, the music service and
professional and business services including HR. Its customer base is
predominantly Schools and Academies.
14. To increase the pace of change and ensure that trading income makes a
meaningful contribution to the Council’s budget a step change in approach is
required and an outline Commercial Strategy was approved in June 2018.
Review of last year’s performance
15. The past year has been extremely challenging for LTS and trading activity has
been severely affected by the Covid pandemic. Restrictions were imposed
across the country to keep workers, customers and communities safe. These
included ‘stay at home’ orders being issued by the Government which
prevented all but essential travel, the closure of schools to all children except
for children of key workers, and varying degrees of social distancing.
16. This led to significant reductions in income in most areas of LTS which was
only partly offset by good cost control, support from the Government’s
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme and the Sales, Fees and Charges Income
Compensation Scheme.
17. The overall financial result for Leicestershire Traded Services in 2020/21 as
shown in the table below, was a net spend of £39,000. This compares to a
budget target of a net contribution of £1,918,000, which was set in February
2020 before the Covid pandemic began. As part of the long-term strategy to
improve the profitability of LTS as part of the Commercial Strategy and Covid
Recovery Plans, action alans were implemented during the pandemic to
reshape specific business units within Catering and Hospitality. These had a
one-off redundancy cost of £100,000 and without this one-off cost, a net
contribution of £61,000 was generated by LTS.

LTS Financial Performance 2020/21

LTS
Restructuring costs

Total LTS

Actual
(Surplus) / Cost
2020/21
£000
(61)
100

39

Budget
(Surplus) / Cost
Better / (worse)
2020/21
than budget
£000
£000
(1,918)
(1,857)
(100)

(1,918)

(1,957)

125

18. Across the trading units, Beaumanor Hall, cafes and the theatre closed during
the year, with cafes reopening when possible to provide a takeaway only
service. Leamis (Leicestershire Education Authority Management Information
Service), HR, Health and Safety and the Music Service rapidly changed to
online delivery to schools. This involved replacing face to face meetings with
virtual meetings with Head Teachers and School staff to provide HR and other
professional advice. The music service began online lessons, to classes in
schools when they returned, to individuals at home and online rehearsals and
performances. School food has had to adapt to schools opening and closing
whilst continuing to support vulnerable children and the children of key workers.
Meals in line with national nutritional standards were provided in schools for
vulnerable pupils and a small number of food parcels were provided at the start
of the spring term when schools were not allowed to reopen. These were
subsequently replaced by the national voucher scheme. The service also
established and administrated a Free School Meal Voucher scheme through
the school holidays. Property Services continued to operate, providing
additional support across the County Council estate as well as additional
cleaning and alterations in schools.
Future plans for recovery and growth
19. Across LTS there will be a new focus on re-modelling the businesses to make
them stronger and more sustainable. Some of the key areas of work planned
for the coming year are set out below:
i.

The implementation of revised operating models introduced in
Beaumanor Hall, the cafes and the County Hall Food Court aimed at
reducing costs and focussing on the most profitable activities. Opening
hours have been reviewed and will be amended in line with footfall,
seasons, and events on an ongoing basis.

ii.

The growth of School Food, building on the additional £1.2m worth of
business recently secured.

iii.

Once the improvement works are completed at the Century Theatre this
will be reopened and, combined with the new café, new packages of
entertainment and dining developed.

iv.

Work will be undertaken with colleagues in Heritage to join up across
various attractions to create more holistic visitor experiences and events
and to develop new income streams. This will include holding events in
Country Parks and the opening of cafes on summer evenings.

v.

Finance and operations support to be reviewed with opportunities to
automate and digitise back office services explored where it can be
ensured these will improve processes and systems where required.

vi.

In Peoples Services, focus will continue to be given to the provision of a
digital offer for both current and prospective customers, and new

126

business via national frameworks will be sought, as will opportunities to
diversify into other markets.
vii.

Redefining the Central Print Service and increasing sales in Hard FM
(construction and development services), compliance services and
advice re building safety and Sites Development (minor building works,
grounds maintenance and landscaping).

viii.

The production of detailed operational Business Plans for all operating
areas with detailed financial targets and clear operating parameters
which will support and control costs and risks, as well as ensuring
greater profitability. These will be monitored in a new Monthly Review
process.

ix.

Driving improvements in customer service including the introduction of
regular digital customer satisfaction surveys across all areas and
increased communication with customers.

x.

Continuing the digital first digital marketing strategy, introducing new
software and segmenting markets and audiences to ensure the right
customers are reached.

xi.

The Service will continue to look for opportunities across the County
Council in line with the Corporate Commercial Strategy 2018 - 2022 to
support the delivery of the MTFS.

20. Further details of the activity over the past year and future plans are provided in
the appendix to this report.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
21. There are no equality or human rights implications arising directly from this
report.
Background Papers
Report to the Scrutiny Commission – 9 June 2021 – Annual Report on the
Commercial Strategy
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6376&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet – 6 July 2018 - Outline Commercial Strategy and Workplan
2018-2022
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5412&Ver=4
Appendix
LTS review and outlook for 2021/22

127
Appendix

LTS review and outlook for 2021/22
School Food
Reflecting on last year’s performance:
Throughout 2020/21 LTS Catering School Food continued to provide all our
customers with catering services in what were very challenging and difficult
circumstances. Ultimately, from a financial perspective the impact on income was
significant but with support from customers in respect of supplier relief payments,
furlough claims, very active control of food and labour costs and access to sales/fees
and compensation the year ended with a £136k surplus. Our teams ensured
vulnerable and key worker children were catered for and some volunteered to be
seconded to the NHS to support the overall Covid response. The team also provided
support corporately in providing food parcels for vulnerable shielding residents
across the County.
Our business development opportunities were limited, as many schools/academies
delayed or shelved their ambitions to put catering contracts out to the market and
this ultimately influenced our ability to meet the required budgetary levels of
contribution required. An opportunity to tender for 15 sites in Luton did arise and
after significant due diligence on the size of the schools, no of pupils eligible for FSM
and mitigation of any risks including financial loss, we submitted a bid and our tender
was successful, adding additional income worth £1.2m per year with an acceptable
margin.
Other significant highlights:
Retained Gold Food for Life accreditation - reinforcing our quality food provision
Won a national training award through LACA in September 2020 – for the dedication
in workforce training and apprenticeships.

Challenges:
Variations to contract specification and the delivery of services challenged our
resolve and impacted greatly on our levels of profitability and productivity due to the
diverse requests from customers.
Whilst ensuring all of our customers’ requests were met, the situation did further
prompt our need to amend our contract specification and reduce our commercial
risk,, changes now support guaranteeing income at times when services are greatly
affected.
Although a challenge – School Food embraced the new ‘virtual’ world and have
reviewed, developed, and implemented new processes and procedures that will
certainly drive our productivity in 21/22.
The National Living Wage adds c500K to our labour costs every year. This will be
mitigated by a new business target of 20 new contracts will offset some of this cost,

128
Appendix
along with meal price and fixed cost increases, as well as very tight control on labour
and food costs.
MAT’s that are current customers, continue to be a significant challenge as they
seek to re tender and consolidate suppliers, but this is also an opportunity to develop
and refine cost effective catering ‘packages’ that provide a ‘MAT deal’
Tendering for new business via procurement portals remains a real challenge to us.
This market is very competitive, and our labour costs are very high in comparison to
some of the private contractors.
Our ‘visual’ presence and marketing strategy will be reviewed to capitalise on our
USP’s in the market through social media.

Looking forward to this year:
It is hoped that from Sept 2021 schools will be in a position to return to normal
service provision and our levels of productivity will return along with a sustained level
of meal uptake.
A new menu will be introduced and further support to schools to drive profit share
incentives to secure longer contracts for the service.
An increase of 5% on fixed costs from April for all new contract renewals and a meal
price increase of 5p from Sept will bring further income generation.
Contract specifications have been re-drafted and reviewed by external commercial
solicitors to ensure that they will provide more ‘security’ in terms of guaranteed
payments in the future.
New business opportunities postponed last year will present themselves and in
conjunction with finance business partners a new pricing model will be developed
with the aim of securing more new business.

Professional & Business Services (PBS) Overview
Reflecting on last year’s performance
The whole of PBS rose to the challenges of the pandemic to ensure Service Level
Agreements could be delivered remotely, using technologies to host events, develop
an eLearning training service, support other services to utilise the technology of LTS
online for training, SLAs and invoices, delivering a tight schedule of DfE Laptops for
vulnerable students, assist I&T with the overwhelming number of technical calls,
deliver financial support service remotely, gained accreditation in supporting an
alternative MIS to SIMS, learnt and rolled out across the team a ‘cloud based’
service desk tool within two weeks of lockdown, all whilst maintaining a ‘business as
usual’
service,
receiving
many
compliments
from
customers.

129
Appendix

Challenges

Cloud Management Information Systems (MIS) remains a challenge in particular the
target market is Multi Academy Trusts as there is a need for trust wide analysis of
key data. As a result, LEAMIS have lost contracts with some schools to cloud
systems. MATs are growing and remain a threat to business when moving to a cloud
system obtaining support direct from supplier.
To try and combat this loss of business Leamis now supports 3 different MIS
suppliers, which will put the service in a better position for customer retention. In
addition, the team are carrying vacancies, which weren’t filled during the lockdown
period, there is now an increase in demand for new business and the posts will be
filled to deliver the necessary services.
Looking forward to this year
The 2020/21 service level agreement will see Professional and Business Services
(PBS) diversify to deliver more online webinars to targeted groups of uses, improving
their skills set, sharing best practice and keeping up to date with the current move in
legislation with exams ie: Webinars are being held for Data managers, Exam
Officers, and new this year will be financial and technical webinars. This provides an
opportunity to ensure communication with customers can help them access relevant
and up-to-date guidance via LTS Online, get to know what their vision is, what they
need, what they want.
Leamis provides cost effective products and services to schools and academies and
now includes support for a new digital cloud service to enhance teaching and
learning, parental engagement, reduce paper costs, reduce impact on the
environment, meet the digital agenda and help improve better outcomes for pupils in
Leicestershire.
PBS will continue to work in partnership with internal services to help remodel and
deliver an effective budget management service to enhance the School Financial
Services. The technical services are working closely with suppliers to deliver full use
of ‘google in the classroom’. Leamis are also working with suppliers to market our
secure remote backup service to help our customers grow in confidence with their
use of technology and peace of mind using our acclaimed backup service. Cyber
security remains a threat to data in schools, therefore Leamis is currently contacting
all our customers regarding their data backup options, this will include marketing the
service to new customers including nursery sector and private establishments.

People Services (HR, H&S and L&D) Overview

130
Appendix
Reflecting on last year’s performance
The previous year has been unprecedented due to the impact of the pandemic.
However, despite this, much of our work has continued both from a customer facing
service perspective and a back office one. Over the last year HR and H&S service
level agreements have been added to LTS online. This has allowed our customers
to renew their Service Level Agreements (SLAs) and purchase additional services
directly. It has also contributed overall to the Council’s and trading services digital
agenda and as had a positive impact as the SLAs are now more transparent, refined,
easier to understand and more importantly, purchasable.
New cost-effective packages and services have been offered through a new digital
approach including a number of our training offers. This has provided customers
with a wider choice to meet their business needs. Despite the impact of Covid
customers have been retained and contributed in excess of c.£120k profit across the
three distinct areas within People Services.
Challenges
Covid has inevitably had an impact on service delivery, in particular the challenge of
how to provide services remotely. Service delivery has been adapted to digital
wherever possible and this has enabled most of the services provided as part of the
SLA’s to continue.
One of the key challenges for Health and Safety was the impact Covid placed upon
the risk assessment process and workplace activities including audits, training, and
site visits. A continued area of challenge for HR is the growth of multi academy
trusts, where they centralise the ‘back-office’ services and appoint their own in-house
specialists.
Budgets continue to be stretched for our customers so in order to retain their
business HR have promoted a loyalty discount for customers that buy into a multiple
year SLA. This has proven popular, in particular with Multi Academy Trusts.
Looking forward to this year
Following the successful appointment of an Adviser to the Learning & Development
team a traded service offer has been developed and although it is early days this is
already starting to generate additional income.
HR and H and S are committed to becoming part of the framework supporting the
DfE’s ‘buying for schools’ initiative being launched nationally this Autumn. The focus
on the provision of a digital offer for both current and prospective customers will
continue, as well as scoping our service offer to meet national needs, to be met
through the offer of cost effective products and services.

131
Appendix
Diversification of our customer base through the active marketing of our services and
products beyond the education sector is key. To achieve this, Peoples Services will
continue to be proactive understanding both current and new customers’
requirements. Our services and products are flexible enough to respond to their
business requirements in an ever-changing world of business priorities.

Operational Property Service (OPS) & Facilities Management (FM) overview
Reflecting on last year’s performance
Within a challenging year, all OPS teams have been operational during all lockdowns
over the last 12 months. There has been some significant growth in contribution
against trend from traded, “Soft FM” services including Cleaning & Ground
Maintenance Services, Premises Support Services, Furniture Moves & Logistics
Services. This has been achieved through securing additional clients and winning
contracts and responding to COVID related initiatives.
“Soft FM” achieved an 23% increase in contribution from the 19/20 figure of £225k.
The Traded Premises Support team achieved a 60% increase in contribution from
19/20.
The Furniture & Logistic Team out turned 36% above 20/21 target, a 116% increase
on 19/20
Hard FM achieved a £72k contribution against a £66k cost in 19/20.
Challenges in 2020-21
Facilities tender opportunities reduced considerably this year with many potential bid
opportunities being delayed during the pandemic.
The team were still able to tender for 24 bids for new contracts and achieved a
37.5% success rate by winning 9 of the tenders submitted. The team were
successful in securing a 5-year contract for Stratford-on-Avon DC Building Cleaning.
The LTS Print Service and Sites Development team have been heavily impacted by
COVID restrictions, with clients suspending operations and reducing the volume of
orders.
The Print team have supported other teams and frontline efforts against COVID with
the distribution of PPE and the manufacture of COVID related signage. They have
successfully tendered and won a place as a print services framework supplier for
UCL, London.
The impact on all traded services has been mitigated by staff being redeployed to
support other service areas where staff may be shielding or dealing with increased

132
Appendix
workload on frontline services due to the pandemic. Financial impacts on affected
services have been mitigated by Individuals being furloughed or part-furloughed
aligned to levels of traded business activity which has fluctuated during the various
Government restrictions.

Looking forward 2021 - 22
The Central Print Service will be redefined to align with new ways of working that
LCC will be adopting going forward. This presents challenges with an increase
reliance on digital resources to support home and remote working, but potential
opportunity, with virtual mail and remote postal operations requiring printing resource
to deliver this effectively. It is hoped that this, supported by the new bid and tender
resource, will inform and shape the new LTS Print Service operating model for the
future.
New marketing materials have been developed for the Hard FM, compliance
services and external site landscaping services which will ensure a pipeline of work
is maintained. The Sites Development Team already have a pipeline of summer
works amounting to £350k.
Hospitality and leisure overview
Reflecting on last year’s performance
Working through covid conditions the Hospitality and Event sector was closed from
March 2020 only having the country park cafés and county hall catering operating on
a low-level staffing and catering offer.
As the event side of the business closed along with all attractions the cafes, in
particular the Beacon Café excelled in footfall and higher sales.
Colliery Café was successfully opened within the Snibston Discovery Park in
December 2020 footfall and interest is gathering, and plans are underway to work
with all departments involved to expand and promote the site once possible.
County Hall catering has not closed over this period and changed offers in line with
the customers’ requirements, from retail/shop to hot and cold offers, open 5 days a
week for the staff that are still working within County Hall.
Nearly of Beaumanor Hall staff have been redeployed to different departments within
the council to support services that have been running throughout this period.
Beaumanor Park also closed in line with government guidelines and interest is high
for returning schools.

133
Appendix
Demand for private hire for the Hall is high for the rest of 2021 onwards with dates
filling up fast, The Business Development Manager is carrying out 2-3 show rounds a
day for Parties and Weddings.
The shutdown period has given time to review the offers and staffing structure to
deliver all packages. Beaumanor Hall is due to re-open from the 21st June with a 3month planner of events in line with confirmed private hire bookings.

Challenges
One of the main challenges this year within the hospitality sector and educational
side of the business is the changing government guidelines to plan a recovery
roadmap to re-open sites and services.
The success of Beacon Hill café means that there needs to be a review of the
equipment in the Café as it wasn’t designed to deliver the footfall of trade and will not
be able to maintain customer expectations. Some investment may be required to
support and grow the business.
Competition for customers in the café’s will be intense in the coming year as the
sector reopens and as people go back to doing the activities they used to before
restrictions.
Providing hospitality events and educational visits in a Covid safe manner will be a
challenge and may affect capacity and profitability.

Looking forward to this year
In order to achieve growth suitable opportunities will be tendered for when they arise.
A review on all prices of services and catering offers will be undertaken for all outlets
in line with the customer base.
There will be a focus on marketing the Colliery Café along with the whole Snibston
site to raise awareness and gain footfall.
As all the sites start to reopen, joint working with colleagues across all sites to create
a joined-up working structure for all site’s e.g. running joint events, offering packed
lunches for educational visitors to heritage centres, children’s birthday parties.
Tap into different income streams, pop up markets, farmers markets, support local
independent businesses as restrictions start to lift.

Leicester-Shire Schools Music Service
Reflecting on last year’s performance

134
Appendix
On April 20th, 2020 the Leicester-Shire Schools Music Service launched a new
structure in the middle of lockdown. A successful series of online activity and
innovative school and home learning packages has been developed. This includes a
series of activities for pupils and their families streaming live on our YouTube
channel from 3.30pm every weekday, the sessions aim to help young people
continue to engage in music making while learning at home. Within the first few days
of running the videos had more than 1,750 views and as the programme went on,
more parents and teachers got involved. A teacher at a local Primary School, said:
“A huge thank you to everyone working extremely hard to provide these wonderful
music resources for our students! The students are engaging really well with the
resources being provided by LSMS.”
The Century Theatre was successful in obtaining the full amount (£250k) from the
Culture Recovery Fund which helped to sustain the theatre’s future and allowed for
promotion of CT Academy – performing arts classes.
Our new partnership with Royal Birmingham Conservatoire and Julian Lloyd Webber
(our new patron) kicked off with ‘Soundtrack to Leicestershire’ a composition
competition judged by Segun Akinola composer of the Dr Who soundtrack for BBC.
Winning entries appeared on the LSMS website / social media and also featured in
the ‘Leics Make Music’ first online festival on Tues 14th July 2020.
‘Leics Make Music’ – LSMS’ first online Music Festival were created and curated
with young people involving schools, performance groups, bands, producers and
professional Headline acts (Leicestershire alumni) to provide aspiration / inspiration.
The LSMS Youth Ambassadors were heavily involved in setting up the Festivals
(July and December).
‘A Million Dream’s - Virtual choir launched 4th June 2020 with Mark de-Lisser. Mark
worked with a large number of Leicestershire schools. Over 550 young people have
registered to take part and the finished performance headlined the LSMS Leics Make
Music festival. Online resources and support packs created to support schools and
pupils to develop their singing.
LSMS Performance Groups have been meeting regularly online working with staff,
hub partners, youth ambassadors and the Hub Executive Board to reshape our
vision and values.

Challenges
Rebuilding our core offer after the pandemic the service needs to be more flexible
about the kind of services that are offered. There has been a decline in numbers
attending the central ensembles online and in schools offering whole class music
teaching. A key challenge is to make the offer more inclusive and have set a target
to increase participation of young people from Leicester and Leicestershire in
activities funded by LSMS & the Hub to 20%, of which 25% should be from
disadvantaged backgrounds.

135
Appendix

Looking forward to this year
The publication of a new (non-statutory) Music Model Curriculum for primary and
secondary schools was launched by the DfE on March 26th 2021 has raised the
status of music education in schools and given us an opportunity to develop our
professional development offer to schools. A researcher working on a documentary
about Sir Michael Tippett (ex Leicestershire Schools’ Symphony Orchestra
conductor) is working with alumni from the LSSO gathering memories of the
orchestra. This will be used to inspire the next generation and consider the works of
Sir Michael Tippet with the current LSSO.
Girl Guide Music Badge – The Music Service is working with the Guide Association
on a badge. Details have been sent out on the Guide Leaders Bulletin and via our
social media
Make Your Own Kind of Music - A new virtual singing project from Leicester-Shire
Schools Music Service for everyone – individuals, schools, choirs, community
Groups etc – also includes Signing
Grime Opera Chorus - LSMS partnering with our partners Pedestrian and Charanga
to put on an online performance of Here and Now, from Max Wheeler's Grime Opera
- for all singers aged 12-18
Leics Make Music After School – An online music club starting 20th April - a fun way
for children to get involved with music at home. Designed specifically for KS2
children in years 3 – 6 are proving popular.
The Century Theatre will be reopening with the upgraded lighting and ventilation
funded by the Arts Council Cultural Recovery Grant.
Marketing Overview
Reflection
2020/21 was turbulent for many services in the LTS portfolio. Marketing to get new
business and securing contracts became a bigger challenge than ever before and
pressure on resources was high. Despite the setbacks, there were huge triumphs as
our digital-first approach carried the sectors forward, giving them the opportunity to
bounce back stronger with the support of clients and the public. Media coverage
naturally dipped with just 47 articles being published throughout the year on LTS,
Heritage, Leisure and Country Parks. Although media took a bit of hit with local
headlines on the pandemic leading the competition for the spotlight, there was rapid
growth in social media following and engagement, notably the Colliery Café. After
opening only in December 2020, the newly built Facebook channel gained more than
500 likes/follows in under four months. Country Parks visitor numbers tripled in some
parks, having a significantly positive effect on the operations and outputs of the three
cafes – Beacon Hill Café, Colliery Café and 1485 Tithe Barn. With the recovery of

136
Appendix
sectors came government funding. The Century Theatre was successful in obtaining
the full amount (£250k) from the Culture Recovery Fund which helped to sustain the
theatre’s future and allowed for promotion of CT Academy – performing arts classes.
There has been shared learning across all sites with digital activities and outdoors
activities maximised. Outdoor hunts, colouring in sheets, online quizzes, baking at
home, school food recipes, personalised messages from acts and performers all
formed part of the rolling social media strategy – to keep people involved until they
could be welcomed them back properly. The success of services who adapted and
shifted to support schools was highlighted – packaging positive media stories to
highlight how those eligible for Free School Meals were supported when schools
were closed and provided reactive and responsive statements as Marcus Rashford
fought for better school food provision. For the first time in four years, LTS did not
attend trade shows and instead scrutinised how to continue to stay in touch with
existing and potential clients through direct mail. Customer engagement increased
significantly, and there was a shift in the way people wanted to access information.
Technology evolved to support the UK workforce and people were spending more
time online than ever before. Snibston Colliery Park was opened successfully,
complete with bike trails and identified a phased approach to marketing activity that
would allow to promote each of park’s elements when the time was right for the
industry. There was also our first ever crowdfunding operation raising £60k for the
Watermead Memorial Walk.

Looking forward
2021/22 will be a focus on stabilising and recovering the services that have been
dramatically hit by the pandemic. Customers will be kept informed by ensuring email
marketing lists are up to date and reflective of current offers. Adopting teaser
campaigns, prize draws and offers will set us apart as in competitive markets –
especially hospitality and education support services. Collaborative offers will be
developed that make use of our spaces, venues and attractions – specifically looking
at promoting private hire and photoshoot/film destinations. Working with colleagues
in BI, research will be undertaken to understand how customers behaved during the
pandemic and how they’re likely to behave going forward. The data, insight and
feedback gathered will underpin activity and selected methods of marketing. From
the offset, LTS will be looking to reposition ourselves in the media marketplace –
packaging stories for local press and seeking out headline successes for regional
and trade press. As part of this, PR opportunities will be sought out , packaging
stories and shattering content to ensure the best use of media connections and
resource available Ultimately the pandemic brought services closer together and
LTS will continue to develop cross-selling products and services that highlight the
offer.

137
Appendix

Business Intelligence overview 2020/21
In the past year the Business Intelligence Service has continued to provide
commercial research and insight support to services across LTS and the Council’s
wider commercial programme. Access to valuable learning from existing data and
new data from customers has been achieved via a range of approaches including
customer engagement activities and data analysis. For example, Google Analytics
dashboards for a range of sites (e.g. Beaumanor Hall) provide insights into online
customers, including their demographic profile and online behaviour. Tailored
customer engagement activities have helped to shape future service strategies. For
example, an online forum and survey for the Music Service gathered feedback from
young people and other stakeholders to inform future service planning.
Implementation has also started on ServMetric, a collaborative platform to
automatically gather, measure and report on customer feedback across a range of
services and via a range of channels including email, telephone and web.
During the year there has also been a focus on helping to find new business and
customers. For example, interactive dashboards have been developed to provide
ongoing information regarding tender opportunities and competitor intelligence for
school food and human resources. Literature and online research have also
contributed to business development, for example horizon scanning and research
into school food performance at other local authorities have helped to secure new
contracts (e.g. Luton) and indicate further areas for investigation. Other examples
include identifying new-build schools due to open and researching additional markets
for Strategic Human Resources.
Support for the wider commercial agenda has included research and analysis
projects related to a range of services, for example adult learning, commissioning,
procurement and Extra Care.
The coronavirus pandemic has created many new challenges, including changing
priorities and remote project management. However, it has also presented an
opportunity to provide both pro- and re-active busines intelligence support.
Examples include research on the impact of the pandemic on school food and the
outdoor education sector. An interactive dashboard summarising the impact of
coronavirus on other local authority traded services has also been developed.
Support directly linked to the pandemic is ongoing, with customer feedback projects

138
Appendix
taking place to gather valuable insights on past, current and future service delivery
across traded services.
Going forward there are many opportunities to build on existing research support and
further contribute to the Council’s commercial strategy. This includes identifying and
making best use of new and existing intelligence, for example analysing customer
data and feedback related to the development of the eLearning offer by various
services including Leamis and Governor Support and Development. Advances in
business intelligence, for example Tableau software developments will also enable
new and innovative approaches to providing research support for the commercial
agenda.

Financial Performance

LTS Financial Performance 2020/21

LTS
Restructuring costs

Total LTS

Actual
(Surplus) / Cost
2020/21
£000
(61)
100

39

Budget
(Surplus) / Cost
Better / (worse)
2020/21
than budget
£000
£000
(1,918)
(1,857)
(100)

(1,918)

(1,957)

The overall result for LTS in 2020/21 is a net spend of £39k. This compares to the
budget target of a net contribution of £1,918k, which was set before the Covid
pandemic. As part of the long term strategy to improve the profitability of LTS, Action
Plans were implemented during the pandemic to reshape specific business units
within Catering and Hospitality. These had a one of cost of £100k and without this
one off cost, a contribution of £61k was generated by LTS.
The trading nature of LTS’ operations were significantly affected by the restrictions
imposed across the country in response to the pandemic. These were essential in
keeping staff, customers and communities safe and the following occurred:
-

Several instances of national lockdowns, where a ‘stay at home’ order was
issued for all except essential travel
Several instances of local lockdowns, which affected districts of Leicestershire
and Leicester City to varying degrees at different points in the year
Closure of schools to all children except for children of key workers
Social distancing measures, which required the full or partial closure of some
hospitality businesses
Customers prioritising their response to the pandemic and changing
restrictions over development or other activity

139
Appendix
This led to significant reductions in income in most areas of LTS which was only
partly offset by cost control, support from the Government’s Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme and the Sales, Fees and Charges Income Compensation
Scheme.

LTS Financial Performance 2020/21
Actual
(Surplus) / Cost
2020/21
£000

Budget
(Surplus) / Cost
Better / (worse)
2020/21
than budget
£000
£000

Commercialism
Leisure & Hospitality
Education Catering
Beaumanor
LTS Catering

253
(136)
226
343

72
(981)
(200)
(1,109)

(181)
(845)
(426)
(1,452)

Music Service
LTS Professional Services
LTS Infrastructure

(713)
253

(765)
229

(52)
(24)

Total Commercialism

(117)

(1,645)

(1,528)

72
509
(426)
1

(5)
401
(404)
(77)

(77)
(108)
22
(78)

156

(85)

(241)

-

(187)

(187)

39

(1,918)

(1,957)

Corporate Services & Operational Property
Parks & Forestry
Hard FM
Soft FM
Print

LTS Property Services
Unallocated target

Total LTS

Catering was the division most significant affected by the pandemic within LTS.
Educational catering (‘school food’) saw revenue fall to £11.4m compared to a
budget of £17.7m. Schools closed to all children except for those of key workers
from March 2020 – June 2020, with some reopening for a small number of year
groups in June/July before the summer vacation period. Most schools started a
phased return in the Autumn but a second national lockdown took place between
January 2021 and March 2021. This was in addition to any school or class level
isolations which took place throughout. In this challenging environment Educational
catering was still able to generate a contribution of £136k.
Leisure and Hospitality operated throughout the pandemic, although for most of
the year this was only allowed on a takeaway basis, or using outside spaces. High
levels of fixed costs gave limited ability to scale down in the short term to
compensate for the reduced demand, although the structure does mean the

140
Appendix
businesses have been able to quickly respond as restriction start to ease. The
restrictions left Beaumanor unable to host events at the hall, or host schools in the
outdoor spaces.
Other areas were affected to a much lessor extent.

Looking ahead to 2021/22, whilst there has been the gradual lifting of restrictions
from Spring 2021, restrictions remain in place which impact LTS. Only in May were
cafes allowed to open their indoor space and the current guidance from the
Government estimates that further restrictions will be lifted no earlier than late June,
which could be the earliest date Beaumanor hall could open. Fortunately, the
restrictions have not been materially affecting school opening thus far although with
the risk of further variants this remains a risk which is being monitored. As a result of
the above, and the uncertainty, 2021/22 is being seen as a recovery year.
Performance in terms of Profit and Loss against the Budget, Customer satisfaction
and footfall will be monitored on a weekly basis with formal monthly reviews by the
Assistant Director, IT, Communications and Commercial.

141

Agenda Item 11

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2020/21
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
PART A
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the action taken and the
performance achieved in respect of the treasury management activities of the
Council in 2020/21.

Recommendation
2.

The Cabinet is asked to note this report.

Reason for Recommendation
3.

The Authority’s full adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice for treasury management
requires an annual report on Treasury Management activity and performance to be
considered by both the Cabinet and the Corporate Governance Committee before
the end of September each year.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
4.

Under the CIPFA Code of Practice it is necessary to report on treasury management
activities undertaken in 2020/21 by the end of September 2021.

5.

The Corporate Governance Committee considered the matter at its meeting on 4
June 2021.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
6.

The Authority adopted the revised CIPFA Code of Practice for treasury management
in February 2010. Treasury management issues are now reported to either the
Corporate Governance Committee or the Cabinet. Approval of the Annual Treasury
Management Strategy remains the responsibility of the County Council which it
considers as part of the MTFS each year.

142
Resource Implications
7.

Treasury management is an integral part of the Council’s Finances. Interest of £3.1m
was generated through treasury management activities and interest paid on external
debts was £15.2m.

Circulation under the local Issues Alert procedure
8.

None.

Officers to Contact
Mr Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,
Corporate Resources Department,
0116 305 6199 E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Mr Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Property),
Corporate Resources Department,
0116 305 7668 E-mail Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk

143
PART B
Background
9.

The term treasury management is defined as: “The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking,
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent
with those risks”.

10. The Director of Corporate Resources is responsible for carrying out treasury
management on behalf of the County Council, under guidelines agreed annually by
the County Council.
Treasury Management 2020/21
11. The Treasury Management Policy Statement for 2020/21 was agreed by the full
Council on 19 February 2020, in relation to the sources and methods of borrowing
and approved organisations for lending temporarily surplus funds.
12. The criteria for lending to Banks are derived from the list of approved counter parties
provided by the County Council’s Treasury Management advisors, Link Asset
Services. The list is amended to reduce the risk to the County Council by removing
the lowest rated counterparties and reducing the maximum loan duration.
13. During the year all outstanding loans were repaid on time with the interest due.
14. For local authority lending the policy is unchanged with no loans permitted in excess
of 12 months duration or £10 million in value. In 2019, Moody’s, one of the world’s
best-known credit rating agencies, re-affirmed its view that the UK local government
sector has a high credit quality. The implication being that the sector continues to be
a good risk for lenders. There were no new loans made to Local Authorities during
the year.
15. In 2016 it was agreed that any counterparty that was downgraded whilst a loan was
active, and where the unexpired period of the loan or the amount on loan would then
breach the limit at which a new loan could be made to that counterparty, would be
included in the quarterly treasury management report to the Corporate Governance
Committee. There was only one such incident during 2019/20. On 20 October 2020,
following a ratings downgrade from Moody’s, Link asset services reduced the
suggested lending duration of Lloyds (Bank of Scotland) from 12 months to 6
months. As at 30 September 2020 the Council had £40m of exposure to Lloyds and
£20m of this will not mature until September 2021 meaning this is now outside of the
authorised lending duration.
16. The expectation for interest rates within the treasury management strategy for
2020/21 was that Bank Rate would continue at the start of the year at 0.75% before
rising to end 2022/23 at 1.25%. This forecast was invalidated by the Covid-19
pandemic which caused the Monetary Policy Committee to cut Bank Rate in March
2020, first to 0.25% and then to 0.10%, in order to counter the hugely negative
impact of the national lockdown on large swathes of the economy.

144
17. The Bank of England and the Government also introduced new programmes of
supplying the banking system and the economy with significant amounts of cheap
credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to survive the lockdown. The
Government also supplied significant amounts of finance to local authorities to pass
on to businesses. This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity
in financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect
that investment earnings rates plummeted.
18. While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in terms
of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the financial
crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for financial institutions,
with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how institutions are now far more
able to cope with extreme stressed market and economic conditions.
19. On the debt portfolio, no new loans were taken. A total of £0.5m was repaid in the
year which was in respect of three equal instalments of principal loans, thereby
reducing the overall balance of the loan portfolio.
20. The Authority has not raised any external loans since August 2010 and external debt
is around £100m lower than it was at its peak in November 2006. The MTFS 202125 capital programme includes a funding requirement of £143m to be funded from
borrowing. However, due to the strength of the County Council’s balance sheet, it is
expected to be possible to use internal balances to fund this on a temporary basis
instead of raising new loans.
Position at 31 March 2021
21. The Council’s external debt position at the beginning and end of the year was as
follows: 31 March 2020
Principal

31 March 2021

Average

Average

Rate

Life

Principal

Average

Average

Rate

Life

Fixed Rate
Funding
- PWLB

£160.1m

6.77%

30 yrs

£159.6m

6.77%

30 yrs

-Market

£

n/a

n/a

£

n/a

n/a

0.0m

0.0m

Variable Rate
Funding:
- Market (1)

£103.5m

4.37%

1 yr

£103.5m

4.37%

1 yr

Total Debt

£263.6m

5.83%

20 yrs

£263.1m

5.83%

20 yrs

(1) The lenders all have an option to increase the rates payable on these loans on certain pre-set dates, and if
they exercise this option we can either repay or accept the higher rate. The average life is based on the next
option date.

145
22. The position in respect of investments varies throughout the year as it depends on
large inflows and outflows of cash. Over the course of the year the loan portfolio
(which includes cash managed on behalf of schools with devolved banking
arrangements) varied between £239m and £312m and averaged £275m.
Investments as at 31 March 2021 were £308m.
Debt Transactions
23. The Council began the financial year £25.1m over-borrowed compared with the
amount required to fund the historic capital programme - the Capital Financing
Requirement.
24. Although the term over borrowed suggests an unusual situation it is simply caused by
the County Council setting aside money each year so that when loans become due
they can be repaid. Historically this situation did not arise because new borrowing
was undertaken each year. For the last ten years there has been no requirement to
borrow to fund the capital programme (which leads to debt financing costs that fall on
the revenue budget), and also the Government’s change a number of years ago to
award grants to fund the capital programme rather than the previous approach of
supported borrowing. Ideally the situation would be remedied by repaying loans
early. However, given the large penalties that would be incurred from early
repayment the position is unlikely to change unless long-term interest rates rise
significantly.
25. It is expected that the overborrowed position will reverse due to the requirement to
fund the new capital programme for 2021-25. As mentioned in paragraph 20 there is
a shortfall of £143m on the funding for the programme and due to the level of cash
balances held it is expected that the additional funding requirement will be funded
internally without raising any new external debt.
26. At the end of the financial year, after the repayment of debt and setting aside funding
for the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) - (£6.2m) to ensure that loans raised to
finance capital expenditure are paid off over the longer term, the Council was £31m
over-borrowed.
27. The lack of opportunity to reduce the debt portfolio because of historic stagnant
interest rates makes the punitive redemption costs prohibitive. The debt portfolio
stands at £263.1m and the average pool rate 5.83%.
28. Debt repayments of £0.5m were made during the year meaning that the average pool
rate was stagnant.
Investments
29. The loan portfolio produced an average return of 0.40% in 2020/21, compared to an
average base rate of 0.10% and the average 7-day LIBID (London Interbank Bid
Rate) index (representative of what could be achieved if only short-term loans within
the money market were made) of -0.07%.
30. The loan portfolio has outperformed both the average base rate and the average 7day LIBID in every one of the last 5 years. The average rate of interest earned on
the portfolio in the last 5 years is 0.72%, and this compares to an average base rate

146
and the average LIBID index which have produced returns of 0.43% and 0.29%
respectively.
31. The variability of balances makes it difficult to calculate the excess interest that the
over performance has achieved over the whole of the 5-year period, but it is
estimated to be at least £3m.
32. Appendix A shows the weighted average rate of return for Leicestershire County
Council (0.17%) against other councils in its benchmarking group (0.18%) and an
average for other County Council’s (0.23%) as at 31 March 2021. This shows the
Council is currently performing slightly below its peers which represents a drop off in
performance compared to last year; Leicestershire County Council (0.86%) against
other councils in its benchmarking group (0.73%) and other County Council’s
(0.74%).
33. During the first quarter of 2020/21, amidst the uncertainty surrounding the Covid-19
pandemic and its impact on financial markets, the Council took the prudent decision
to limit money market fund transactions and reduce lending durations to other
institutions until the markets stabilised. This decision to prioritise security over yield
accounts for much of the performance gap between the Council and its peers.
34. The above paragraphs exclude investments relating to private debt. The capital
value of private debt investment as at 31 March 2021 was £15.2m. Since inception
(January 2018) the Council has received interest payments totalling £1.1m from the
private debt investment and the current performance as measured by the internal
rate of return is 4.3% - which is in line with expectations.
Summary
35. Treasury Management is an integral part of the Council’s overall finances and the
performance of this area is very important. Whilst individual years obviously matter,
performance is best viewed on a medium / long-term basis. The action taken in
respect of the debt portfolio in recent years has been extremely beneficial and has
resulted in significant savings. Short term gains might, on occasions, be sacrificed
for longer term certainty and stability.
36. The loan portfolio has produced a strong level of over performance in the period in
which performance figures have been calculated. Adding significant value in a period
of extremely low interest rates is very difficult. Ironically a period in which there
begins to be differentiation in expectations for both the pace and extent of future
base rate rises will make the cash sums that can be gained larger, whilst also giving
a higher level of risk that the decisions taken might retrospectively prove to be suboptimal. Given that interest rates are unlikely to rise for the next two years, low levels
of returns are likely to continue and the cost of getting investment decisions wrong is
unlikely to be significant.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
37. None.

147
Background Papers
Report to County Council on 19 February 2020 – ‘Medium Term Financial Strategy 202024 ‘Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 21/22’ and
‘Financial Plan’ appendices:
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=6038&Ver=4
Appendix
Leicestershire County Council Investment Portfolio Benchmarking Analysis March 2021

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX

Leicestershire County Council
Investment Portfolio Benchmarking Analysis
March 2021

Page 1 of 11

149

Group Members:
Amber Valley Borough Council
City Of Lincoln Council
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
Leicestershire County Council
Lincolnshire County Council
Melton Borough Council
North East Lincolnshire Council
North Kesteven District Council
North Lincolnshire Council
Nottingham City Council
Nottinghamshire Fire And Rescue
South Kesteven District Council
The Police And Crime Commissioner For Lincolnshire
West Lindsey District Council

Leicestershire County Council
Summary Sheet
Leicestershire County Council

Benchmarking Group 11 (14)

English Counties (13)

Basic Portfolio Characteristics
WARoR
WAM
WATT
WA Credit Risk
Model WARoR
Difference
Model Band
Performance

0.17%
101
173
3.60
0.23%
-0.06%
0.18% - 0.28%
Below

0.18%
82
124
2.92
0.19%
-0.01%
0.13% - 0.24%
Inline

0.23%
85
156
2.40
0.23%
0.00%
0.18% - 0.28%
Inline

Asset Breakdown
Fixed Deposits
Calls & O/N
MMFs

150

USDBFs
Struct. Prods.
Bonds
CDs

Maturity Profiles
100%

100%

100%

90%

90%

90%

80%

80%

80%

70%

70%

70%

60%

60%

60%

50%

50%

50%

40%

40%

40%

30%

30%

30%

20%

20%

20%

10%

10%

10%

0%

0%
< 1 Month

1-3 Months

3-6 Months

6-9 Months

9-12 Months

12 Months +

0%
< 1 Month

1-3 Months

3-6 Months

Page 2 of 11

6-9 Months

9-12 Months

12 Months +

< 1 Month

1-3 Months

3-6 Months

6-9 Months

9-12 Months

12 Months +

Leicestershire County Council

Population Returns against Model Returns

1.40%

Actual WARoR

1.15%

0.90%

0.65%

151

0.40%

0.15%

-0.10%
0.00%

0.25%

0.50%

0.75%

1.00%

1.25%

1.50%

Model WARoR

Upper Return

Lower Return

Leicestershire County Council

Peer Returns

Benchmarking Group 11

Leicestershire County Council

Actual WARoR

Model WARoR

Difference

Lower Bound

Upper Bound

Performance

0.17%

0.23%

-0.06%

0.18%

0.28%

Below

Page 3 of 11

Leicestershire County Council
Returns Comparable Against the Risk-Free Rate and LIBOR Curve
2.00
Gilt Curve

LIBOR-Swap Curve

Leicestershire County Council

Benchmarking Group 11

English Counties

1.50

Rate (%)

1.00

0.50

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

152

0.00
700

-0.50
Days/Time Till Maturity

Leicestershire County Council
Benchmarking Group 11
English Counties

Difference
LIBOR-Swap

WARoR

WAM

WATT

WARisk

Gilt

LIBOR-Swap

Gilt

0.17%
0.18%
0.23%

101
82
85

173
124
156

3.60
2.92
2.40

0.00%
-0.02%
-0.01%

0.09%
0.08%
0.08%

0.17%
0.19%
0.24%

Page 4 of 11

0.08%
0.10%
0.15%

Model
Bands

Performance

0.18% - 0.28%
0.13% - 0.24%
0.18% - 0.28%

Below
Inline
Inline

Leicestershire County Council
Peer Comparison
Leicestershire County Council

Benchmarking Group 11 (14)

English Counties (13)

Population Average (214)

£292,979,752
0.23%
85
156
2.40

£86,863,321
0.21%
69
130
2.95

Basic Characteristics
Principal
WARoR
WAM
WATT
WA Credit Risk

£272,900,000
0.17%
101
173
3.60

£79,785,814
0.18%
82
124
2.92

Fixed Deposits
Calls & O/N
MMFs
USDBFs
Struct. Prods.
Bonds
CDs

60.46%
16.49%
23.05%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

40.45%
32.77%
26.14%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.64%

Banks
Building Socs.
Government
MMFs
USDBFs
MLDBs
Other

67.79%
9.16%
0.00%
23.05%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

41.14%
6.76%
24.80%
26.14%
0.00%
0.00%
1.16%

Domestic
Foreign
MMFs
USDBFs

65.96%
10.99%
23.05%
0.00%

68.94%
4.92%
26.14%
0.00%

< 1 Month
1-3 Months
3-6 Months
6-9 Months
9-12 Months
12 Months +

26.71%
12.83%
42.14%
18.32%
0.00%
0.00%

52.80%
15.72%
20.81%
4.95%
3.39%
2.33%

Portfolio Breakdown
47.19%
21.68%
23.85%
2.21%
0.87%
3.51%
0.68%

13
13
11
2
1
2
1

38.98%
35.34%
23.12%
1.27%
0.13%
0.22%
0.95%

173
186
146
15
2
3
14

35.61%
3.21%
34.91%
23.85%
2.21%
0.00%
0.20%

12
6
10
11
2
0
1

45.93%
4.28%
24.68%
23.12%
1.27%
0.00%
0.72%

199
53
134
146
15
0
14

71.28%
2.66%
23.85%
2.21%

13
6
11
2

73.02%
2.59%
23.12%
1.27%

207
34
146
15

Institution Breakdown
13
5
9
11
0
0
1

Domestic/Foreign Exposure
13
3
11
0

Maturity Structure

Page 5 of 11

47.79%
16.13%
21.33%
7.71%
5.02%
2.02%

58.10%
13.39%
18.48%
4.72%
3.12%
2.19%

153

11
12
11
0
0
0
1

Leicestershire County Council
Detailed Peer Comparison
%

Leicestershire County Council
WARoR
WAM

WATT

Benchmarking Group 11 (14)
WARoR
WAM
WATT

%

English Counties (13)
WARoR WAM
WATT

n

n

%

165
53
0
0
0
0
18
0
0
0

11
12
0
11
0
0
1
0
0
0

47.19%
21.68%
0.00%
23.85%
2.21%
0.87%
0.68%
3.30%
0.20%
0.00%

0.29%
0.19%
0.00%
0.01%
0.86%
0.02%
0.19%
0.00%
0.48%
0.00%

133
56
0
0
0
1
14
2
38
0

263
56
0
0
0
6
19
4
84
0

13
12
0
11
2
1
1
1
1
0

112
71
108
0
0
0
52

13
5
9
11
0
0
1

35.61%
3.21%
34.91%
23.85%
2.21%
0.00%
0.20%

0.17%
0.39%
0.35%
0.01%
0.86%
0.00%
1.40%

70
111
110
0
0
0
12

102
196
222
0
0
0
56

12
6
10
11
2
0
1

138
53
0
0

13
3
11
0

71.28%
2.66%
23.85%
2.21%

0.26%
0.23%
0.01%
0.86%

111
42
0
0

204
71
0
0

13
6
11
2

138
26
26
24
16
13

13
1
1
2
1
1

0.26%
0.08%
0.02%
0.04%
88888
88888

111
38
17
13
88888
88888

204
58
27
14
88888
88888

13
4
3
1
88888
88888

Asset Breakdown
Fixed Deposits
Calls
Overnight
MMFs
USDBFs
Structured Prods.
Cert.of Deposit
Gov. Bonds
Corp. Bonds
MLDB Bonds

60.46%
16.49%
0.00%
23.05%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

0.14%
0.50%
0.00%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

117
182
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

237
182
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

40.45%
32.77%
0.00%
26.14%
0.00%
0.00%
0.64%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

Banks
Building Socs.
Government
MMFs
USDBFs
MLDBs
Other

67.79%
9.16%
0.00%
23.05%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

0.24%
0.04%
0.00%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

138
79
0
0
0
0
0

231
181
0
0
0
0
0

41.14%
6.76%
24.80%
26.14%
0.00%
0.00%
1.16%

Domestic
Foreign
MMF
USDBFs

65.96%
10.99%
23.05%
0.00%

0.18%
0.45%
0.01%
0.00%

123
179
0
0

232
185
0
0

68.94%
4.92%
26.14%
0.00%

UK
AUS
DEN
88888
88888
88888

65.96%
7.33%
3.66%
88888
88888
88888

0.18%
0.40%
0.55%
88888
88888
88888

123
185
166
88888
88888
88888

232
185
184
88888
88888
88888

0.29%
0.20%
0.00%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
0.19%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

92
53
0
0
0
0
13
0
0
0

Institutional Breakdown
90
53
55
0
0
0
49

Foreign Breakdown
0.20%
0.09%
0.01%
0.00%

89
36
0
0

Sovereign State Breakdown
UK
QAT
UAE
AUS
SING
DEN

68.94%
2.05%
1.37%
0.84%
0.40%
0.26%

0.20%
0.05%
0.02%
0.05%
0.01%
0.04%

89
13
12
24
11
12

UK 71.28%
AUS
1.65%
SING
0.73%
DEN
0.28%
88888 #########
88888 #########

Sovereign Rating Breakdown
AA65.96%
AA- 70.99%
AA- 71.28%
AAA
10.99%
AAA
1.50%
AAA
2.66%
88888
88888
AA
1.37%
88888 #########
Since MMFs are ring-fenced institutions and do not belong to a specific country, the sovereign breakdowns will exclude them from the analysis. As a result the "% of Portfolio" may not add up to 100%.

Page 6 of 11

154

0.22%
0.14%
0.24%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
0.98%

Leicestershire County Council
Benchmarking Rationale and Methodology
The aim of this benchmarking model is to compare portfolio weighted average rate of returns (WARoR) by adjusting for the risks inherent in the portfolio. The main risks in cash portfolios are:
Maturity Risk
Credit Risk
As such, the model must normalise WARoRs by adjusting for these risks so as to calculate risk-adjusted returns, or "Model WARoR". The risks the model looks at include:
Maturity Risk
Credit Risk
Change in the shape of the yield curve
This will account for the majority of all risk in the portfolio, however, there will still be some "model uncertainty" as no model can fully explain each WARoR. The difference in model WARoR and actual
WARoR may be due to the following reasons:
Timing differences
Higher diversification
Tilt towards a particular asset type or institution type that is extraordinarily paying an above market rate (e.g. special tranche rates)

Model Band

Some values when compared to the Model Band will fall outside the range even if the value appears to be equal to the minimum or maximum. This is due to rounding the data to
two decimal places within Excel.
For example:
The value returned is 0.9512 and the range is 0.9541 – 1.2321. When rounded the data will be represented as 0.95 and a range of 0.95 – 1.23, although this appears to be in line with
the range the underlying data will actually fall outside.

Definitions
WARoR

Weighted Average Rate of Return

This is the average annualised rate of return weighted by the principal amount in each rate.

WAM

Weighted Average Time to Maturity

This is the average time, in days, till the portfolio matures, weighted by principal amount.

WATT

Weighted Average Total Time

This is the average time, in days, that deposits are lent out for, weighted by principal amount.

WA Risk

Weighted Average Credit Risk Number

Each institution is assigned a colour corresponding to a suggested duration using Link Asset Services' Suggested Credit Methodology.
1 = Yellow; 1.25 = Pink 1; 1.5 = Pink 2, 2 = Purple; 3 = Blue; 4 = Orange; 5 = Red; 6 = Green; 7 = No Colour

Model WARoR Model Weighted Average Rate of Return

This is the WARoR that the model produces by taking into account the risks inherent in the portfolio.

Difference

This is the difference between the actual WARoR and the model WARoR; Actual WARoR minus Model WARoR

Difference

Page 11 of 11

155

As a result, the model will build "Standard Error Bands" around the model WARoR calculated so as to adjust for this model uncertainty. This gives us a range for where the actual WARoR should fall.
If the actual WARoR is above this upper band, then we would say the client is above on a risk-adjusted basis given the risks inherent in the portfolio. If the actual WARoR is below the lower band,
then we would say the client is below on a risk-adjusted basis given the risks inherent in the portfolio.

This page is intentionally left blank

157

Agenda Item 12

CABINET - 22 JUNE 2021
NATIONAL YOUTH AGENCY – TRANSFER OF PENSION FUND ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report to seek the Cabinet’s approval for the transfer of
National Youth Agency (NYA) pension fund assets and liabilities to
Leicestershire County Council.

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended that the Cabinet approves the transfer of the National Youth
Agency’s pension fund assets and liabilities to Leicestershire County Council.

Reasons for Recommendation
3.

To enable the transfer of the NYA’s Pension Fund Assets and Liabilities to
Leicestershire County Council, thereby enabling the NYA to have concluded all
its Pension Fund responsibilities, alleviating it of any future Fund responsibility.

4.

The County Council is facilitating a solution for the local charity to successfully
exit the Leicestershire Pension Fund which will remove its future costs and limit
any detrimental impact on its accounts or ability to raise funding and other
finances. Based on the most recent Actuarial evaluation of the NYA’s Fund
position the assets, which will be added to the County Council share of the
Leicestershire Pension Fund, exceed the liabilities by £900,000.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
5.

The Leicestershire Pension Committee considered a report on the matter at its
meeting on the 4 June 2021. The Committee supported the proposed transfer.

6.

The NYA Finance Committee approved the transfer at its meeting in March
2021.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
7.

The proposal is in line with the revised Local Government Pension Scheme
Regulations, which are designed to reduce employer risk.

158

Resource Implications
8.

There are no immediate resource implications for the County Council arising
from the proposed transfer. Any actuarial costs arising from the transfer will be
met by the NYA whilst any administrative costs incurred are met by the Pension
Fund.

9.

The proposed transfer of the NYA’s portion of the Leicestershire Pension Fund
to the County Council would result in the Authority assuming responsibility for
an additional £20m assets (and c.£19m liabilities), an additional circa 1% of its
current assets.

10. Whilst a transfer would require the Council to undertake additional risk in terms
of future inflation, member longevity and future investment returns, the
independent valuation ensures that a balanced approach is taken regarding the
potential for a beneficial outcome. Based on the most recent valuation of the
Fund’s expected investment returns, there is a reasonable expectation that the
assets (and liabilities) being transferred under this agreement should create a
small improvement in the County Council’s funding position over the longer
term.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
11.

None.

Officer(s) to Contact
Mr C Tambini,
Director of Corporate Resources
Corporate Resources Department
0116 305 6199
E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Declan Keegan
Assistant Director of Strategic Finance and Property
Corporate Resources
Telephone: (0116) 305 6199
Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
Ian Howe
Pensions Manager
Corporate Resources
Telephone: (0116) 305 6945
Email: Ian.Howe@leics.gov.uk

159

PART B
Background
12. The Leicestershire Pension Fund (the Fund) has a small number of historic
scheme employers known as Community Admission Bodies (CABs).
13. CABs tend to be small to medium sized charities that joined the Fund in the
1970’s or 1980’s, before the full extent of the employer risk associated with a
defined benefit scheme was known. Because of this, CABs often do not have
an employer guarantor or security, and therefore if they go bankrupt their
Pension Fund deficit gets spread across all the Fund’s employers.
14. The Fund closely manages employer risk and tries to mitigate this wherever
possible.
15. The National Youth Agency (NYA), which is a national body for Youth Work in
England, is the largest remaining CAB in the Fund that does not have a
guarantor.
16. They have no remaining active members but have several preserved and
pensioner members. As they do not have any active members they do not pay
“standard employee and employer contributions” to the Fund. Instead, the Fund
Actuary assesses their assets and liabilities at each valuation and the NYA
make fixed payments each year to the Fund towards any funding deficit.
17. The NYA have made significant headway in closing their deficit, aided by
investment returns. At the 2013 valuation (a statutory Fund exercise provided
by the Fund Actuary, Hymans Robertson to assess the Fund’s total assets and
liabilities and calculate each employers funding position and employer
contribution rates) the deficit was £2.8 million, on liabilities of £15.8 million on
the Fund’s ‘ongoing’ funding basis. This had improved to a deficit of £0.5 million
on liabilities of £18.5 million at the 2019 valuation.
18. To clear the deficit, using the ongoing basis, the NYA is currently paying
£155,000 per annum into the Fund, a level that tries to balance affordability for
the NYA with security for the Fund. However, while the NYA remain an
employer within the Fund, this deficit will fluctuate with investment markets,
future inflation and member experience making it challenging for the NYA to
manage an exit from the Fund with any certainty.
19. The deficit that the NYA is currently funding towards (i.e. on the ‘ongoing’ basis)
is appropriate for employers who continue to participate in the Fund or for
exiting employers where there is some form of security or guarantor in place to
safeguard the remaining employers within the Fund against any longer term
pension risks in respect of the exiting employer’s liabilities. Without the
Council’s support, the NYA would exit the Fund on a different cessation
calculation basis.

160

20. Furthermore, in the NYA’s accounts the pension deficit is valued assuming fund
assets will achieve returns in line with investment grade bonds, as per the
accounting standard. This calculation method shows a far higher deficit, than
the funding deficit, due to the lower expected returns of bonds (than the Fund’s
investments). This is likely to be an impediment for the NYA when trying to
access certain funding sources for its charitable work.
21. The pension deficit is the NYA’s most significant liability and results in a
negative balance sheet.
Proposal
22. In September 2020, new Pension Fund Regulations were introduced which
focused on reducing employer risk. Since then, the Fund’s Pensions Manager
has been working closely with the CEO of the NYA to help them reduce their
risk. The NYA is keen to clear their deficit and resolve this situation.
23. The Fund proposed to calculate a cessation termination value for the NYA on
the Fund’s ongoing basis which creates a fixed target for them to work towards.
To ensure appropriate security for the remaining employers in the Fund, this
proposal was dependent on there being a guarantee in place. Provided the
NYA was able to pay a termination value that returned their ongoing funding
position to fully funded (i.e. removing any deficit), Leicestershire County Council
(as a Fund employer) had agreed to provide a guarantee to pay the NYA’s
pension liabilities when they fall due.
24.

At the start of the calendar year, Fund Officers were expecting a deficit value in
the region of £885,000 however there has been a significant change in
government bond yields since January 2021 alongside an improvement in the
financial markets, and the Fund Actuary has approximately calculated the
NYA’s Fund position (on the ‘ongoing’ funding basis) as a surplus of around
£900,000 as at 31 March 2021. While there are some approximations adopted
in the actuary’s method to provide this estimate, the Fund and the actuary are
satisfied that a full valuation based on the NYA’s specific membership at 31
March 2021 would yield broadly the same result, specifically that the NYA
remain in surplus on the Fund’s ongoing basis and therefore there is a nil debt
to settle (conditional on LCC taking on the NYA’s historic liabilities, hence
guaranteeing the payment of future pension benefits).

25. As described above, this calculation is on a set of assumptions that is
consistent with the funding basis set out in the Fund’s current Funding Strategy
Statement, for employers who continue to participate in the Fund, or is
appropriate for a termination valuation where some form of security is in place
for the exiting employer’s liabilities.
26. By transferring the assets and liabilities to the County Council, it will mean that
from 31 March 2021, the NYA would have no further obligation to the Fund and
all their assets and liabilities would become the sole responsibility of
Leicestershire County Council (as a Fund employer). The NYA’s pensioners
and deferred members will not be impacted by the proposal.

161

27. Taken at face value, this agreement would reduce the deficit of the County
Council by around £900,000 (based on the surplus at 31 March 2021 being
subsumed into their funding position). However, it is likely that future
investment returns will be marginally lower than they otherwise would have
been, due to the exceptional short-term performance.
28. For the avoidance of doubt the NYA do not qualify for any refund of the surplus
as calculated on the ongoing basis (i.e. an exit credit), as the assets and
liabilities would be transferred to the County Council in full on the cessation
date effectively leaving a nil cessation amount, i.e. no surplus or deficit for the
NYA.
29. For completeness, the Pensions Manager has checked with the NYA to
ascertain whether there was any pension sharing risk in place at the start of
their admission to the Leicestershire Fund. NYA has confirmed there was not
and they do not expect any of the surplus back.
Legal agreement
30. Subject to the transfer being approved, the Fund and the NYA will enter into a
legal agreement specifying that the County Council has agreed to fully
underwrite the NYA’s pension obligations and, from 31 March 2021, the assets
and liabilities of the NYA will be subsumed into the County Council’s funding
position.
31. From the point the legal contract is signed, the NYA will then no longer form
part of the Fund valuation for future assessment of their contribution rates or
cessation amount. From 31 March 2021, all assets and liabilities will fall under
the County Council for valuation purposes resulting in the NYA no longer
having any pension liabilities.
Benefits
32. The proposed agreement is intended to be beneficial to all parties. The NYA
would be provided with an appropriate and affordable exit from the Fund,
removing any future pension costs and limiting any detrimental impact on its
accounts or its ability to raise future funding. The Transfer would provide the
Fund with a solution which resolves a long-standing employer risk and provides
an added layer of protection for its remaining employers (based on the County
Council’s strength of covenant).
33. If left unresolved (i.e. if no transfer of liabilities took place) there could be a
substantial risk posed to the Fund and County Council if the NYA was to
become insolvent in the future and could not meet any future pension costs.
Risks
34. At 31 March 2021, the County Council had approximately £1.5bn assets (held
against c.£1.6bn liabilities). Under the proposed legal agreement to fully

162

underwrite the NYA’s pension obligations, the County Council would be
assuming responsibility for an additional £20m assets (and c.£19m liabilities),
i.e. an additional circa 1% of their current assets.
35. The most significant pensions risks being assumed under this agreement (and
in general to any participating Fund employer) are future inflation, member
longevity and future investment returns. Of these three risks, future investment
returns are the least predictable and can lead to greater volatility.
36. The valuation (on the ‘ongoing’ basis) of the NYA’s pension liabilities at 31
March 2021 has been carried out using an assumption that future investment
returns will be 3.6% p.a.
37. The actuary’s valuation inevitably relies upon a set of assumptions about future
events. The risks (and mitigations) of the main assumptions are set out below:

Investment Return

Pension Benefit

Life Expectancy

Inflation

Risk

The Fund’s assets are primarily debt and equity
investments, which do not have guaranteed return.
The assumption is set at a level that assumes the
target return is met or is greater in 80% of future
economic scenarios modelled.

Mitigation

LCC will hold the assets for decades increasing
the probability that the target return will be
exceeded (i.e. any short-term market volatility has
less impact)

Risk

Salary increases, or redundancy costs increase
the liabilities.

Mitigation

All NYA members are either retired or no longer
accruing LGPS pensionable service. This removes
this risk which only pertains to active members of
the scheme. NYA no longer have the ability to
make any decisions that impact the liability.

Risk

Increases result in higher liabilities.

Mitigation

Mortality experience is monitored regularly which
informs funding assumptions.

Risk

Higher inflation increases benefits payable.

Mitigation

Fund investments are structured to account for the
inflation linking of liabilities.
All benefits linked to CPI, as the Government’s
headline measure it is usually controlled (or
changed.)

163

Legislation

Risk
Mitigation

Unforeseen changes increase pension benefits
Historically changes have been focused on new
pension entitlement rather than already earned.
Recent changes have focused on reducing the
cost of pension schemes.

38. To put the investment risk into context, at the latest formal valuation in 2019,
the Fund’s assets were likely to achieve an annualised return of 3.6% on
average over the next 20 years in around 80% of the scenarios modelled by the
actuary (using their economic scenario modeller which projects 5,000 different
future economic scenarios under varying investment and inflationary
environments).
39. In simple terms (and taken in isolation), this means that there is around a 20%
chance that a deficit could emerge over the next 20 years in respect of the
liabilities being subsumed under this agreement.
40. For reference, at the 2019 valuation the ‘best estimate’ return over the next 20
years (i.e. a 50/50 chance of being achieved) was around 5.9% p.a. Therefore,
on average, the assets (and liabilities) being transferred under this agreement
should improve the County Council’s funding position over the longer term.
Conclusion
41. The proposals will enable the County Council to facilitate a solution for the local
charity to successfully exit the Leicestershire Pension Fund which will remove
its future pension costs and limit any detrimental impact on its accounts or
ability to raise funding and other finances.
42. Whilst a transfer will require the Council to undertake additional risk, based on
the most recent valuation of the Fund’s expected investment returns, the assets
(and liabilities) being transferred under this agreement have a reasonable
prospect of improving the County Council’s funding position over the longer
term. The County Council has the ability to take a far longer financial planning
horizon (than the NYA) and therefore the risk of any deficit developing over the
longer term is at a reasonably low level.
43. Supporting the NYA will ensure that potential risks resulting from the NYA being
unable to meet its pension obligations are avoided, thus ensuring appropriate
security for the remaining employers in the Fund.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
44. The proposal ensures all the NYA pension scheme members and their
dependants will receive full payment of their pension benefits guaranteed and
funded by Leicestershire County Council. There are no groups negatively
impacted.

164

Risk Assessment
45. The Local Pension Committee regularly reviews the Pension Fund’s risk
register. The Fund also has a specific policy relating to employer risk.
Background Papers
Report to the Local Pension Committee – 4 June 2021 – National Youth Agency
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6524&Ver=4

165

Agenda Item 13

CABINET - 22 JUNE 2021
LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH
STRATEGY
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinet’s comments on the Leicester
and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership’s draft Economic Growth Strategy
which has been prepared by Cambridge Econometrics on behalf of the
Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership (LLEP).

2.

At the time of circulation of this Cabinet agenda the draft Strategy had only
just been made available to the LLEP partners. A supplementary report will be
circulated separately, setting out officers’ observations on the content of the
draft Strategy and a suggested response.

Recommendations
3.

Recommendations to the Cabinet will be set out in the supplementary report.

Reasons for Recommendation
4.

In the absence of a Strategic Economic Plan or Local Industrial Strategy for
Leicester and Leicestershire it is crucial there is a clear vision for the local
economy.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
5.

It is intended that the draft Strategy will be considered by the LLEP Board on
24 June, followed by a period of consultation with stakeholders from 28 June
to 6 August. The final Strategy would then be submitted to the LLEP Board on
19 August and published shortly thereafter.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
6.

The Council’s Strategic Plan (agreed by in December 2017), supported by the
Council’s Enabling Growth Plan, outlines the Council’s long-term vision for the
people and place of Leicestershire and sets the Council’s five key outcomes
for 2018 to 2022, which include building a strong economy, supporting

166

wellbeing and opportunity, developing greater communities and keeping
people safe.
7.

In June 2020 the Council’s ‘Covid-19 Recovery Strategy 2020-2021’ was
presented to the Cabinet. Key objectives for economic recovery were defined
including addressing the significant impact of Covid-19 on the labour market
and re-skilling Leicestershire’s residents to be able to compete in the changed
local economy; including upscaling digital skills and tackling digital isolation,
skills for a zero-carbon economy and supporting cohorts most impacted by the
Covid-19 lockdown (e.g. those not in employment, education or training,
young people and over 50s).

8.

In October 2020 the Cabinet considered a report entitled ‘Coronavirus (Covid19) Impact and Response of the County Council – Recovery’, regarding the
effect on county employment levels and job vacancies and outlining actions
already being undertaken to mitigate economic damage including £750,000 of
Business Recovery funding. The report recognised that further work would
need to be undertaken to support the economy stating that options such as
Kickstart, further rural rollout of Broadband and supporting the Council’s
commitment to a zero-carbon economy would all be explored.

9.

On 5 February 2021 the Cabinet considered a report regarding the proposed
economic recovery actions to be taken by the Council in response to the
impact of Covid-19 restrictions on Leicestershire’s businesses and workforce.
It was agreed the County Council would support the Kickstart Programme and
establish a 2 year Work+ project. The Cabinet also noted the Council's
support to businesses via the Business Recovery Grant and Community Pub
programme and continued support for the roll-out of the Broadband
Programme. The Cabinet agreed that the Council should work to deliver a
green economic recovery.

Resource Implications
10.

There are no resources implications arising from this report.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
11.

None.

Officers to Contact
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive
Chief Executive’s Department
Tel: 0116 305 7019 Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
Simon Lawrence, Head of the Growth Service & Major Programmes
Chief Executive’s Department
Tel: 0116 305 7243 Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk

167

PART B
Background
12.

The Strategy has been in development since March 2021 and has been the
focus of three LLEP Board workshops to date. It was recently agreed that
working title would be changed from the “Economic Recovery Strategy” to
“Economic Growth Strategy”, in line with the ambitious tone of the document
which is covering the period up to 2030.

13.

Comments on the latest draft of the LLEP’s draft Economic Growth Strategy
will be set out in the supplementary report.

Equality and Human Rights Implications
14.

There are no equality or human rights implications arising from the
recommendations in this report.

Background Papers
None.

This page is intentionally left blank

169

Agenda Item 14

CABINET - 22 JUNE 2021
EAST MIDLANDS GLOBAL GATEWAY FREEPORT – INCLUDING
URGENT ACTION TAKEN
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Cabinet on the latest position in
establishing a Freeport (to be known as East Midlands Global Gateway)
covering sites in Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire, to set out
the next steps in that process, and to advise the Cabinet of urgent action
taken by the Chief Executive using his delegated powers to agree that the
Council take on the role of lead authority and accountable body for the
Freeport, and to incur expenditure to that effect.

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes
(a)

The latest position and next steps in establishing the Freeport;
to be known as the East Midlands Global Gateway;

(b)

That the Council is a member of the Freeport interim Board with the
Leader of the Council as the nominated representative; and

(c)

The urgent actions taken by the Chief Executive under delegated
authority for the Council to assume the role of lead authority and
accountable body and incur expenditure to support progression of the
Freeport proposal in the form of a business case.

Reasons for Recommendation
3.

To ensure that the Cabinet is aware of the latest position and next steps in
establishing the Freeport.

4.

With respect to the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive regarding the
lead authority and accountable body role, the Government’s guidance,
published on 1st April 2021, on Freeports Governance requires each freeport
to have a nominated local authority as its Lead Authority and Accountable
Body. The Chief Executive took the decision, following consultation with the
Leader of the Council and following discussions with the other County

170

Councils hosting sites within the proposed Freeport, in order to meet tight
deadlines set by Government for the submission of this information.
5.

The Council’s Constitution (Part 3, Section D) provides that the Chief
Executive may take urgent decisions between meetings subject to this being
reported for information to the next available meeting.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
6.

It is anticipated that a Full Business Case for the Freeport will be submitted to
Government in Autumn 2021, with an Outline Business Case likely due
towards the end of July 2021.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
7.

On 15th December 2020 the Cabinet received a report regarding the Council’s
participation in the Development Corporation Interim Vehicle and the
emerging East Midlands ‘Freeport’ proposal and resolved ‘that the Chief
Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the Council and the
Cabinet Lead Member for Resources, be authorised to agree the Council’s
support or otherwise, for the submission of a Freeport bid.’ The bid (in effect
an Expression of Interest or EoI) was submitted to Government, with the
Council’s support, on 5th February 2021. The Chancellor announced that the
EoI had been successful during his Budget announcement on 3rd March 2021.

8.

The Chief Executive took the urgent decision set out in paragraph 4 above on
8th April 2021. It was necessary to incur expenditure given there was no
governance or programme management in place and immediate Government
deadlines to be met. Landowners and local authorities had been meeting
under the chairmanship of the D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)
which had submitted the EoI prepared by consultants.

Resource Implications
9.

The Government confirmed in May that ‘Capacity Funding’ will be available to
be bid for in 2021/22 once the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) has approved a Freeport’s governance proposals.

10.

The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and
Governance have been consulted on the content of this report.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
11.

This report has been circulated to Mr. T. Pendleton CC.

Officers to Contact

171

John Sinnott
Chief Executive
Tel: 0116 305 6000
Email: john.sinnott@leics.gov.uk
Tom Purnell,
Assistant Chief Executive
Tel: 0116 305 7019
Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk

172

PART B
Background
12.

As set out in Part A of this report the Council agreed to support the
submission in February 2021 of an Expression of Interest (EoI) to create a
Freeport in the Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire, Leicestershire area which will
bring additional powers and tools to strengthen the regional economy as it
‘builds back better’ from Covid19 and responds to the opportunities and
challenges generated by the UK’s exit from the EU. The EoI was the only one
from within the Midlands region (East and West).

13.

The Government’s Freeport Bidding Prospectus states that Freeports are “a
flagship Government programme that will play an important part in the UK’s
post-Covid economic recovery and contribute to realising the levelling up
agenda, bringing jobs, investment and prosperity to some of our most
deprived communities across the four nations of the UK with targeted and
effective support.”

14.

A range of benefits to be available to Freeports has been set out by the
Government in the following policy areas:
•
•

•
•
•

Customs
Tax, including measures on:
- Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) Relief
- Enhanced Structures and Buildings Allowance
- Enhanced Capital Allowances
- Employer National Insurance Contributions Relief
- Business rates
Planning
Regeneration and infrastructure (successful bidders will be able to access
a share of £175 million of seed capital funding, depending on the
successful submission of an outline business case).
Innovation.

15.

The EoI was submitted to Government on 5th February by D2N2 on behalf of
Derbyshire, Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire County Councils, South
Derbyshire and North West Leicestershire District Councils, and Rushcliffe
Borough Council, and the two LEPs, together with a range of private sector
landowners with interests in the proposed Freeport sites. It was supported by
local and regional MPs.

16.

The Freeport proposal (the East Midlands Global Gateway) is intended to
bring the following benefits to the economy:
• Increase local and regional economic activity by incentivising new
investment.
• Boost international trade in high-value manufacturing goods.
• Boost skills opportunities, increasing the number of apprenticeships, and
increasing the level of skills qualifications.
• Support regeneration by creating sustainable employment.

173

• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions in industrial and energy production.
• Improve physical and digital regional, national, and international
connectivity and integration.
• Enhance labour productivity in key sectors, such as manufacturing and
logistics.
17.

The East Midlands Global Gateway is focused on three sites: one each in
Leicestershire, Derbyshire, and Nottinghamshire:
(1)

East Midlands Airport and Gateway Industrial Cluster (EMAGIC) in
Leicestershire includes the Freeport’s primary customs site at East
Midlands Airport, the UK’s largest freight airport handling 350,000
tonnes of cargo per year. EMAGIC includes plots on SEGRO’s
Logistics Park at the East Midlands Gateway, including access to a 50acre Strategic Rail Freight Interchange and freight terminal, operated
by Maritime.

(2)

East Midlands Intermodal Park (EMIP) in Derbyshire is located
adjacent to the nationally significant Toyota manufacturing plant. The
site has the potential to become one of the next generation of rail
connected business parks. The proposed investment would also
enable a significant modal shift, from road to rail freight, reducing
carbon emissions for businesses within the region.

(3)

Ratcliffe-on-Soar Power Station in Nottinghamshire is owned by Uniper
whose vision for the site is to move towards becoming a zero-carbon
technology and energy hub for the East Midlands. Emerging
development plans have the potential to create jobs based around
modern industrial and manufacturing uses, with sustainable onsite
energy generation providing a local source of low carbon heat and
power. Options are being explored that would enable areas of the site
to be developed before the coal-fired power station closes in line with
Government policy by 1st October 2025, helping to secure jobs and
investment in the region.

18.

The Chancellor, in the Budget announced on 3rd March 2021, confirmed that
the Freeport had been shortlisted to progress to the next stage. Seven other
proposed Freeports were also shortlisted: Felixstowe and Harwich; Humber;
Liverpool; Plymouth; Solent; Thames and Teesside. Part of the Humber
proposal is also in the ‘East Midlands’ as defined by the Government for
administrative purposes.

19.

On March 25th 2021 MHCLG sent a detailed response to D2N2 in respect of
the Freeport EoI setting out a range of work needing to be undertaken
immediately to ensure the preparation of a robust Business Case for the
Freeport. The East Midlands bid was not assessed as highly by MHCLG as
other successful bids.

20.

On April 1st 2021 the Government issued guidance on the next stages of the
Freeport approval process. This guidance sets out a stretching timetable that

174

will see the first Freeports formally designated by the end of 2021 with key
stages being:
 Submission of detailed governance arrangements, a risk register, and an
implementation plan – these were submitted by the end of April 2021 and
have since been responded to by MHCLG;
 Submission of outline business case by summer 2021;
 Confirmation of tax sites and details by summer 2021;
 Confirmation of customs sites and details by autumn 2021;
 Submission of full business case by autumn 2021.
21.

The Government guidance also requires a single local authority (or mayoral
combined authority) to act as the accountable body for a Freeport. With the
primary customs site being within East Midlands Airport, which is located in
Leicestershire, it was agreed that the County Council should fulfil this role.
The Council formally took on this role from April 19th 2021. Key accountable
body duties include:








receiving and managing Government funding and monitoring/ reporting
against the use of these funds;
upholding procurement practices;
providing effective support to the interim Freeport Board in delivering
its objectives to achieve formal designation as a Freeport and
progressing to delivery;
maintaining appropriate project documentation e.g. project plans and
risk registers;
ensuring the Board operates in line with transparency, propriety and
inclusivity standards;
publishing relevant papers, minutes and a register of interests; and
acting as a single point of contact for Government officials.

22.

Given the scale of the task and the rapid pace required in preparing a
Business Case for the Freeport, EY was commissioned by the County Council
to support this work and provide immediate additional capacity. As stated
above, the Government is making available ‘Capacity Funding’ to which the
County Council will bid to cover costs incurred.

23.

In discussion with key stakeholders, including through workshops co-hosted
by the Leader of the Council and Sir John Peace, the Chairman of the
Midlands Engine, the Council and EY working with landowners have made
initial progress in the following areas and confirmed the title of the Freeport as
the East Midlands Global Gateway (EMGG):




A revised vision for the Freeport to be ‘the UK’s pre-eminent green,
multimodal inland freeport and gateway to global trade, economic growth
and job creation’.
Clarity of the proposed objectives and operating principles of the Freeport;
Development and submission of governance proposals, including terms of
reference for the interim Freeport Board, an interim governance
arrangement for the pre-delivery phase;

175







Development and submission of a strategic risk register and associated
risk management process;
Development and submission of a Diversity Statement;
Development and submission of an Implementation Plan;
Development and establishment of Programme Working Groups to
support the delivery of Programme activity;
The appointment of an independent Chair for the interim Board;
The commencement of a process to recruit a dedicated Freeport;
Programme Manager to be hosted in the Chief Executive’s Department.

24.

The Government’s guidance on governance is that Board membership should
not exceed 12 “to ensure efficacy”. A case by exception has to be made to
increase the membership. The first meeting of the Board (scheduled for the
week commencing 14th June), which would consider any such case, was
convened to include 13 members: the independent Chair, 6 representatives
from the host county and district councils, and 6 representatives of the
landowners. The local authority and landowner representation is prescribed
in the guidance. The Leader of the Council represents the Council on this
Board. To help fulfil the Council’s accountable body role the Section 151
officer, the Director of Corporate Resources, in line with Government
guidance, will attend Board meetings as an observer.

25.

A number of sub-Boards will be established to oversee specific workstreams,
and a wider Engagement Network, also in line with Government guidance, is
proposed to ensure the views of key stakeholders such as LEPs, the
Chamber of Commerce, Midlands Engine, Midlands Connect, universities and
colleges are secured to inform the preparation of the business case.

26.

Should the submission of the business case in late 2021 lead to the formal
designation by Government of the Freeport it will be necessary to establish a
Board, appoint a Chair, and establish a programme structure and team for the
delivery phase. It will also be necessary to appoint a lead authority/
accountable body although it is worth noting that the Government’s
expectations are that the lead authority/ accountable body for the set-up
phase will continue to carry out these roles for the delivery phase.

27.

Arrangements are in hand to put in place governance arrangements within the
Council to manage the Council’s engagement with the Freeport proposal,
including lead member oversight and increasing capacity within the Growth
service in the Chief Executive’s Department.

Equality and Human Rights Implications
28.

There are no equality or human rights implications arising from the
recommendations in this report

Background Papers
Report to the Cabinet on 15 December 2020 “East Midlands Development
Corporation ‘Interim Vehicle (Devco)’ and Freeport Proposal” - https://bit.ly/3v5jfe8

This page is intentionally left blank

177

Agenda Item 15

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
URGENT ACTION TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN RELATION
TO THE LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE STATEMENT OF
COMMON GROUND RELATING TO HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT
LAND NEEDS (MARCH 2021)
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of urgent action taken by the
Chief Executive to agree for the County Council to become a signatory to a
Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) which has been prepared by the
Leicester and Leicestershire authorities to accompany the emerging Charnwood
Local Plan. The key strategic matters covered in the SoCG under the Duty to Cooperate are: Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and Employment Needs to
2036; Unmet Need to 2036; and the process of apportioning unmet housing need
to 2036.

Recommendations
2.

It is recommended that the Cabinet:
(a)

Notes the content of Leicester and Leicestershire Statement of Common
Ground Relating to Housing and Employment Land Needs (March 2021),
appended to this report.

(b)

Notes the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive to agree for the
County Council to become a signatory to the Statement of Common
Ground, as a factual statement.

Reasons for Recommendations
3.

The Statement of Common Ground has been prepared jointly by the 9 local
authorities in Leicester and Leicestershire and its preparation has been overseen
by the Members Advisory Group. The SoCG sets out the purpose of the
Charnwood Local Plan examination process, the collaboration underway to reach
agreement on strategic housing distribution and other matters in line with the
Government’s Duty to Co-operate.

178

4.

The SoCG demonstrates a reasserted commitment to joint working on long-term
strategic planning for housing, economic growth and associated strategic
infrastructure across Leicester and Leicestershire.

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
5.

The County Council’s Constitution provides that the Chief Executive may take
urgent action in-between meetings subject to the details being reported to the
next appropriate meeting of the body concerned.

6.

Approval of the SoCG by all partners was required by Charnwood Borough
Council ahead of taking its emerging Local Plan to its Council meeting on 10
June 2021.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
7.

The Statement of Common Ground was reported to the Members’ Advisory
Group on 11 February 2021, which supported taking the SoCG through the
respective partners’ governance processes.

Resource Implications
8.

There are no resource implications for the Council arising from the
recommendations in this report.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
9.

This report will be circulated to all Members.

Officers to Contact
Tom Purnell
Assistant Chief Executive
Tel: 0116 305 7019 Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
Simon Lawrence
Head of the Growth Service & Major Programmes
Tel: 0116 305 7243 Email: simon.lawrence@leics.gov.uk
Sharon Wiggins
Strategic Planning Manager, Chief Executive’s Dept.
Tel: 0116 305 8234 Email: sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk
Tim Smith
Strategic Planning and Policy Officer, Chief Executive’s Dept
Tel. 0116 305 7219 Email: tim.smith@leics.gov.uk

179

PART B
Background
10.

In December 2020, the Government announced changes to the standard method
for calculating housing need. Whilst the need in the districts has remained largely
the same, an uplift of 35 per cent to the housing need for each of the 20 largest
cities including Leicester City, has resulted in a need of 10,000 additional homes
between 2020 and 2036 (600 homes per year). Based on Leicester City’s draft
supply, this equates to a shortfall of approximately 18,000 homes.

11.

The Members’ Advisory Group advised that the change in Leicester’s housing
figure was so significant that it required additional evidence to be undertaken to
inform the Statement of Common Ground (SoCG) dealing with the apportionment
of the increased unmet need arising from the City. This means the Charnwood
Local Plan will now be submitted in advance of the apportionment of the
increased unmet need being agreed. Charnwood Borough Council is required to
ensure that they meet the Government requirement of having an up-to-date Local
Plan, meet the requirements for a 5-year housing land supply and to help avoid
the consequences of unplanned development.

12.

Ahead of submitting its Local Plan for public examination and in advance of the
SoCG dealing with the apportionment of the increased unmet need from the City
being agreed, Charnwood Borough Council therefore require a separate
Leicester and Leicestershire SoCG, a copy of which is attached as the appendix
to this report.

13.

The SoCG has been prepared by each of the authorities within Leicester and
Leicestershire working in collaboration. Its purpose is to set out how the Duty to
Cooperate has been met in relation to the following strategic issues: Leicester
and Leicestershire Housing and Employment Needs to 2036; Unmet Need to
2036; and the process of apportioning unmet need to 2036, to demonstrate that
all of the authorities are working together to meet the requirements of the Duty to
Co-operate.

14.

All local authorities within the Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area
have been asked to approve the SoCG. With the cancellation of the Cabinet
meeting on 27 April 2021, the Chief Executive took urgent action to approve the
SoCG on 29 April 2021.

15.

It should be noted that this SoCG does not apportion and / or distribute unmet
need to Leicestershire local authorities. It is a factual statement setting out need,
theoretical supply, the scale of unmet need from Leicester City and the process
by which unmet need will be dealt with.

16.

The SoCG commits partner authorities to a programme of work to underpin the
future apportionment of unmet needs, it is anticipated this will be completed in
Winter 2021/2022 and comprises:

180

i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
17.

Housing and Economic Needs Assessment
Strategic Growth Options and Constraints Mapping
Strategic Transport Assessment
Sustainability Appraisal

A future SoCG informed by the programme of work will set out the apportionment
of the increased unmet need.

Equality and Human Rights Implications
18.

There are no Equality and Human Rights Implications directly arising from this
report.

Environmental Impact
19.

The County Council will continue to work closely with partners to minimise the
impact planned growth has on the environmental assets of Leicester and
Leicestershire.

Appendix
Leicester and Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground Relating to Housing and
Employment Needs (March 2021)

181

Leicester & Leicestershire Authorities - Statement of Common Ground relating to
Housing and Employment Land Needs (March 2021)

1.0

The Leicester and Leicestershire HMA and FEMA

1.1

The Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (HMA) and Functional Economic Area
(FEMA) covers the administrative areas of eight local planning authorities and two transport
authorities. The eight local planning authorities responsible for plan making are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1.2

Blaby District Council
Charnwood Borough Council
Harborough District Council
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council
Leicester City Council (Unitary)
Melton Borough Council
North West Leicestershire District Council
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

The two upper tier authorities in Leicester and Leicestershire (L&L), with statutory
responsibilities for transportation, education, social care, flooding, minerals & waste
planning and public health are:
•
•

Leicester City Council (Unitary)
Leicestershire County Council

1.3

This Statement has been prepared jointly by the eight plan making authorities and
Leicestershire County Council as an additional signatory given their statutory responsibilities,
hereafter referred to as “the authorities”. The Map in Appendix C shows the location and
administrative areas covered by this statement. The Housing & Economic Development
Needs Assessment 2017 (HEDNA) identifies this area as the Leicester & Leicestershire HMA
and FEMA.

1.4

Local planning authorities across L&L are currently progressing plans at different stages.
Appendix D sets out the latest position.

2.0

Purpose

2.1

This statement has been prepared by the authorities to support the Charnwood Local Plan.
The key strategic matters covered in this statement under the Duty to Cooperate are; L&L
Housing and Employment Needs to 2036; Unmet Need to 2036; and the process of
apportioning unmet need to 2036. This statement will be reconfirmed and updated as
necessary, including for subsequent authorities’ Local Plans.

3.0

Key Strategic Matters on which Authorities Agree
Duty to Cooperate

3.1

The authorities agree there is a long track record of effective joint working on strategic
matters across L&L. The authorities have continuously engaged with each other on the
strategic matters set out in this statement and throughout the preparation of Local Plans
across the area. This is most clearly evidenced through:

182

•
•
•
•
•
3.2

The establishment of the Leicester & Leicestershire Members Advisory Group
The joint preparation of evidence, including the Housing & Economic Development
Needs Assessment (2017)
The adoption of a non-statutory Strategic Growth Plan 2018 which includes
‘notional’ housing figures.
The agreement of Joint Statements in 2017, 2018 and 2020 (Appendix E, G and F)
The publication of this Statement of Common Ground.

More information and details of engagement will be set out in individual authorities Duty to
Cooperate Statements that accompany Local Plans. Authorities will continue to engage on
an ongoing basis.
L&L Housing Need to 2036

3.3

The authorities agree the appropriate way to calculate local housing need is using the
current standard method set out in Government guidance which currently uses the 2014
based household projections. The authorities agree that local housing need (2020 - 2036) is
as follows:

Local Planning Authority
Blaby District Council

Total Housing Need
2020 – 2036
5,520

Houses per year
2020 - 2036
345

Charnwood Borough Council

17,680

1,105

Harborough District Council

8,800

550

Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council

7,232

452

Leicester City Council

37,456

2,341

Melton Borough Council

3,216

201

North West Leicestershire District Council

5,744

359

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council

2,672

167

Leicester and Leicestershire HMA Total

88,320

5,520

Table 1: Local Housing Need
3.4

The Government’s current standard method for calculating housing need suggests L&L need
to provide 88,320 homes (5,520 per year 2020 to 2036).

3.5

The NPPF requires authorities to have a clear understanding of the land available in their
area to meet housing need through the preparation of a strategic housing land availability
assessment (SHLAA). In L&L, the SHLAAs have been prepared using an agreed methodology
across the HMA as a whole.

3.6

Appendix A and B to this Statement have been prepared using the outputs of the standard
method for calculating housing need and SHLAAs. It provides a summary of the need for
new homes, and the theoretical capacity of both the HMA and each local authority.

183

3.7

To 2036 there is a theoretical capacity for some 173,147 homes across the HMA as a whole
(Appendix B). When set against the need of 88,320 (2020-36), the authorities agree there is
flexibility to meet L&L housing need within the HMA, including unmet need.

3.8

Housing supply in L&L is strong. Up to 2031 (Appendix A) there is already sufficient supply in
the pipeline to meet the needs of the HMA. The L&L housing need 2020-31 is 60,720 using the
standard method. Taking into account commitments, allocations (including emerging
allocations in Leicester and Charnwood Draft Plans) and windfalls, there is a supply of 69,403
which is 8,683 (14%) higher than the HMA-wide need. Leicester City Council is the only
authority to declare an unmet need at present.

3.9

Up to 2036 (Appendix B) the supply situation remains relatively strong given that most local
plans cover up to, or close to, 2031. The L&L housing need to 2036 is 88,320 using the
standard method. Taking into account housing commitments, allocations (including
emerging allocations in Leicester and Charnwood Draft plans) and windfalls suggest there is
a supply of 84,388 which is close to the HMA wide need.
L&L Employment Need to 2036

3.10

The authorities agree the appropriate way to calculate employment need is using the jointly
prepared Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) unless a more
recent assessment has been undertaken. Based on the HEDNA and local assessments of
employment land need the authorities agree the need is as follows:

Local Planning Authority

Source

Blaby District Council

Employment Need 2019 to
2036 (Hectares)*
74.84 - 75.85 ha

Charnwood Borough Council

55.9 ha

Harborough District Council

45 - 52 ha

HEDNA + Charnwood
Employment Land Review (2018)
HEDNA

Hinckley and Bosworth
Borough Council
Leicester City Council

38.5 - 50 ha

EL&PS

67 ha

Melton Borough Council

33.05ha

City Economic Development
Needs Assessment 2020
Employment Land Study 2015

North West Leicestershire
District Council

47.7 ha

Oadby and Wigston Borough
Council

10.31 ha

HEDNA

North West Leicestershire – The
need for employment land
(November 2020) Stantec
Employment Land and Premises
Study, October 2017

Leicester and Leicestershire
372 - 392 ha
HMA Total
Table 2: Employment Land Needs. *Note: the need has been adjusted to a base-date of 2019 taking
into account completions as appropriate.
3.11

Table 2 above shows L&L have to provide 372 - 392 ha hectares of employment land to
2036. The authorities agree the L&L employment land needs (including unmet need) can be
met within the FEMA.

184

Unmet need to 2036
3.12

The authorities agree that Leicester City Council is the only authority in L&L to have declared
and quantified (with evidence) an unmet need to 2036. Assisting Leicester to meet its
unmet need is therefore a key element of the Duty to Co-operate across L&L.

3.13

Leicester City Council consulted on a Draft Local Plan (regulation 18) in September to
December 2020, with a view to publishing the Submission Version (regulation 19) in 2021.
Leicester City declared an unmet housing need in February 2017 (Appendix H) which
remained unquantified while further evidence was gathered to support the publication of
their Draft Local Plan. During this time several authorities have adopted local plans.

3.14

The L&L authorities were made aware of the potential scale of unmet need in December
2019. Consultation on the Draft Leicester Local Plan (and associated evidence) was delayed
due to the COVID-19 Pandemic until September to December 2020.

3.15

Leicester’s Draft Local Plan consultation indicates a potential unmet need of 7,742 homes
and 23 Hectares of employment land (B2 General Industrial and B8 Small Warehousing Units
less than 9,000 sq.m) 2019 to 2036.

3.16

However, immediately after the consultation closed in December 2020 the Government
published a new standard method for calculating housing need. The new method increased
Leicester’s housing need by 35%, adding a further 9,712 homes to their need between 2020
and 2036 (607 homes per year).

3.17

Although the supply of homes in Leicester may evolve as their local plan progresses,
providing for this amount of additional homes in the City would require more than a
doubling of the allocations set out in their recent Draft Local Plan. In this context the City
consider that it will not be possible to meet NPPF policy obligations of a sound and
deliverable plan, and so in the revised PPG context (Paragraph: 035 Reference ID: 2a-03520201216) it will be necessary to seek to agree a Statement of Common Ground to deal with
the recent increase in housing need.

3.18

The authorities agree the Government changes to the standard method on 16 December
2020 has significantly increased housing need in Leicester and acknowledge the quantity of
Leicester’s unmet need may change as the Local Plan progresses (e.g. as evidence on land
supply is developed further).
Apportionment of Leicester’s Unmet Need to 2036

3.19

The authorities remain committed to cooperating on strategic cross boundary matters,
including agreeing the redistribution of any unmet housing and employment need. The
authorities have been engaged in a process of testing reasonable alternative options for
meeting Leicester’s unmet need through a Sustainability Appraisal process with a view to
agreeing an apportionment of the unmet need ahead of the submission of the Charnwood
Local Plan (as set out in the agreed Joint Statement of September 2020 – Appendix G).

3.20

However, the authorities agree the change in Leicester’s housing need on 16 December
2020 (resulting from Government changes to the standard method for calculating housing
need) is so significant that it requires additional evidence. This means the Charnwood Local
Plan will now be submitted ahead of the apportionment of housing being agreed.

185

3.21

The authorities agree to carry out the following programme of work to inform the
apportionment of unmet need from Leicester to the L&L Districts/Boroughs:
•
•
•
•

Housing and Economic Needs Assessment
Strategic Growth Options and Constraints Mapping
Strategic Transport Assessment
Sustainability Appraisal

3.22

This work will be commissioned in Spring 2021 and used to inform a Statement of Common
Ground apportioning unmet need which is anticipated to be completed in Winter
2021/2022.

3.23

On 19th January 2021 the Government published a Written Ministerial Statement and wrote
to all Local Planning Authorities in England reminding them of the continued importance of
maintaining progress on producing up-to-date Local Plans (Appendix I). In the letter the
Government make clear “it is essential that plans are kept up to date” and “it is critical that
work should continue to progress Local Plans through to adoption by the end of 2023 to help
ensure that the economy can rebound strongly from the COVID-19 emergency”. The
Charnwood Local Plan is also critical to demonstrating and maintaining a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites. Delay will lead to unplanned development and lack of certainty
for communities, and private and public sector investors in the intervening period.

3.24

To maintain progress on producing an up-to-date Local Plan for Charnwood, the authorities
agree that Charnwood Borough Council will continue to actively engage in the programme of
work to redistribute unmet need and include a trigger policy to review and update the Local
Plan, if the agreed apportionment of unmet need requires it.

3.25

Employment: The authorities agree a working assumption unmet need figure of 23 Hectares
(B2 and Small B8) for Leicester. This will be subject to testing through the Leicester Local
Plan. The authorities agree there is a sufficient supply of employment land in the
Charnwood Local Plan (submission version) to accommodate this level of unmet need if this
is found to be a sustainable approach, in the context of the programme of evidence work to
inform the apportionment of unmet need.

4.0

Maintaining and Updating this Statement

4.1

The authorities acknowledge the Government intend to reform the planning system and
recently consulted on a White Paper - Planning for the Future.

4.2

There is no timetable for the reforms and the proposals could change following
consultations. Against this background the Government is encouraging authorities to get upto-date Local Plans in place and some authorities in L&L are at an advanced stage of plan
preparation.

4.3

This statement includes an agreed programme of work to apportion unmet need from
Leicester. The authorities agree the Duty to Cooperate is an ongoing process and this
statement will be kept up to date to reflect the latest position. The process for updating and
maintaining this statement will be managed through ongoing joint work between the
authorities. Once the agreed work is complete, the authorities agree this statement will be
updated to include the apportionment of unmet need across L&L based on the evidence.

Appendix A - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2031
The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method. The calculations are based on data
available at 1st April 2020.
B

C

D

Commitments1
projected for
delivery
2020 to 2031

Allocations
in an
adopted
Plan2

Emerging
allocations
in a draft
plan2

Blaby

3,795

4,467

758

Charnwood

12,155

7,080

1,385

Harborough

6,050

3,693

4,972

2,692

25,751

9,047

Melton

2,211

2,704

NW Leics

3,949

Oadby &
Wigston
HMA total

Authority

Hinckley &
Bosworth
Leicester
City

1

E
Allowance for
small site or
windfall
development
to 2031

F
Total
Projected
Delivery to
2031
(B+C+D+E)

G

240

5,465

5,408

10,873

640

16,999

10,529

27,528

4,332

864

8,889

5,873

14,762

2,063

584

5,339

15,902

21,241

1,650

17,299

0

17,299

3,145

189

6,038

1,108

7,146

5,862

790

320

6,972

3,821

10,793

1,837

1,010

1,203

189

2,402

0

2,402

60,720

36,555

13,676

4,676

69,403

42,041

112,044

7,894

6,602

14,496

SHLAA
Capacity to
20313

H
Total
Theoretical
Capacity to
2031
(F+G)

Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020
projected delivery up to 31/03/2031; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans
3
To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from this figure
2

186

A
Local
Housing
Need
2020 2031

Appendix B - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2036
The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method. The calculations are based on data
available at 1st April 2020.
B

C

D

Commitments1
projected for
delivery
2020 to 2036

Allocations
in an
adopted
Plan2

Emerging
allocations
in a draft
plan2

Blaby

5,520

4,918

984

Charnwood

17,680

8,820

1,990

Harborough

8,800

3,693

7,232

2,992

37,456

9,865

Melton

3,216

2,704

NW Leics

5,744

Oadby &
Wigston
HMA total

Authority

Hinckley &
Bosworth
Leicester
City

1
2

3

E
Allowance for
small site or
windfall
development
to 2036

F
Total
Projected
Delivery to
2036
(B+C+D+E)

G

440

6,342

18,956

25,298

1,040

20,874

19,938

40,812

5,679

864

10,236

9,819

20,055

4,053

949

7,924

23,130

31,124

2,400

20,721

0

20,721

3,891

334

6,929

3,635

10,564

7,013

1,427

520

8,960

13,281

22,241

2,672

1,010

1,203

189

2,402

0

2,402

88,320

41,015

19,227

6,736

84,388

88,759

173,147

9,024

8,456

17,480

SHLAA
Capacity to
20363

H
Total
Theoretical
Capacity to
2036
(F+G)

Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020
projected delivery up to 31/03/2036; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans

To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from this figure

187

A
Local
Housing
Need
2020 2036

188

Appendix C – Location and Administrative Areas

189

Appendix D – Local Plan Preparation in Leicester & Leicestershire
Authority

Adopted Plan

Blaby District
Council

•
•

Core Strategy (2013)
Delivery DPD 2019 (Part 2
plan)

•

•
•

Core Strategy (2015)
Saved policies of Borough of
Charnwood Local Plan (2004)

•

Charnwood
Borough
Council

Emerging Plan Progress

•

•
•

Issues & Options Consultation
on a new local plan (July 2019)
New Local Plan Options
Consultation (January 2021)
Issues and Options consultation
(April 2018)
Draft Local Plan (reg 18)
consultation (November 2019)
Final Draft Local Plan (reg 19)
consultation (Spring 2021)

Harborough
District
Council

•

Local Plan (2019)

•

N/A

Hinckley &
Bosworth
Borough
Council

•
•

Core Strategy (2009)
Site Allocations DPD 2016
(Part 2 plan)

•

Directions for Growth
Consultation (March 2019)

Leicester City
Council

•
•

Core Strategy (2014)
2006 Adopted City of
Leicester Local Plan

•

Draft Local Plan (reg 18)
Published for Consultation
September 2020

Local Plan (2017)

•

Issues consultation (February
2018)
Emerging options consultation
(November 2018)
Partial Review – pre-submission
consultation (November 2019)
Partial Review – Examination
(September 2020)

North West
•
Leicestershire
District
Council

•
•
•

Melton
Borough
Council

•

Local Plan (2018)

•

N/A

Oadby &
Wigston
Borough
Council

•

Local Plan (2019)

•

N/A

190

Appendix E – L&L Joint Statement of Cooperation, November 2017

L&L Joint Statement of Cooperation
Leicester & Leicestershire Authorities
Joint Statement of Co-operation Relating to Objectively Assessed Need for Housing
November 2017

1.0

The Leicester and Leicestershire HMA

1.1

The Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (HMA) covers the
administrative areas of eight local authorities and two highway authorities. The eight
local planning authorities are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1.2

Blaby District Council
Charnwood Borough Council
Harborough District Council
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council
Leicester City Council
Melton Borough Council
North West Leicestershire District Council
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

The two highways authorities are:
•
•

Leicester City Council
Leicestershire County Council

1.3

The purpose of this Joint Statement of Co-operation (the ‘Joint Statement’) is to
support those authorities which are seeking to produce a Local Plan in advance of
the Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), and to set out how the local authorities will
collaborate further to ensure that the necessary joint evidence is in place to support
subsequent Local Plans. The document has been received by the Members’
Advisory Group overseeing the preparation of the Strategic Growth Plan and will
proceed through the normal governance procedures of individual authorities as
necessary.

2.0

Background
Duty to Cooperate

2.1

The Joint Statement is intended to provide evidence of effective co-operation on
planning for issues with cross-boundary impacts. A Housing and Economic
Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) has been completed, the purpose of
which is to identify the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for housing and
employment for the HMA and Functional Economic Market Area (FEMA) in the
periods 2011-2031 and 2011-2036. In the case of Leicester & Leicestershire, the
HMA and FEMA are coincident. The HEDNA was commissioned jointly by the nine

191

local authorities together with the Leicester & Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership
(LLEP).
Objectively Assessed Need for Housing
2.2

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning authorities
to ensure that their Local Plans meet the full OAN for market and affordable housing
in the HMA as far as is consistent with the policies set out in the NPPF (paragraph
47).

2.3

To enable an understanding of capacity to accommodate additional housing, the
NPPF further requires local planning authorities to prepare a Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment (SHLAA) to establish realistic assumptions about availability,
suitability and likely economic viability of land to meet the identified need for housing
over the plan period (paragraph 159). In Leicester & Leicestershire, the SHLAAs
have been prepared using an agreed methodology across the HMA as a whole.

2.4

Table 1 has been prepared using the outputs of the joint HEDNA and SHLAAs. It
provides a summary of the agreed OAN for housing, and the theoretical capacity of
both the HMA and each local authority; the theoretical capacity has been derived
from an understanding of existing commitments and SHLAA information. The partner
authorities agree that the OAN for the HMA (and each local authority) is that set out
in the table.

2.5

The HEDNA explains that the OAN is set at the level of the HMA although the OAN
for each local authority is also identified; the OAN for each individual authority is
considered to be secondary to that of the HMA as a whole. Table 1 indicates that the
OAN for the HMA as a whole, based on demographic analysis, is some 96,580
dwellings for the period 2011-31 (4,829 dpa). For the period, 2011-2036, the figure is
some 117,900 dwellings (4,716 dpa).

2.6

A similar analysis has been undertaken of the need for housing based on the
economic development needs of the area; in this case, it has been concluded that
the need for new housing, based on economic development needs across the FEMA,
is lower than the demographic need. On that basis, there is no need for adjustment
of this figure at the level of the HMA/FEMA although there is some misalignment at
the level of individual authorities. As a result, there may be an alternative distribution
of housing to meet economic needs whilst still ensuring that the demographic need of
4,829 or 4,716 dpa is met across the HMA/FEMA as a whole in line with paragraph
47 of the NPPF.

2.7

In terms of the housing capacity, Table 1 also indicates that there is a theoretical
capacity for some 207,069 dwellings across the HMA as a whole. When this is set
against the OAN of 96,580 (2011-31) and 117,900 (2011-36) dwellings, it is clear that
there is considerable flexibility to meet the defined housing need across the HMA.

2.8

It is recognised that the ability of each local authority to meet its own OAN will vary.
Table 1 demonstrates that, theoretically, and with the exception of Leicester City
Council, all authorities are able to accommodate their own needs in the period 201136. In the period 2011-36, neither Leicester City Council nor Oadby & Wigston
Borough Council will be able to meet their needs. It is important to note, however,
that further testing will be required by the respective authorities through their Local
Plan processes. Should an HMA authority identify, quantify and provide robust
evidence to demonstrate an unmet need in the future, it will be incumbent upon the

192

HMA authorities jointly to resolve any cross-boundary matters with HMA partners
under the Duty to Co-operate.
2.9

Following publication of the HEDNA, both Leicester City Council and Oadby &
Wigston Borough Council declared that they would not be able to accommodate their
full objectively assessed needs (OAN) for housing within their own boundaries.
Letters were sent out by Leicester City Council in February 2017 and by Oadby &
Wigston Borough Council in March 2017, to all other authorities within the Leicester
& Leicestershire Housing Market Area, setting out the position and their formal
declarations of unmet housing need. Since that time, and based on evidence, Oadby
& Wigston Borough Council has determined that it will be able to accommodate its
needs in the period 2011-2031 but not in respect of the period 2011-36. Oadby &
Wigston Borough Council issued a further letter in November 2017 confirming its
position. Both Leicester City Council and Oadby & Wigston Borough Council are yet
to formally and finally evidence the extent of their unmet need, however it is
necessary to include provision to accommodate unmet need arising from these two
Council areas, for the relevant periods, within the HMA as a whole; this may include
an element of a flexibility allowance in local plans currently in preparation, should the
need arise.

2.10

In terms of determining housing targets to be included in their Local Plans, local
planning authorities should take account of the requirements of both national policy
and local circumstances, including the need to base Local Plans on a strategy that
seeks to meet the OAN for housing. In this regard, it is recognised that all authorities
are at different stages of plan preparation and that this situation must be
accommodated. In determining their housing target over the relevant plan period,
therefore, each authority will take into account the HEDNA and other relevant
evidence.

2.11

In addition, the nine local authorities and the LLEP have jointly agreed to produce a
Strategic Growth Plan, a non-statutory strategic plan looking forward to around 2050.
As part of their work on the Strategic Growth Plan, the partner organisations may
choose to redistribute development across the HMA as appropriate but the process
of preparing the Strategic Growth Plan is not anticipated to be complete until the end
of 2018 and will not, therefore, be available for all authorities to use prior to preparing
their Local Plans. At the same time, Government has made it clear that it wants
Local Plans for individual authorities to be in place without delay; and where no Local
Plan has been produced, Government may choose to intervene in the process. As a
result, the partner organisations understand that some authorities might wish to
progress their Local Plans in advance of the Strategic Growth Plan.

2.12

The Written Ministerial Statement by the Minister for Housing and Local Government
(21 July 2015) re-emphasises that Local Authorities cannot plan in isolation and must
work together to provide the land for the housing needed across HMAs. It states: “As
we have made clear in planning guidance a commitment to an early review of a Local
Plan may be appropriate as a way of ensuring that a Local Plan is not unnecessarily
delayed by seeking to resolve matters which are not critical to the plans soundness
or legal competence as a whole”. It also refers to a note prepared by the Planning
Advisory Service which local authorities should consider; this sets out circumstances
in which Local Plans have been found sound, subject to a commitment to an early
review.

193

2.13

Taking this into account, the HMA authorities reached agreement in summer 2016 on
appropriate trigger mechanisms that would be inserted into all Local Plans coming
forward before the Strategic Growth Plan. In this respect the partner authorities
agree that should the Strategic Growth Plan identify a significant change which would
require local authorities to re-consider the amount of housing and employment land,
an early review or partial review of affected Plan(s) will be brought forward to address
this matter, unless there is sufficient flexibility already provided for within the Plan.
Such flexibility may, for example, be secured by a Local Plan that specifies a
requirement which materially exceeds the FOAN identified by the HEDNA. The
agreement is based on the principle that the trigger mechanisms would be applied on
a consistent basis across the HMA, ensuring that all Local Plans submitted in
advance of the Strategic Growth Plan contain the necessary flexibility to respond to
any significant change that might arise.

194

Table 1: OAN as defined in HEDNA (January 2017) and Theoretical Capacity based on
assumptions set out in notes.

OAN*1
(20112031)

OAN*1
(2011 2036)

Theoretical
Total
Capacity*2

Blaby

7,400

9,025

24,096*3

Charnwood

20,620

24,850

34,756*3

Harborough

10,640

12,850

30,578*3

Hinckley &
Bosworth

9,420

11,350

25,498*3

Leicester
City

33,840

41,700

26,230*3

Melton

3,720

4,250

36,650*3

9,620

11,200

26,301*3

2,960

3,875

2,960*3

96,580

117,900

207,069*3

Northwest
Leics
Oadby &
Wigston
HMA
Total*4

*1 The OAN is set out in the agreed HEDNA (January 2017)
*2 This figure is based on information on completions,
commitments, windfalls (in some authorities) and SHLAAs as
at 1st April 2016.
*3 The final figure will be determined by each authority
through the Local Plans process.
*4 The Total received OAN for the HMA is lower than the sum
of the OAN for individual authorities because the OAN for
Melton BC and North West Leicestershire DC has been
increased in the HEDNA to meet economic needs locally.

Note:
It should be noted that nothing in this statement should be taken to prejudice any
representations made by individual authorities on any partner Local Plan.

195

Appendix F – L&L Joint Position Statement, March 2018

196

197

198

199

200

201

202

Appendix G – L&L Joint Position Statement, September 2020

Leicester & Leicestershire Authorities

Joint Position Statement relating to Leicester’s
Housing and Employment Land Needs

September 2020

203

1.0

The Leicester and Leicestershire HMA and FEMA

1.1

The Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Market Area (HMA) and Functional Economic Area
(FEMA) covers the administrative areas of eight local planning authorities and two highway
authorities. The eight local planning authorities are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1.2

Blaby District Council
Charnwood Borough Council
Harborough District Council
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council
Leicester City Council
Melton Borough Council
North West Leicestershire District Council
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

The two upper tier authorities in Leicester and Leicestershire, with statutory responsibilities for
transportation, education, social care, flooding, minerals & waste planning and public health are:
•
•

Leicester City Council
Leicestershire County Council

1.3

The purpose of this Statement is to set out how the authorities continue to work together to
accommodate a potential unmet need for housing and employment land identified in the
Leicester City Draft Local Plan Consultation (Sept 2020). The authorities have a long track
record of cooperation across Leicester and Leicestershire (L&L) and have adopted a nonstatutory Strategic Growth Plan which includes ‘notional’ housing figures
(http://www.llstrategicgrowthplan.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Final-LL-SGP-December2018-1.pdf ). It is envisaged a Statement of Common Ground will be completed in 2021, setting
out how any unmet need from Leicester will be redistributed amongst the other authorities in
L&L.

2.0

Background
Summary

2.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local plans, as a minimum, to provide
for the objectively assessed need for housing and other uses, as well as any needs that cannot
be met within neighbouring areas (unless the NPPF provides a strong reason for restricting
development; or the adverse impacts of doing so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits when assessed against the NPPF).

2.2

Plans should be informed by agreements with other authorities so that unmet need from
neighbouring areas is accommodated where practical and sustainable to do so, and based on
effective cross-boundary joint working as evidenced in a Statement of Common Ground (SCG).

2.3

Leicester City Council is consulting on a Draft Local Plan (regulation 18) in September 2020,
with a view to publishing the Submission Version (regulation 19) in 2021. Leicester City
declared an unmet housing need in February 2017 which remained unquantified while further
evidence was gathered to support the publication of their Draft Local Plan. During this time
several authorities have adopted local plans.

204

2.4

The L&L authorities were made aware of the potential scale of unmet need in December 2019.
Consultation on the Leicester Draft Local Plan (and associated evidence) was delayed due to
the COVID-19 Pandemic and is anticipated to start in September 2020.

2.5

Leicester’s Draft Local Plan consultation indicates a potential unmet need of 7,742 homes and
23 Hectares of employment land 2019 to 2036. The authorities in L&L have been progressing
work on a Sustainability Appraisal to assess options for where this unmet need could be
appropriately distributed across L&L. This will inform a Statement of Common Ground setting
out how any unmet need from Leicester will be distributed amongst the HMA authorities, which
is intended for completion in early 2021.

3.0

Unmet Need in Context
Housing

3.1

The Governments current Standard Method for calculating housing need uses 2014-based
household projections, and suggests L&L have to provide 82,739 homes (4,867 per year 2019
to 2036). In this context an unmet need in Leicester of 7,742 homes is about 9% of the overall
need for L&L over this period.

3.2

The NPPF requires authorities to have a clear understanding of the land available in their area
to meet housing need through the preparation of a strategic housing land availability
assessment (SHLAA). In L&L, the SHLAAs have been prepared using an agreed methodology
across the HMA as a whole.

3.3

Appendix A and B to this Statement have been prepared using the outputs of the Standard
Method for calculating housing need and SHLAAs. It provides a summary of the need for new
homes, and the theoretical capacity of both the HMA and each local authority.

3.4

To 2036 there is a theoretical capacity for some 174,412 homes across the HMA as a whole
(Appendix B). When set against the need of 82,793 (2019-36), it is clear there is considerable
flexibility to meet housing need within the HMA, including Leicester’s unmet need of 7,742
homes.

3.5

Housing supply in L&L is strong. Up to 2031 (Appendix A) there is already sufficient supply in
the pipeline to meet the needs of the HMA. The L&L housing need 2019-31 is 58,404 using the
standard method. Taking into account commitments, allocations (including emerging
allocations in Leicester and Charnwood Draft Plans) and windfalls, there is a supply of 70,371
which is 11,967 (20%) higher than the HMA-wide need. Leicester City Council is the only
authority to declare an unmet need at present.

3.6

Up to 2036 (Appendix B) the supply situation remains relatively strong given that most local
plans cover up to, or close to, 2031. The L&L housing need to 2036 is 82,739 using the
standard method. Assuming as minimum all District and Borough authorities will meet their own
housing need, housing commitments, allocations (including emerging allocations in Leicester
and Charnwood Draft plans) and windfalls suggest there is a supply of 85,767 which is 3,028
(4%) higher than the HMA wide need.

205

Employment
3.7

The most up-to-date FEMA-wide assessment of employment needs is the Housing and
Economic Development Needs Assessment (2017). It identifies a need for 459 to 497 Hectares
of employment in L&L (2011-2036). In this context, an unmet need of 23 Hectares is less than
5% and relatively small.

4.0

Changing Context

4.1

The Government intends to reform the planning system and is consulting on potential future
changes, including:
•
•

Planning for the Future - White Paper
Changes to the Current Planning System

4.2

At present these reforms do not impact housing need or emerging Local Plans as they are
consultations. The Planning for the Future White Paper sets out plans for fundamental reform
of the planning system and explains this would be accompanied by shorter-term measures. The
‘Changes to the Current Planning System’ consultation sets out potential shorter-term
measures to improve the effectiveness of the current system, including a potential new standard
method for calculating housing need.

4.3

There is no timetable for the reforms and the proposals could change following consultation.
Against this background the Government encourages authorities to get up-to-date Local Plans
in place and some authorities in L&L are at an advanced stage of plan preparation. In light of
the uncertainty surrounding the content and timing of government reforms, the L&L authorities
continue to cooperate on how Leicester’s current unmet need could be distributed.

4.4

If the proposed changes to the Standard Method for calculating housing need (as set out in the
‘Changes to the Current Planning System’ consultation) are introduced unchanged, it would
have implications for unmet need in L&L. For example, Leicester’s unmet need for housing
would be substantially lower or may not exist. On the other hand, most other authorities would
see a significant increase in the number of homes needed.

4.5

The emerging situation will be kept under review as work progresses. The Duty to Cooperate is
an ongoing process, and although Government reforms may remove the Duty, the Government
also recognise the need for further consideration to the way in which strategic cross-boundary
issues can be adequately planned for.

Appendix A - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2031
The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method. The calculations are
based on data available at 1st April 2020.

Authority

Blaby
Charnwood

Hinckley &
Bosworth
Leicester
City

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Commitments1
projected for
delivery
2020 to 2031

Allocations
in an
adopted
Plan2

Emerging
allocations
in a draft
plan2

Allowance
for small site
or windfall
development
to 2031

Total
Projected
Delivery to
2031
(B+C+D+E)

SHLAA
Capacity
to 20313

Total
Theoretical
Capacity to
2031
(F+G)

4,068

4,935

758

280

5,973

12,150

18,123

12,984

8,734

1,385

720

16,660

13,948

30,608

6,504

4,064

4,526

330

8,920

4,835

13,755

5,484

3,139

603

4,039

23,105

27,144

20,544

9,827

1,800

18,758

0

18,758

2,412

2,353

2,891

223

5,467

1,108

6,575

4,548

6,647

990

360

7,997

4,052

12,049

5,761

185

7,131

Melton

NW Leics

206

Harborough

A
Local
Housing
Need
2020 2031

Oadby &
Wigston
HMA total

1,860

791

1,449

58,404

40,490

12,184

12,892

159

2,399

0

2,399

4,475

70,371

59,198

129,299

1

Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020
projected delivery up to 31/03/2031; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans
3
To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from
this figure
2

207

Appendix B - Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Land Supply, 2020 to 2036
The table below compares housing land supply to local housing need based on the Governments Standard Method. The calculations are
based on data available at 1st April 2020.

Authority

Blaby
Charnwood

Hinckley &
Bosworth
Leicester
City

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Commitments1
projected for
delivery
2020 to 2036

Allocations
in an
adopted
Plan2

Emerging
allocations
in a draft
plan2

Allowance
for small site
or windfall
development
to 2036

Total
Projected
Delivery to
2036
(B+C+D+E)

SHLAA
Capacity
to 20363

Total
Theoretical
Capacity to
2036
(F+G)

5,763

5,314

878

480

6,672

15,003

21,675

18,394

10,474

1,990

1,120

20,836

20,161

40,997

9,214

4,064

5,526

640

10,230

8,975

19,205

7,769

3,949

185

938

5,184

30,114

35,298

29,104

9,827

2,550

21,362

0

21,362

3,417

2,350

3,886

358

6,594

3,635

10,229

6,443

7,775

1,317

560

9,652

13,707

23,359

7,252

8,985

Melton

NW Leics

208

Harborough

A
Local
Housing
Need
2020 2036

Oadby &
Wigston
HMA total

2,635

791

1,449

82,739

44,544

15,231

16,237

159

2,399

0

2,399

6,805

82,817

91,595

174,412

1

Includes sites under construction; with planning permission (including sites with a resolution to grant), as at 31/03/2020
projected delivery up to 31/03/2036; includes allocated sites from local and neighbourhood plans
3
To avoid duplication SHLAA sites that have planning permission or are allocated in an adopted or emerging plan have been removed from
this figure
2

209

210

211

Appendix H – Letter from Leicester City Council

212

213

214

215

Appendix I - Written Ministerial Statement

216

217

Agenda Item 16

CABINET – 22 JUNE 2021
EXCEPTION TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES - URGENT ACTION
TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN RELATION TO THE
APPOINTMENT OF A SUPLIER TO PROVIDE SHORT TERM HIRE
VEHICLES
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT
PART A
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of urgent action taken by the
Chief Executive to agree an exception to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules
which enabled the direct appointment to Enterprise Flex E Rent to supply the
County Council’s Short term hired vehicles.

2.

The Fleet Services team within the Environment & Transport Department hires in
vehicles for various County Council departments. As a result of the Covid-19
pandemic, the Council’s requirements for hired vehicles has risen by up to 300%
in order to enable social distancing and keep its workforce safe. The ‘master
vendor’ arrangement negotiated with Enterprise Flex E Rent means they have
been the Council’s main provider of short term hired vehicles since March 2020.

Recommendation
3.

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the urgent action taken by the Chief
Executive to agree an exception to the Contract Procedure Rules to enable the
appointment of Enterprise Flex E Rent to supply all of the Council’s short term
hired vehicles, up to a two year period from 1st April 2020.

Reasons for Recommendation
4.

The Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)) provides that
exceptions to the Contract Procedure Rules may be made by the Cabinet where
it is satisfied that an exception is justified on its merits and that in urgent cases
the Chief Executive (after consultation with the Leader or Deputy Leader save
where this is not practicable) may direct that an exception be made subject to it
being reported to the Cabinet.

5.

The circumstances and financial considerations surrounding the proposal are
explained in Part B of this report. The two year arrangement with Enterprise Flex

218

E Rent offers around a 5% saving from the previous arrangement of using
multiple suppliers on the ESPO framework.
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)
6.

The Chief Executive agreed the exception on 11 May 2021.

7.

The exception was necessary due to spend levels with the supplier exceeding
the threshold in the Contract Procedure Rules; the continuing demand for hired
vehicles to support social distancing during the pandemic had not been
expected. A new contract will be put in place as soon as is practicable (to
accommodate spend levels during the continued response to the pandemic). This
work has already started, however given the value, it can take up to six months to
carry out a compliant procurement process.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
8.

The exception to the Contract Procedure Rules follows the Council’s Constitution
(Contract Procedure Rule 6 (b)).

Resource Implications
9.

The savings from the Enterprise Flex E Rent contract arrangement have been
built into the identified savings in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy.

10. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance
have been consulted on the content of this report. Although the County Council’s
Legal Services has advised that there is a procurement risk regarding this directly
awarded contract, this risk can be mitigated provided that a new contract is re
procured (in accordance with the procurement rules), as soon as possible and in
any event, in place by or around the 1 April 2022.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
11.

None.

Officers to Contact
Ann Carruthers
Director of Environment & Transport,
Environment & Transport Department
Tel: 0116 305 7000
Email: ann.carruthers@leics.gov.uk
Pat Clarke
Assistant Director, Highways and Transport Operations
Environment & Transport Department
Tel: 0116 305 4244
Email pat.clarke@leics.gov.uk

219

PART B
Background
12. In March 2020 the Fleet Services Team reviewed its current short term hired
vehicle arrangements via the ESPO 271 Framework contract as part of the Fleet
Management efficiency review with Consultants (PVS). The purpose of the
review was to identify savings, reduce the cost of hired vehicles and improve
internal customer service. The recommendation was to use Enterprise Flex E
Rent as the master vendor to supply all LCC hired vehicle needs, rather than
hiring vehicles from multiple suppliers A pricing exercise was carried out, and an
action plan was put into place in order for all of the Council’s hired vehicles to be
obtained via Enterprise Flex E Rent. The contract was directly awarded following
negotiation. The efficiencies in administration, invoices and use of their on-line
portal, were all taken into consideration with the move to this supplier.
13. The spend on all hired vehicles for LCC from suppliers at the time pre-COVID
was approx. £23,000 per month. The pandemic increased the need for hire
vehicles, at times, by up to 300%, with additional vehicles required in order to
ensure social distancing requirements were met. Enterprise Flex E Rent has
been the main provider of these additional vehicles. The contract with Enterprise
Flex E Rent has an estimated total value of £720,000 over the two years. This
total contract value of £720,000 (£32,000 per month) will allow scope to provide
vehicles for some pandemic conditions allowing for additional vehicles above
business as usual. As restrictions ease, and it’s safe to do so, the number of
vehicles required will reduced back to pre-pandemic levels thus reducing the
current spending levels.
14. The pricing exercise that took place within the Department looked at all current
suppliers of hired vehicles and hired specialised vehicles. The exercise looked at
cost per unit, meeting all the Council’s operational requirements, health and
safety needs, administration and back office costs. Meetings and engagement
took place with Enterprise Flex E Rent to ensure best value in terms of cost,
meeting the County Council’s specification and vehicle availability. The objective
was to reduce costs on current spend levels (5% saving achieved), this will be
monitored monthly in-line with the MTFS reporting. Although the savings target is
challenging as the total expenditure on vehicle hire has increased due to the
pandemic and is still unpredictable - moving to Enterprise Flexi E Rent as the
Master Vendor will provide the best value per unit hired for the Authority
compared with previous suppliers. In addition, whilst Enterprise is a local
supplier, it also offers the resilience of being a national provider.
Alternative Options
15. Hired vehicles could be sourced from the same supplier, Enterprise Flex E Rent,
through the ESPO framework for direct award (a compliant option). However,
framework rates for direct award are targeted at smaller volumes of hire. The
ESPO “further competition” route is being considered and explored as part of the
long term, compliant contract solution which will be sought following the end of
the current agreement with Enterprise in March 2022. This process will enable all

220

eligible ESPO suppliers to quote revised rates based on specific County Council
requirements.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
16. There are no positive or adverse equality or human rights implications arising
from this report,
Environmental Implications
17. Enterprise Flex E Rent has a range of new vehicles in its hire fleet, which meet
the latest emission standards and reduces carbon emissions in line with the
council’s environment strategy. They have also been able to source several
commercial electric vehicles for the County Council to use on a short term trial
(electric commercial vehicles are currently difficult to source due to demand, lead
in times and low production numbers).

221
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 20

This page is intentionally left blank

229
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 21

This page is intentionally left blank

235
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 22

This page is intentionally left blank

